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Infinera Corporation
169 Java Drive Washington, DC 20549
Sunnyvale, CA 94089
NOTICE OF 2008 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Ba Held On May 13, 2008
10:00 a.m. Pacific Time

Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of infinera Corporation, a

Dalaware corporation (the “Company” ot “Infinera”), Notice is hereby given that the meeting will be held on

May 13, 2008, at 169 Java Drive, Sunnyvale, CA 94089 at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Time for the following purposes:

1. To elect one Class | director for a tefm of three years or until his successor has been duly elected and
qualified; 2

2. To ratify the appoiniment by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Emst & Young LLP as the
independent registered public accounting firm of the Company for its fiscal year anding December 27, 2008;
and

3. To transact any other business properly brought before the meeting or eny adjournment or postponement
thereof.

These items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Nolice.

The record date for the 2008 Annual' Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting”) is March 14, 2008. Only
stockhotders of record at the close of business on that date may vote at the meeting or any adjournment thereof. A
list of our stockholders will be maintained and open for examination by any of our stockholders, for any purpose
germane to the Annual Meeting, during reguler business hours at the address listed above for ten days prior to the
meeting.

We are pleased to inform you that Infinera will be utilizing the recent Securities and Exchange Commission
rules that allow issuers o fumnish proxy materials to their stockholders on the Intemet. The new rules allow us to
provide our stockholders with the information they need, while lowering the cost of delivery and reducing the
environmenta) impact of our Annual Meeting. Pursuant to these new rules, instead of malling a printed copy of the
Company's proxy materials to each stockholder we have elected to provide access to our proxy materials over the
internet. Accordingty, with the exceptien of certain of our largest steckholders who will recaive printed copies of the
Company’s proxy materials by mail, stockholders of record at the close of business on March 14, 2008 will receive
a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and may vote at the Annual Meeting and any postponements or
adjournments of the meeting. We expect to mail the Notice of Intemet Availability of Proxy Materials by April 3,
2008, at least 40 calendar days prior 10 the Annual Meeting date.

Whether or not you expect to attend the meeting in person il is imporiant that your shares are represented. If
you do not wish to vote in person or you will not be attending the Annual Meeting you may vote by proxy. You can
vote by proxy over the Internet by following the instructions provided in the Notice of Intemet Availability of Proxy
Materials. Altematively, you may fallow the procedures outlined in the Notice of Intemet Availability of Proxy
Materials to request a paper proxy card to submit your vote by mail; likewise, you may vote by mail or by
telephone IF you are receiving these materiats by mail. Even if you have vated by proxy, you may still vote in
person If you attend the meeting. Please note, however, that if your shares are held of record by a broker, bank or
other nominee and you wish 1o vote at the meeting, you must provide a valid proxy issued in your name from that
record holder.

On behalf of our Board of Directors, thank you for your participation in this important annual process.
By Order of the Board of Directors,

fal  MicHAasL Q. McCarTHy, Il

Michae! Q. McCarthy, 1l
Chlef Lega! Officer and Secretary

Sunnyvale, California
March 21, 2008
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Infinera Corporation
169 Java Drive
Sunnyvale, CA 94089

PROXY STATEMENT
FOR THE 2008 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To be held on May 13, 2008
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND VOTING

Annual Meeting

Q:
A

o

Why am | being provided access to these proxy materials?

The Board of Directors of Infinera Corporation (the “Board of Directors”) is providing you access to
these proxy materials in connaction with the sclicitation of proxies for use at the 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting®) to be held on Tuesday, May 13, 2008 at

10:00 a.m., Pacific Time, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purpose of
considering and acting upon the matters described herein.

What is the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials?

In accordance with rules and regulations recently adopted by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, instead of mailing a printed copy of the Company’s proxy materials to all
stockholders entitied to vote at the Annual Meeting, the Company is fumnishing the proxy materials
to most of its stockholders over the Internet. If you received a Notice of Internet Availability of
Proxy Materials (the “Notice of tntemet Availability”) by mail, you will not receive a printed copy of
the proxy materials. Instead, the Notice of Intemet Availability will instruct you as to how you may
access and review the proxy materials and submit your vote via the Internet. If you received a
Notice of intemet Availability by mail and would like to receive a printed copy of the proxy
materials, please follow the instructions for requesting such matenals included in the Notice of
Internet Availability. The Company expects to mail the Notice of Internet Availability by April 3,
2008 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting with the exception of certain
stockholders who have been solicited by mail. On the date of mailing of the Notice of Internet
Availability, all stockholders and beneficial owners will have the ability to access all of the
Company's proxy materials on a website refemred to in the Notice of Intemet Availability. These
proxy materials will be available free of charga.

Where Is the Annual Meeting?

The Annual Meeting will be held at the Company’s principal executive offices, located at 163 Java
Drive, Sunnyvale, California 94089.

Can | attend the Annual Meeting?

You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting if you were a stockholder of record or a beneficial
owner as of the close of business on March 14, 2008. You should bring photo identification for
entrance to the Annual Mesting. The meeting will begin promptly at 10:00 a.m., Pacific Time.

Stock Ownership

Q:

A:

What Is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a
beneficial owner?

Stockholders of record—If your shares are registered directly in your name with the Company's
transfer agent, Wells Fargo Shareowner Services, you are considered, with respect to those
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shares, the stockholder of record, and, with the exception of certain stockholders who have been
solicited by mail, the Notice of Internet Availability has been sent directly to you by the Company.

Beneficial owners—Many stockholders hold their shares through a broker, trustee or other
nomines, rather than directly in their own name. If your shares are held in a brokerage account or
by a bank or another nominee, you are considered the “beneficial owner” of shares held in “street
name.” The Notice of Internet Availability has been forwarded to you by your broker, trustee or
nominee who is considered, with respect to those shares, the stockholder of record. As the
beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, trustee or other nominee on how to vote
your shares. For directions on how to vote shares beneficially held in street name, please refer to
the voting instruction card provided by your broker, trustee or nominee. Because a beneficial
owner is not the stockholder of record, you may not vote these shares in person at the Annual
Meeting unless you obtain a “legal proxy” from the broker, trustee or nominee that holds your
shares, giving you the right to vote the shares at the Annual Meeting.

Quorum and Voting

Q:
A

Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

Holders of record of the Company's Common Stock at the close of business on March 14, 2008
are entitled to receive notice of and to vote their shares at the Annual Meeting. Such stockholders
are entitled to cast one vote for each share of Common Stock held as of the Record Date. As of
the close of business on the Record Date, there were 92,612,277 shares of Common Stock
outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Mesting.

How many shares must be present or represented to conduct business at the Annual
Maeting?

The presence of the holders of a majority of the shares of the Company’s common stock entitted
to vole at the Annual Meeting is necessary to constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Such
stockholders are counted as present at the meeting if they (1) are present in person at the Annual
Meeting, or (2} have properly submitted a proxy.

Under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delawarse, as amended, abstentions and
broker “non-votes" are countad as present and entitled to vote and are included for purposes of
determining whether a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting.

What is a broker “non-vote?”

A broker non-vote occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on
a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect
to that item and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner. Broker non-votes will be
counted towards the presence of a quorum but will not be counted towards the vote total for any
proposal. For the Annual Meeting this year, all matters to be submitted to a vote of the
stockholders are “routine” matters for which such discretionary voting power should exist.
Therefore, for the Annual Meeting this year, we do not expect any broker non-votes.

How can | vote my shares in person at the Annual Meeting?

Stockholders of record—Shares held in your name as the stockholder of record may be voted in
person at the Annual Meeting, even if previously voted by another method.

Beneficial owners—Shares held beneficially in street name may be voted in person at the Annual
Meeting only if you obtain a legal proxy fram the broker, trustee or other nominee that holds your
shares giving you the right to vote the shares.




Even If you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we recommend that you submit your vote as
described in the Notice of Intermet Availability and below, so that your vote will be counted if
you later decide not to attend the Annual Meeting.

Q: How can | vote my shares without attending the Annual Meeting?
A:  Whether you hold shares directly as the stockholder of record or beneficially in street name, you

may direct how your shares are voted without attending the Annual Mesting. If you are a
stockholder of record, you may vote by submitting a proxy; please refer to the voling instructions in
the Notice of Internet Availability or below. If you hold shares beneficially in street name, you may
vote by submitting voting instructions to your broker, trustee or nominee; please refer to the voting
instructions provided to you by your broker, trustee or nomines.

Internet—Stockholders of record with Internet access may submit proxies by following the
instructions on the Notice of Intemet Availability. Most of the Company’s stockholders who hold
shares beneficially in street name may vote by accessing the website specified in the voting
instructions provided by their brokers, trustees or nominees. A large number of banks and
brokerage firms are participating in Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc.'s (formerty ADP Investor
Communication Services) online program. This program provides eligible stockho!ders the
opportunity to vote over the Internet or by telephone. Voting forms will provide instructions for
stockholders whose bank or brokerage firm is participating in Broadridge's program.

Telephone—Depending on how your shares are held, you may be able to vote by telephone. If this
option is available to you, you will receive information explaining this procedure,

Mail—If you have not already received one, you may request a proxy card from the Company, and
indicate your vote by completing, signing and dating the card where indicated and by returning it in
the prepaid envelope that will be included with the proxy card.

How will my shares be voted If | submit a proxy via the Internet, by telephone or by mail
and do nat make specific choices?

If you submit a proxy via the Intemet, by telephone or by mail and do not make voting selections,
the shares represented by that proxy will be voted "FOR" Proposat One and “FOR” Proposal Two.

: What happens If additional matters are presented at the Annual Meeting?

If any other matters are properly presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting, including,
among other things, consideration of a motion to adjourn the Annuat Meeting to another time or
place (including, without limitation, for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies), the proxy
holders will have discretion to vote on those matters in accordance with their best judgment. The
Company does not currently anticipate that any other matters will be raised at the Annual Meeting.

Can | change or revoke my vote?

Subject to any rules your broker, trustes or nominee may have, you may change your proxy
instructions at any time before your proxy is voted at the Annual Meeting.

Stockholders of record—If you are a stockholder of record, you may change your vote by (1) filing
with the Company's General Counsel, prior to your shares being voted at the Annual Meeting, a
written notice of revocation or a duly executed proxy card, in either case dated later than the prior
proxy relating to the same shares, or (2) by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person
(although attendance at the Annual Meeting will not, by itself, revoke a proxy). Any written notice
of revocation or subsequent proxy card must be received by the Company's General Counsel prior
to the taking of the vote at the Annual Meeting. Such written notice of revocation or subsequent
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proxy card should be hand delivered to the Company's General Counsel or should be sent so as
to be delivered to the Company’s principal executive offices, Attention: General Counsel.

Beneficial owners—if you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street nams, you may change
your vote (1) by submitting new voting instructions to your broker, trustee or other nominee, or
(2) if you have obtained a legal proxy from the broker, trustee or other nominee that holds your
shares giving you the right to vote the shares, by attending the Annual Mesting and voting in
person.

A stockholder of record that has voted via the Internet or by telephone may also change his or her
vote by making a timely and valid later Internet or telephone vete.

: What proposals will be voted on at the Annual Meeting?

At the Annual Meeting, stockholdsrs will be asked to vote on:

The election of a Class ! director to serve until the 2011 annual meeting of stockhalders or until his
successor has been duly elected and qualified; and

The ratification of the appointment of Emst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 27, 2008.

: What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals and how does the Board

of Directors recommend that | vote?

Proposal One—Directors are elected by a combination of the affirmative votes cast by those
shares present in person, or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. The
nominee for director receiving the highest number of affirmative votes will be elected. Abstentions
and broker non-votes will not affect the outcome of the election. Stockholders may not cumulate
votes in the election of directors. The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you
vote your shares “FOR" the nominee listed in Proposal One.

Proposal Two—The affirmative vote of a majority of those shares present in person, or
represented by proxy and cast either affirmatively or negatively is required to ralify the
appoiniment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm for the fiscal year ending December 27, 2008.

You may vote “FOR," “AGAINST" or “ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions are deemed to be
votes cast and have the same effect as a vote against this proposal. However, broker non-votes
are not deemed to be votes cast and, therefore, are not included in the tabulation of the voling
results on this proposal. The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote your
shares "FOR” Proposal Two.

: Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the Annual Mesting?

The Company will bear all expenses of soliciting proxies for the Annual Meeting. The Company
may reimburse brokerage firms, custodians, nominees, fiduciaries and other persons representing
beneficial owners of Common Stock for their reasonable expenses in forwarding solicitation
material to such beneficial owners. Directors, officers and employees of the Company may also
solicit proxies in parson or by other means of communication. Such directors, officers and
employees will not be additicnally compensated but may be reimbursed for reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses in connection with such solicitation. The Company may engage the
services of a professional proxy solicitation firm to aid in the soficitation of proxies from certain
brokers, bank nominees and other institutional owners. The Company’s costs for such services, if
retained, will not be significant.




Where can | find the voting results of the Annual Meeting?

The Company intends to announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting and will
publish final results in the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of
fiscal 2008, which ends on June 28, 2008.

Stockholder Proposals

Q.

A

o

How can stockholders submit a proposal for inclusion in our Proxy Statement for the 2009
Annual Meeting?

To be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the 2009
Annual Meeting™), stockholder proposals must comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and be received by our Secretary at our principal executive
offices no later than November 27, 2008, or no later than one hundred twenty (120) calendar days
before the one year anniversary of the date on which we first mailed our Proxy Statement or
Notice of Internet Availability to stockholders in connection with this year's annual meeting of
stockholders,

How can stockholders submit proposals to be raised at the 2009 Annual Meeting that will
not be Included in our Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annual Mesting?

To be raised at the 2009 Annuat Meeting, stockholder proposals must comply with our Bylaws.
Under our Bylaws, a stockholder must give advance notice to our Secretary of any business,
including nominations of directors for our Board of Directors, that the stockholder wishes to raise
at our Annual Meeting. To be timely, the notice must be received by our Secretary not less than
one hundred twenty (120) calendar days before the one year anniversary of the date on which we
first mailed our Proxy Statement or Notice of Internet Availability to stockholders in connection with
this year's annual meeting of stockholders. Since this Proxy Statement or Notice of Internet
Availability is being mailed to you by April 3, 2008, stockholder proposals must be received by our
Secretary at our principal executive offices no later than November 27, 2008, in order to be raised
at our 2009 Annual Meeting.

What If the date of the 2009 Annual Meeting changes by more than 30 days from the
anniversary of this year's Annual Meeting?

Under Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, if the date of the 2009
Annual Meeting changes by more than 30 days from the anniversary of this year's Annual
Meeting, to be included in our Proxy Statement, stockholder proposals must be received by us
within a reasonable time before our solicitation is made.

Under our Bylaws, if the date of the 2009 Annual Meeting changes by more than 30 days from the
anniversary of this year’s Annual Meeting, stockholder proposals to be brought before the 2009
Annual Meeting must be defivered not later than the close of business on the later of one hundred
twenty (120) calendar days in advance of the 2009 Annual Meeting and ten (10) calendar days
following the date on which public announcement of the date of the meeting is first made.

Does a stockholder proposal require specific information?

With respect to a stockholder's nomination of a candidate for our Board of Disectors, the
stockholder notice to the Secretary must contain certain information as set forth in our Bylaws
about both the nominee and the stockholder making the nomination. With respect to any other
business that the stockholder proposes, the stockholder notice must contain a brief description of
such business and the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, as well as certain
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other information as set forth in our Bylaws. |f you wish to bring a stockholder proposal or
nominate a candidate for director, you are advised to review our Bylaws, which contain additional
requirements about advance notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations. Our current
Bylaws may be found on our website at hitp.//www.infinera,com.

What happens if we receive a stockholder proposal that is not in compliance with the time
frames described above?

If we receive notice of a matter to come before the 2009 Annual Meeting that is not in accordance
with the deadlines described above, we will use our discretion in determining whether or nol to
bring such matter before the 2009 Annual Meeting. If such matter is brought before the 2009
Annual Meeting, then our proxy card for such meeting will confer upon our proxy holders
discretionary authority to vote on such matter.

Additional Iinformation

Q:

A

What should | do if | receive more than one Notice of Internet Availability or set of proxy
materials?

If you received more than one Notice of Internet Availability or set of proxy materials, your shares
likely are registered in more than one name or brokerage account. Please follow the voting
instructions on each Notice of internet Availability or voting instruction card that you receive to
ensure that all of your shares are voted.

Can | access the Company’s proxy materials and Annual Report on Form 10-K over the
Internet? :

The Company's proxy materials will be available on the Company's website at
http./fwww.infinera.com/annual_meeting, and all stockholders and beneficial owners will have the
ability to vote free of charge on-line with their control number referred to in the Notice of Intemet
Availability at http://www.proxyvote.com. The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 29, 2007 is also available on the Internet as indicated in the Notice of
Internet Availability. In addition, you can access this Proxy Statement and the 2007 Annual Report
on Form 10-K by going to the Company’s website at hiip:/fwww.infinere.com/ennual_meeting. The
2007 Annua! Report on Form 10-K is not incorporated into this Proxy Statement and is not
considered proxy soliciting material.




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Independence of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is currently composed of eight members although we expect the number to
be reduced to seven at the expiration of Or. Sindhu’s term (which concludes at the 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders), as a result of the Board of Directors’ decision not to nominate Dr. Sindhu for
re-election. Our Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. Goldman, Hundt, Martin and Redfield
and Drs. Balkanski, Maydan and Sindhu qualify as independent directors in accordance with the
published listing requirements of the Nasdag Stock Market, or Nasdag. The Nasdag independence
definition includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not, and has not been for at
least three years, one of our employees and that neither the director nor any of his family members has
engaged in various types of business dealings with us. In addition, as further required by the Nasdag
rules, the Board of Directors has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that
no relationships exist which, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise
of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these
determinations, the directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and us with
regard to each director's business and personal activities as they may relate to us and our
management. There are no family refationships among our executive officers and directors. The
directors hold office until their successors have been duly elected and qualified or their earlier death,
resignation or removal.

The Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the “Charter”) and Bylaws
provides for a classified board of directors. As of March 3, 2008, our Board of Directors had 8 directors
divided into three classes of directors- Class |, Class Il and Ciass |lIl—with gach class of direclors
serving three-year terms that end in successive years. As of March 3, 2008, tha classes were
comprised as follows:

Class | Class Il Class il
(tertn explres 2008) {term explros In 2009} (term expires In 2010)
Alexandre Balkanski Hugh C. Martin Kenneth A. Goldman
*Pradeep S. Sindhu Dan Maydan Reed E. Hundt
Jagdeep Singh Carl Redfield

*  InFebruary 2008, the Board of Directors decided not to nominate Dr. Sindhu for re-election when
his term expires at the Annual Meseting.

information Regarding the Board of Directors and its Committees

Our independent directors meet in executive sessions, without managememn present, at least two
times per year. The Board of Directors has four standing commitiees, an Audit Committes, a
Compensation Committee, a Nominating & Governance Committee and an Acquisition Committee.
The following table provides membership and meeting information for the Board of Directors and each
of the Board committees during 2007:

Nominating/
Corporate
Name Board Audit Compensatlon Govemance Acqulsition
Alexandre Balkanski, Ph.D. .............. M — cm M M
Kenneth A. Goldman ................... M C - —_ M
ReedE. Hundt ........................ M —_ C M —_
Hugh C. Martin, Ph.OD. .................. M M M —_ —
Dan Maydan, PhD. .................... M M —_ — —
CardRedfield .................. .. ... M — M C —
Pradeep S.Sindhu ............c. ... ... M — — - —_
Jagdeep Singh ........... . 0ot M — — - Cc
Total meetings in fiscal year 2007 . ... ... .. 9 8 16 2 0
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C Committee Chairperson
M Member
M  Served as a Chairperson during 2007, but is no longer a member of the Compensation Committee

Below is a description of each standing committee of the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors has determined that each member of the Audit, Compensation and Nominating &
Governance Committees meets the applicable rules and regulations regarding “independence” and
that each such member is free of any relationship that would interfere with his individuat exercise of
independent judgment with regard to Infinera. Each committee of the Board of Directors has a written
charter approved by the Board of Directors. Copies of each charter are posted on our website at
http:iiwww.infinera.com in the Investor Relations section and a copy of our Audit Committee charter is
attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix A.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors our corporate financial statements and reporting and
our external audits, including, among other things, our intemal controls and audit functions, the results
and scope of the annual audit and other services provided by our independent registered public
accounting firm and our compliance with legal matters that have a significant impact on our financial
statements. Our Audit Committee also consults with our management and our independent registered
public accounting firm prior to the presentation of financial statements to stockholders and, as
appropriate, initiates inquiries into aspects of our financial affairs. Our Audit Committee is responsible
for establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and for the confidential, anonymous submission by our
employees of concems regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. In addition, our Audit
Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, retention, compensation and oversight of the
work of our independent registered public accounting firm, including approving services and fee
amrangements. All related party transactions are subject to approval by our Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee charter is attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix A.

The current members of the Audil Committee are Messrs. Goldman, Martin and Maydan, each of
whom is independent for Audit Committee purposes under the rules and regulations of the SEC and
the listing standards of Nasdag. In addition to qualifying as independent under the Nasdaq rules, each
member of our Audit Committee can read and understand fundamental financlal statements in
accordance with Nasdaq Audit Committee requirements. Mr. Goldman chairs the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee met eight times during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007.

The Board of Directors has dstermined that Mr. Goldman is an “Audit Committee financial expert”
as defined in item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K. The designation does not impose on Mr. Goldman
any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than are generally imposed on him as a member of
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee currently consists of Messrs, Hundt, Martin and Redfield. Mr. Hundt
chairs the Compensation Committee. From January 1, 2007 until July 11, 2007 Dr. Balkanski was the
chaimman of the Compensation Committee.

The Compensation Committee reviews, makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on and
determines our compensation policies and all forms of compensation to be provided to our executive
officers and members of the Board of Directors, including, among other things, annual salaries,
bonuses, equity, severance amrangemsnts, change-of-control protections and any other compensatory
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arrangements {including, without limitation, perquisites and any other form of compensation). In
addition, our Compensation Committee administers our stock option plans, and has the abillity to grant
stock options and other equity-based awards to individuals eligible for such grants (including our
executive officers, but excluding the non-employee members of our Board of Directors which the
Compensation Committee recommends for approval by the Board of Directors). The Compensation
Commitiee also oversees, reviews and administers all of our material employee benefit plans, including
our 401(k) plan, and review and approve various other compensation policies and matters. Among the
commitiee's responsibilities are the preparation of the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and
Compensation Committee Report required by the rules of the SEC. Each member of our
Compensation Committee is a non-employee director, as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), an outside director, as defined
pursuant to Section 162(m) of the Intemal Revenue Code and satisfies the Nasdag independence
requirements. A more detailed description of the Compensation Committee's functions can be found in
our Compensation Committee charter. A copy of the Compensation Committee charter is available on
the investor relations page of our website at http:/f'www.infinera.com.

The Compensation Committee met sixteen times during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007.
The Compensation Commitiee also acted by written consent once during the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2007. Our Chief Executive Officer does not participate in the determination of his own
compensation or the compensation of directors. However, he is asked by the Compensation
Committee to provide his assessment of the performance of Section 16 Officers, other than himself, to
the advisors of the Compensation Committee. He is assisted by our Vice President of Human
Resources in making these assessments to the advisors of the Compensation Committee. No other
executive officers participate in the determination of the amount or form of the compensation of
executive officers or members of the Board of Directors.

During 2007 the Compensation Committee retained two independent compensalion consultants,
Compensia and an advisor from Harvard University. The consultants provide the committee with data
about the compensation paid by a peer group of companies and other companies that may compete
with us for executives and develop recommendations for structuring the Company’s compensation
programs.

Non-Executive Equily Grant Committee

The Compensation Committee has delegated to the Non-Executive Equity Grant Committes,
consisting of Mr. Singh, the Chief Executive Officer, the authority to formally approve equity incentive
awards to new employees pursuant to guidelines approved annually by the Compensation Committes.
The delegation does not include the authority to make equity incentive awards to new employees who
are or are reasonably expected to become section 16 officers of the Company. This delegation of
authority is not exclusive; the Board of Directors and Compensation Committee have retained the right
to approve such equity incentive awards as well.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Particlpation

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors currently consists of Messrs. Hund,
Martin and Redfield. None of these individuals was at any time during fiscal year 2007, or at any other
time, an officer or employee. None of our executive officers has ever served as a member of the Board
of Directors or Compensation Committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more executive
officers serving as a member of our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating & Govemance Commitiee assists in the nomination of directors, including, among
other things, identifying, evaluating and making recommendations of nominees to the Board of
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Directors and evaluates the performance of the Board of Directors and individual directors, including
those eligible for re-election at the annual meeting of stockholders. The Nominating & Governance
Committee is also responsible for reviewing developments in corporate governance practices,
evaluating, making recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning corporate governance
matters and overseeing the evaluation of the management. A more detailed description of the
Nominating & Govemnance Committee’s functions can be found in our Nominating & Govemance
Committee charter. A copy of our Nominating & Governance Committee charter is available on the
investor relations page of our website at http.//www.infinera.com.

The current members of our Nominating & Govarnance Committee are Messrs. Balkanski, Hundt
and Redfield, each of whom is independent under the listing standards of Nasdaq. Mr. Redfield chairs
the Nominating & Govemance Committee. The Nominating & Governance Committee met twice during
the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007.

The Nominating & Governance Committee reviews and reports to our Board of Directors on a
periodic basis with regard to matters of corporate governance, and reviews, assesses and makes
recommendations on the effectiveness of our corporate governance policies. In addition, our
Nominating & Govemance Committee reviews and makes recommendations to our Board of Directors
regarding the size and composition of our Board of Directors and the appropriate qualities and skills
required of our directors in the context of the then-current make-up of our Board of Directors. This
includes an assessment of each candidate’s independence, personal and professional integrity,
financial literacy or other professional or business experience relevant to an understanding of our
business, ability to think and act independently and with sound judgment, and ability to serve our
stockholders' long-term interests. These factors, and others as considered useful by our nominating
and governance committae, are reviewed in the context of an assessment of the perceived nseds of
our Board of Directors at a particular point in time. As a result, the priorities and emphasis of our
Nominating & Governance Committee and of our Board of Directors may change from time to time to
lake into account changes in business and other trends, as well as the portfolio of skills and experience
of current and prospective directors.

Our Nominating & Governance Committee leads the search for, selects and recommends
candidates for election to our Board of Directors. Consideration of new director candidates typically
involves a series of committee discussions, review of information concerning candidates and interviews
with selected candidates. Candidates for nomination to our Board of Directors typically have been
suggested by other members of our Board of Directors or by our executive officers. From time to time,
our Nominating & Governance Committee may engage the services of a third-party search firm to
identify director candidates. Our Nominating & Governance Committee considers candidates proposed
in writing by stockholders, provided such proposal meets the eligibility requirements for submitting
stockholder proposals for inclusion in our next Proxy Statement and is accompanied by the required
information about the candidate specified in our bylaws. Candidates proposed by stockholders are
evaluated by our Nominating & Governance Committee using the same criteria as for all other
candidates.

if a stockhotder of the Company wishes to recommend a director candidate for consideration by
the Nominating & Govemance Committee, pursuant to the Company's Corporate Governance
Guidelines, the stockholder must have held 1,000 shares for at least six (6) months and must notify the
Nominating & Govemance Committee by writing to the General Counsel of Infinera at the Company’s
main address, and must include:

« To the extent reasonably available, information relating to such director candidate that would
be required to be disclosed in a Proxy Statement pursuant to Regulation 14A under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in which such individual is a nominge for
election to the Board of Directors;
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+ The director candidate's written consent to (A) if selected, be named in the Company's Proxy
Statement and proxy and (B) if elected, to serve on the Board of Directors; and

+ Any other information that such stockholder believes is relevant in considering the director
candidate.

Acquisition Committee

The Acquisition Committee reviews, makes recommendations to the Board of Directors an and,
when expressly authorized by the Board of Directors, approves acquisition, investment, joint venture
and other strategic transactions in which we engage as part of our business strategy from time to time.
The Acquisition Committee also evaluates the execution, financial results and integration of any such
completed transactions. A more detailed description of the Acquisition Committee’s funclions can be
found in our Acquisition Committee charter. A copy of the Acquisition Committee charter is available on
the investor retations page of our website at htfp.//www.infinera.com.

The current membaers of the Acquisition Committee are Messrs. Goldman and Singh and
Dr. Balkanski. Mr, Singh chairs the Acquisition Committes. The Acquisition Committee did not meet
during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007.

Meetings of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors met nine times during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007. During
2007, each director then in office other than Dr. Sindhu attended 75% or more of the meetings of the
Board of Directors and the committees on which he served during the period for which he was a director.

Code of Business Conduct

Our Board of Directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics. The code applies to a!l
of our employees, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and
principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions), agents and
representatives, including directors and consultants. The full text of our code of business conduct and
ethics is posted on our web site at htfp:/iwww.infingra.com. We intend to disclose future amendments
to certain provisions of our code of business conduct and ethics, or waivers of such provisions,
applicable to any principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions or our directors on our web site identified above or
on a Form 8-K if required by the applicable listing standards.

Stockholder Communications With Our Board of Directors
Stockholders may communicate with our Board of Directors at the following address:

The Board of Directors
¢/o General Counsel
Infingra Corporation
169 Java Drive
Sunnyvale, CA 94089

Communications are distributad to the Board of Directors or to any individual director, as
appropriate, depending on the facts and circumstances outlined in the communication.
Communications that are unduly hostile, threatening, illegal or similarly unsuitable will be excluded with
the provision that any communication that is filtered out will be made available to any non-management
director upon request.

Attendance at Annual Stockholder Meetings by the Board of Directors

Directors are encouraged, but not required, to attend the annua! meetings of stockholders. The
upcoming Annual Meeting will be our first as a public company.
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PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED ON
PROPOSAL 1
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

There is one nominee for election to Class | of the Board of Directors this year, Alexandre
Balkanski. The nomination of the Class | director to stand for election at the Annual Meeting was
recommended by the Nominating & Governance Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.
Information regarding the business experience of Dr. Balkanski and the other members of the Board of
Directors is included below. If elected, Dr. Balkanski shall serve a three-year term until the Company's
Annual Meeting of Stockhotders in 2011 and until his successor is duly elected and qualified.

In February 2008, the Board of Directors decided not to nominate Pradeep Sindhu for re-election
to the Board of Directors upon the expiration of his current term. As of the date of this Proxy
Statement, we have not identified a suitable nominee to replace Dr. Sindhu on the Board of Directors.
Votes may not be cast in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting for greater than one nominee to the
Board of Directors,

If you sign your proxy or voting instruction card but do not give instructions with respect to the
voting of directors, your shares will be voted for the one person recommended for the Board of
Directors. If you wish to give specific instructions with respect to the voting of directors, you may do so
by indicating your instructions on your proxy or voting instruction card.

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends a vote FOR the election to the Board of
Directors of the named nominee.

The nominee receiving the highest number of affirative votes of the shares entitled to vote at the
Annual Meeting will be elected as a director of Infinera. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be
counted toward an individual's total. Proxies cannot be voted for more than one individual. In the event
that the nominee is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the Annual Meeling, the
proxies will be voted for any nominee who may be designated by the then current Board of Directors to
fill the vacancy.

Nominee for Class | Director—
Term Expires in 2011

Alexandre Balkanski, Ph.D. Alexandre Balkanski, Ph.D. has been a member of the Board of
Director since 2001 Directors since October 2001, Dr. Balkanski has been a General
Age 47 Partner at Benchmark Capital, a venture capita) firm, since

April 2000. From August 1988 to April 2000, Dr. Balkanski was a
co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of C-Cube Microsystems
inc., a digital video company, Dr. Balkanski holds a B.S. from
Harvard College and an M.A. and a Ph.D. from Harvard University.

Information Regarding Other Directors Continuing In Office

Set forth below is information regarding each of our continuing directors, including their ages as of
March 3, 2008, the periods during which they have served as a director, and certain information as to
principal occupations and directorships held by them in corporations whose shares are publicly
registered,
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Incumbent Class [l Directors whose Terms Expire In 2009

Hugh C. Martin, age 54, has been a member of our Board of Directors since July 2003. Since
April 2004, Mr. Martin has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Pacific Biosciences, Inc.,
a biotechnology company. From September 2003 to April 2004, Mr. Martin acted as a consultant to
Kleiner, Perkins, Caufield & Byers, a venture capital firm. From May 2002 to May 2003, Mr. Martin was
a consultant to Ciena Corporation, a communications equipment company. From January 1998 to
May 2002, Mr. Martin was the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of ONI Systems
Corporation, a fiber-optic communications equipment company. Mr. Martin holds a B.S.E.E. from
Rutgers University.

Dan Maydan, Ph.D., age 72, has been a member of our Board of Directors since
September 2001. From April 2003 to September 2005, Dr. Maydan served as the President Emeritus
of Applied Materials, Inc., a company that manufactures semiconductor equipment, and was a member
of its Board of Directors from June 1992 to March 2006. From 1993 to April 2003, Dr. Maydan served
as President of Applied Materials. Dr Maydan served on the Board of Directors of Electronics for
Imaging, Inc., a digital imaging and print management solutions company, and LaserCard Corporation,
a secure 1D solutions company. Dr. Maydan holds a B.S. and M.S. in Electrical Engineering from the
Israel Institute of Technology and a Ph.D. in Physics from Edinburgh University of Scotland.

Jagdeep Singh, age 40, co-founded Infinera and has served as the President and Chief
Executive Officer since January 2001, and as Chairman of the Board of Directors since March 2001,
From December 1999 to December 2000, Mr. Singh served as a co-founder and Chief Executive
Officer of OnFiber Communications, Inc., an optical telecommunications carrier. Mr. Singh holds a B.S.
in Computer Science from the University of Maryland, an M.S. in Computer Science from Stanford
University and an M.B.A. from the University of California, Berkeley.

Incumbent Class |ll Directors whose Terms Expire in 2010

Kenneth A. Goldman, age 58, has been a member of our board of directors since February 2005.
Mr. Goldman serves as the senior vice president and chief financial officer of Fortinet, Inc., a provider
of unified threat management solutions. From Novemnber 2006 to August 2007, Mr. Goldman served as
executive vice president and chief financial officer of Dexterra, Inc., a provider of mobile enterprise
software. He served as senior vice president, finance and administration, and chief financial officer of
Siebel Systems, Inc., a provider of customer software solutions and services (which was acquired by
Oracle Corporation in January 2008), from August 2000 to March 2006. Prior to August 2000, he
served as senior vica president of finance and chief financial officer of Excite@Home Corporation and
Sybase, Inc. He has also served as chief financial officer of Cypress Semiconductor Corporation and
VLS| Technology, Inc. Mr. Goldman also serves on the board of directors of BigBand Networks, Inc.,
Leadis Technology Inc. and Starent Networks Corp. Mr. Goldman served on the board of Juniper
Networks, Inc, from Septembaer 2003 until his resignation in January 2008. He is currently on the board
of trustees of Cornell University and is a member of the Treasury Advisory Committee on the Auditing
Profession, a public committee that will make recommendations to encourage a more sustainable
auditing profession. He was formerly a member of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Advisory
Council from 2000 to 2003. Mr. Goldman eamed his bachelor's degree in electrical engineering from
Cornsll University in 1971 and his M.B.A. from Harvard Business School in 1974,

Reed E. Hundt, age 60, has been a member of our Board of Directors since February 2007. Since
1998, Mr. Hundt has been a principal of Charles Ross Partners, LLC, a private investor and advisory
firm, and has been an independent advisor on information industries to McKinsey & Company, In¢., a
management consulting firm. Mr. Hundt served as Chairman of the Federal Communications
Commission from 1993 to 1997. Mr, Hundt serves on the board of directors of a number of private
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companies. Mr. Hundt currently serves on the Board of Direclors of intel Corporation, the chip
manufacturer and Data Domain, a storage and networking company. Mr. Hundt holds a B.A. in History
from Yale University and a J.D. from Yale Law School.

Carl Redfield, age 61, has been a member of our Board of Directors since August 2006. Since
September 2004, Mr. Redfield has served as Senior Vice President, New England executive sponsor,
of Cisco Systems, Inc., a networking and telecommunications company. From February 1997 through
September 2004, Mr. Redfield served as Cisco's Senior Vice President, Manufacturing and Logistics.
Mr. Redfield is a member of the Board of Directors of VA Software Corporation, an online media,
software and e-commerce company, Mr. Redfield serves on the board of directors of SourceForge,
Inc., an online media, software and e-commerce company. Mr. Redfield holds a B.S. in Materials
Engineering from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute and has completed post-graduate studies at the
Harvard Business School.
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PROPOSAL 2

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Board of Direclors has selected Emst & Young LLP, independent
registered public accounting firm, as our independent auditors for the fiscal year ending December 27,
2008 and has further directed that management submit the appointment of independent auditors for
ratification by the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. Ernst & Young LLP has audited our financial
statements since our 2001 fiscal year. Representatives of Emst & Young LLF are expected 1o be
present at the Annual Meeting. They will have an opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and
will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Neither our Bylaws nor other goveming documents or law require stockholder ratification of the
appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. However, the
Board of Directors is submitting the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP to the stockholders for
ratification as a matter of good corporate practice. If the stockholders fait to ratify the appointment, the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors will reconsider whether to retain that firm. Even if the
appointment is ratified, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors in its discretion may direct the
appointment of different independent auditors at any time during the year if it determines that such a
change would be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by
proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be required to ratify the appointment of Emst &
Young LLP. Abstentions will be counted toward the tabulation of votes cast on this proposal and will
have the same effect as negative votas. Broker non-votes are counted towards a quorum, but are not
counted for any purpose in determining whether this matter has been approved.

Independent Reglsterad Public Accounting Firm's Fees

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees for audit and other services provided by Emst &
Young LLP for the fiscal years ended Decamber 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006.

2007 2006
AU FEES () et e $3,068,383  $829,370
Audit-refated feBsid) L, .. ... i e it e — —
TN OOS .. ittt et e e e e e 64,886 35,202
AlLOTNEr S . .. . it i it e 2,850 1,500
e P2 I L= J A N $3,136,120 $866,072

(1 Audit Fees consist of fees incurred for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual
consolidated financial statements and review of the quarterly consolidated financial statements
that are normally provided by Ernst & Young LLP in connection with regulatory filings or
engagements. Included in this amount are costs of $2,175,000 associated with our initial and
follow-on public offerings.

@ Audit-related fees relate to professional services rendered in connection with assurance and
related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our
consolidated financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.”
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Pro-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee’s policy is to pre-approve afl audit and permissible non-audit services
rendered by Emst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit
Committee can pre-approve specified services in defined categories of audit services, audit-related
services and tax services up to specified amounts, as part of the Audit Commitiee's approval of the
scope of the engagement of Emst & Young LLP or on an individual case-by-case basis before Emst &
Young LLP is engaged to provide a service. The Audit Committee has determined that the rendering of
the services other than audit services by Ernst & Young LLP is compatible with maintaining the
principal accountant's independence.

The Board Of Directors Unanimously Recommends A Vote “For”
The Ratification Of The Appointment Of Emnst & Young LLP As
Infinera’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

TN For its Fiscal Year Ending December 27, 2008,
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Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors currently consists of the three non-employee
directors named below. The Board of Directors annually reviews the Nasdagq listing standards’
definition of independence for audit committee members and has determined that each member of the
Audit Committee meets that standard. The Board of Directors has also determined that Mr. Goldman is
an audit committes financial expert as described in applicable rules and regulations of the SEC.

The principal purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in its general
oversight of the Company's accounting practices, system of internal controls, audit processes and
financial reporting processes, The Audit Committee is responsible for appointing and retaining our
independent auditor and approving the audit and non-audit services to be provided by the independent
auditor. The Audit Committee's function is more fully described in its charter, which the Board of
Directors has adopted and which the Audit Committee reviews on an annual basis.

The Company's management is responsible for preparing our financial statements and ensuring
they are complete and accurate and prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. Emst & Young LLP, ours independent registered public accounting firm, is responsible for
performing an independent audit of our consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion on
the conformity of those financial statements with generally accepted accounting principles.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with our management the audited financial
statements of the Company included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2007 ("10-K").

The Audit Committee has also reviewed and discussed with Emst & Young LLP the audited
financial statements in the 10-K. In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with Emst & Young
LLP those matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as
amended. Additionally, Ernst & Young LLP has provided to the Audit Committee tha written disclosures
and the letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board. The Audit Committee has also discussed with Emst & Young
LLP its independence from the Company.

Based upon the review and discussions described above, the Audit Committee recommended to
the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included In the Company's 10-K for filing
with the SEC.

Submitted by the following members of the Audit Commitiee:
Kenneth A. Goldman

Hugh C. Martin
Dan Maydan, Ph.D.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information known to us regarding beneficial ownership of our
Common Stock as of March 3, 2008 by:

» each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our
voting securities;

+ our named executive officers;
+ each of our directors; and

« all executive officers and directors as a group.

The information provided in this table is based on Infinera’s records, information filed with the SEC
and information provided to Infinera, except where otherwise noted. Unless otherwise indicated, to our
knowledge, each stockholder possesses sole voling and investment power over the shares listed,
except for shares owned jointly with that person’s spouse. The table below is based upon information
supplied by officers, directors and principal stockholders and Schedules 13G filed with the SEC.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes
voting power and/or investment power with respect to the securities held. Shares of Common Stock
subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008 are deemed
outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options for purposes of computing the
number of shares and percentage beneficially owned by such person, but are not deemed outstanding
for purposes of computing the percentage beneficially owned by any other person. Except as indicated
in the footnotes to this table, and subject to applicable community property laws, the persons or entities
named have sole voling and investment power with respact to all shares of our common stock shown
as beneficially owned by them. Percentage beneficially owned is ‘based on 92,607,864 shares of
Common Stock outstanding on March 3, 2008. L

Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each of the stockholders below is c/o Infinera
Corporation, 169 Java Drive, Sunnyvale, CA 34089.

Number of
Shares Porcent
Benoficially Beneficlally
Owned Owmead

5% Stockholder

FMR LLCI) | i e e e e 13,586,981 14.7%

Directors and Named Executive Officers
Alexandre Balkanski, Ph.D.@& .. ... ... ..ol 2,735,888 3.0
CarlRedfield® ... ... ... . i 145,017 ¢
DanMaydan® ...... .. ... i i 71,875 *
David F. Welch® .., ... e 2,837,064 3
Duston Williams® . ... ... ... cine i 413,541 *
HughMartin® ... ... .. i 143,171 .
Jagdeep Singh® .. . ... ... L e 3,151,558 34
Kenneth A, Goldman® . .................c.cicvivinnnnn, 104,143 v
Pradeep Sindhufi® . . ... ... ... .. 53,124 .
Reed HUNI1 . L o i i, 82,500 *
Scott A.Chandler' , ... ,.......coiniriiin i 73,483 ¢
Thomas J. Fallont33} .. .. ... ... e 565,411 *

All current directors and executive officers as a group (14

PErsonsS) s 11,029,479 11.6
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V)

]

&

*

*

(8}

Less than 1% of the outstanding shares of common stock.

According to a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on January 10, 2008, Fidelity Management &
Rasearch Company ("Fldelity™), a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC ("FMR")} and an
Investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, may be
deemed to be the beneficial owner of 13,551,381 shares as a rasult of acting as investment
adviser to various investment companies registered under Section 8 of the Investment Company
Act of 1940. The ownership of one investment company, Fidelity Growth Company Fund
{"FGCF™), amounted to 7,380,653 shares. Edward C. Johnson 3d and FMR, through its control of
Fidelity, and the funds each has sole power to dispose of the 13,551,381 shares owned by the
Funds. Neither FMR LLC nor Mr. Johnson has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the
shares owned directly by the Fidelity Funds. Pyramis Global Advisors, LLC ("PGALLC"), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR is ths beneficial owner of 7,300 shares as a result of its
serving as investment adviser to institutional accounts, non-U.S. mutual funds, or investment
companies owning such shares, Mr, Johnson and FMR LLC, through its control of PGALLC, each
has sole dispositive power over 7,300 shares and sole power to vote or to direct the voting of
7.300 shares owned by the institutional accounts or funds advised by PGALLC. Pyramis Global
Advisors Trust Company (“PGATC"™, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR is the beneficial
owner of 6,400 shares as a result of its serving as investment manager of institutional accounts
owning such shares. Mr. Johnson and FMR LLC, through its control of Pyramis Global Advisors
Trust Company, each has sole dispositive power over 6,400 shares and sole power to vote or to
direct the voting of 0 shares owned by the institutional accounts managed by PGATC. The
address of Fidelity, FMR and FGCF is 82 Devonshire Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109. The
address of PGALLC and PGATC is 53 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109,

Consists of (i) options to purchase 78,125 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of
which 26,562 are vested; and (i) 2,657,763 sharas held of record by Benchmark Capital Partners
IV, L.P., as nominee for Benchmark Capital Partners IV, L.P., Benchmark Founders' Fund IV, L.P.,
Benchmark Founders’ Fund IV-A, L.P., Benchmark Founders' Fund IV-B, L.P., Benchmark
Founders’ Fund IV-X, L.P. and related individuals. Dr. Balkanski is a managing member of
Benchmark Capital Management Co. IV, L.L.C., which is the general pariner of Benchmark Capital
Pariners IV, L.P. Dr. Balkanski disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by this fund
except {o the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. The address of Dr. Balkanski and this fund is
¢/o Benchmark Capital Partners, 2480 Sand Hill Road, Suite 200, Menlo Park, California 94025.
Consists of {i} 75,000 shares held of record by Carl Redfield, 46,875 of which are subjectto a
repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (ii) 67,934 shares held of record by Carl Redfield
Trust 2000, dated October 18, 2000; and (iii) options to purchase 2,083 shares exercisable within
60 days of March 3, 2008, ali of which are fully vested.

Consists of (i} 68,750 shares held of record by Dan Maydan, TTEE, Maydan Marital Share One
UAD 05/06/00, 20,053 of which are subject to a repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008;
and (i) options to purchase 3,125 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, all of which
are fully vested,

Consists of (i) 553,750 shares held of record by SE| Private Trust Company, Trustee of the Welch
Family Heritage Trust | u/l dated 9/24/01; (i) 89,429 shares held of record by David Welch, 75,574
of which are subject to a repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (iii) 500,000 shares held
of racord by Welch Group, L.P., a limited partnership of which Dr. Welch is the general partner;
{iv) 1,204,045 shares held of record by LRFA, LLC, a limited liability company of which Dr. Welch
is the sole managing member; (v) 256,924 shares held of record by the Welch Family Trust dated
4/3/96; and (vi} options to purchase 232,916 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008,
of which 127,186 are fully vested.

Consists of (i) 26,933 shares held of record by Duston Williams, of which all are subject to a
repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (ii} 98,067 shares heid of record by Duston M.
Williams and Jennifer A. Williams Trustees of the Williams Family Trust dated March 18, 2005 and
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(i) options to purchase 288,541 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of which
108,333 are fully vested.

Consists of (i) 50,000 shares held of record by Hugh Martin, 9,115 of which are subject to a
repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (ii) 46,296 shares held of record by Hugh Martin
and Moira Cullen Martin, Trustees of the HMCM Trust U/T/A October 14, 1892; and (jii) options to
purchase 46,875 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of which 23,177 are fully
vested,

Consists of (i) 122,844 shares held of record by Jagdeep Singh Trustee of the Roshni Singh
Annuity Trust dated 6/21/06; (i) 1,695,186 shares held of record by Jagdeep Singh and Roshni
Singh Trustees of the Singh Family Trust UDT dated 10/3/96; (iii) 122,844 shares held of record
by Jagdeep Singh Trustee of the Jagdeep Singh Annuity Trust dated 6/21/06; (iv) 471,519 shares
held of record by Jagdeep Singh, 62,501 of which are subject to a repurchase option we hold as of
March 3, 2008; and (v) options to purchase 739,165 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3,
2008, of which 443,434 are fully vested. Mr. Singh is a limited partner in certain Benchmark
Capital Partners funds that hold 2,657,763 shares of our common stock as disclosed in footnote 2
{o this table. Mr. Singh disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares hetd by Benchmark Capital
Partners except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

Consists of (i) 45,000 shares held of record by Kenneth A. Goldman, 10,678 of which are subject
to a repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (i) 18,518 shares held of record by the
Goldman-Valeriote Family Trust u/a/d 11/15/95; and (jii) options to purchase 40,625 shares
exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of which 20,312 are fully vested. Mr. Goldman is a
limited partner in certain Benchmark Capital Partners funds that hold 2,657,763 shares of our
common stock as disclosed in footnote 2 to this table. Mr. Goldman disclaims beneficial ownership
of these shares, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest thersin.

Consists of (i) 21,094 shares held of record by Pradeep Sindhu, 20,052 of which are subject to a
repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (ii) 6,250 shares held of record by Pradeep
Sindhu Annuity Trust V dated May 1, 2007; (iii) 13,281 shares held of record by Pradeep Sindhu
Annuity Trust VI dated May 1, 2007; (iv) 9,374 shares held of record by Sindhu Family Trust U/T/D
10/31/00, Pradeep Sindhu and Marle Francoise Bertrand Trustees; and (v) options to purchase
3,125 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, all of which are fully vested.

Consists of (i) 57,500 shares held of record by Reed Hundt, 31,250 of which are subjectto a
repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008 and (ii) options to purchase 25,000 shares
exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, none of which are vested. Mr. Hundt is a limited
pariner in certain Benchmark Capital Partners funds that hold an aggregate of 2,657,763 shares of
our common stock, as disclosed in footnote 2 to this table. Mr. Hundt disclaims beneficial
ownership of these shares, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

Consists of options to purchase 73,483 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of
which 12,803 are vested.

Consists of (i) 389,076 shares held of record by Thomas J. Fallon; 71,407 of which are subject to
a repurchase option we hold as of March 3, 2008; (i} 18,681 shares held of record by the Fallon
Family Revocable Trust dated September 7, 1994; (iii} 6,119 shares held of record by the
Shannon F. Fallon 2006 Annuity Trust A dated 6/9/06; (iv) 6,119 shares held of record by the
Thomas J. Fallon Annuity Trust A dated 6/9/06; and (v) options to purchase 145,416 shares
exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of which 87,082 are fully vested.

Consists of (i) 8,827,622 shares held of record by the current directors and executive officers,
410,525 of which are subject to repurchase rights we hold as of March 3, 2008; and (ii) options to
purchase 2,201,857 shares exercisable within 60 days of March 3, 2008, of which 1,105,158 are
fully vested.
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SECTION 16 BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

The members of the Board of Directors, our executive officers of the Company and persons who
hold more than 10% of our outstanding common stock are subject to the reporting requirements of
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, which require them to file reports with respect to their ownership of
our common stock and their transactions in our common stock. Based upon (i) the copies of
Section 16(a) reports that we received from such persons for their fiscal ysar 2007 transactions in the
common stock and their common stock holdings and (i) the written representations received from one
or more of such persons that no annual Form 5 reports were required to be filed by them for fiscal year
2007, we believe that all reporting requirements under Section 16(a) were met in a timely manner by
the persons who were executive officers, members of the Board of Directors or greater than 10%
stockholders during such fiscal year except that the following person filed one late Form 4: David F.
Welch, Ph.D., the Company's Chief Marketing and Strategy Officer.

21




EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information as of December 29, 2007 with respect to the shares of the
Company's Common Stock that may be issued under the Company’s existing eguity compensation
plans.

Numbor of Securities
Remalning Avallzble tor
Number of Securities Future lssuance Under
to be lssued Upon Welghted Average  Equity Compensation
Exerclse o Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Outstanding Optlons, Outstanding Options, Securities Reflacted in
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Flrst Column)i
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holderst ... ............ ... 11,741,805 $5.98 12,010,655
Equity compensation plans not approved
by securityholders . ............. ... - — —
Total .......... ... i 11,741,805 $6.98 12,010,655

0} The Company’s 2007 Equity Incentive Plan provides that on the first day of the Company's fiscal
yaar, the number of shares of Common Stock authorized under the plan shall be increased by the
lesser of (i) 9,000,000 shares of Common Stock, (ii) 5% of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year or (i) such other amount as is
determined by the Board of Directors or a commitiee of the Board of Directors. For 2008 the Board
of Directors approved an increase in the shares of Common Stock authorized under the 2007
Equity Incentive Plan of 4,579,006. The Company's 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan provides
that on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year, the number of Comman Stock shares authorized
under the plan shall be increased by the lesser of (i) 1,875,000 shares of Common Stock, (i) 1%
of the outstanding shares of Common Stock on such date or (jii) such other amount as is
determined by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors. For 2008 the Board
of Directors approved an increase in the shares of Common Stock authorized under the 2007
Employee Stock Purchase Plan of 915,801.

@ Includes 1,812,500 shares of Commaon Stock available for future issuances under the Company’s
2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

22




COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The Compensation Committee is composed of three non-employee members of the Board of
Directors. The Compensation Commitiee's primary responsibility is to determine the compensation for
the Company's executive officers. The Compensation Committee also oversees, reviews and
administers all of Infinera's compensation, equity and employee benefit plans and programs applicable
to executive officers.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Our compensation and benefits programs seek to attract and retain our senior executives to
motivate them to pursue our corporate objectives while encouraging the creation of long-term valus for
stockholders. Through our annual goal setting process, organizational objectives are established for
the Company and the executive officers. We evaluate and reward our executive officers based on their
ability to identify and exploit opportunities to grow our business. In addition, at the beginning of each
year, our Compensation Committee establishes specific goals and objectives for compensating our
employees, including our named executive officers.

Specifically, we have created a compensation program that has a mix of short- and long-term
components, cash and equity elements and fixed and contingent payments in the proportions we
believe will provide the proper incentives, reward our senior management team and help us achieve
the following goals:

+ foster a goal oriented, highly-motivated management team whose participants have a clear
understanding of business objectives and shared corporate values;

+ allocate company resources most effectively in the development of market-leading technology
and products;

» controf costs in each facet of our business to maximize our efficiency; and
« enable us to attract, retain and motivate a world class team.

The Compensation Committee's approach is based on the philosophy that a substantial portion of
aggregate annual compensation for executive officers should be contingent upon the Company’s
overall performance and an individual's contribution to the Company’s success. The Compensation
Committee believes that an individual's at risk compensation should increase as an employee
becomes more senior with the Company. In this regard, the Compensation Committee has targeted
base salary below market at between the 25" and the 50t percentile relative to competitive market
practices and total cash compensation (measured as base salary and at risk incentive compensation)
at the 50" percentile relative to competitive market practices, although actual base salaries and total
cash compensation may be higher or lower than this targeted positioning. Long term equity awards for
2007 were intended to target overall compensation at approximately the 75 percentile, although the
financial performance of the Company and the changes in the market price of the Company’s common
stock can result in total compensation above or below the target.

Rotle of Executive Officers and Compensation Consultant

Under the charter of the Compensation Committee, the Compensation Committea is compaosed
entirely of independent directors and has the responsibility for approving compensation for those
officers who are designated as reporling officers under Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (“Section 16 Officers”). Generally, the types of compensation provided to our
Section 16 Officers are also provided to other non-Section 16 officers reporting to the Chief Executive
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Officer. Throughout this Proxy Statement, the individuals who served as the Company's Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer during 2007, as well as the other individuals included in
the Summary Compensation Table on page 31, are referred to as the "named executive officers.” All of
the named executive officers are Section 16 Officers.

The Compensation Committee determines all compensation decisions for the Section 16 Officers.
Prior to the Company's initial public offering of common stock in June 2007, the Board of Directors
determined all compensation decisions for the Section 16 Officers and did receive recommendations of
the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee has the authority to engage its own
advisors to assist it in carrying out its responsibilities. in 2007, the Compensation Committee retained
Compensia and Professor Brian Hall of Harvard University as advisors. The Compensation Committee
is free to replace its compensation advisors or retain additional advisors at any time. The advisors
assist the Compensation Committee in providing compensation information, analyzing various
compensation alternatives and data, and helping to develop recommendations regarding all awards to
Section 16 Officers.

During 2007, the Compensation Committee consulted with these advisors in connection with
developing recommendations for structuring our compensation programs to retain our highly
experienced executive management team, to keep management focused during the expected period of
growth following our initial public offering and to motivate management to maximize stockholder vatue.
Their fees were approved and paid by the Company. The advisors report to the Compensation
Committes and interact with the management at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. The
advisors provide analysis and data to the Company and the Committee regarding the Section 16
Officer's compensation relative to external market benchmarks. The advisors also provide information
to the Company and the Compensation Committee regarding compensation trends, compensation
strategies and structure of incentive compensation plans. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company
typically attends all mestings of the Compensation Committee and annually reviews the performance
of each Section 16 Officer (other than the Chief Executive Officer whose performance is reviewed by
the Committee). At the request of the Compensation Committee, the Compensation Committee’s
advisors make recommendations regarding the salary, incentive larget and equity awards for each
individual Section 16 Officer. Mr. Singh, our Chief Executive Officer, is asked by the Compensation
Committee to provide his assessment of the performance of the Section 16 Officers, other than
himself, to the advisors of the Compensation Committee. He is assisted by our Vice President of
Human Resources in making these assessments to the advisors of the Compensation Committee.

Mr. Singh takes an active part in the discussions of the Compensation Committee at which
compensation of the Section 16 Officers are discussed. All decisions regarding Mr. Singh's
compensation are made by the Committee or the Board of Directors in executive session, without
Mr. Singh present. The Compsensation Committee considers, but is in no way bound by, the
recommendations made by Mr. Singh in determining compensation for the other Section 16 Officers.
Similarly, the conclusions reached and recommendations made by the Compensation Committee's
advisors can also be accepted, rejected or modified by the Compensation Commiltee.

Benchmarking Data

In making compensation decisions, the Compensation Committee compares each element of total
compensation against various market-based reference points for analyzing, benchmarking and setting
compensation for Section 16 Officers. For 2007, the “market data” was drawn from seventeen
companies, including a mix of publicly-traded U.S. networking and optical transport companies, and
166 companies with revenue of between $200 million and $500 million that were part of the Radford
High Technology Industry Report of executive compensation levels and practices that covers
approximately 80 positions in over 700 organizations (the “Peer Group”).
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The companies included in the Peer Group were selected principally on the basis of their similarity
to Infinera in terms of industry focus, business strategy and the talent pool with which Infinera
competes for talent. This list Is periodically reviewed and updated by the Compensation Committee to
take into account changes in both the Company's business and the businesses of the peer companies.

For 2007 the Peer Group consisted of the following companies:

Acme Packet, Inc. Juniper Networks, Inc.
Agilent Technologies, Inc. Motcrola, Inc.

Broadecom Corporation Polycom, Inc.

Ciena Corporation QUALCOMM Incorporated
Cisco Systems, Inc. Redback Networks, Inc.
F5 Networks, Inc. Riverbed Technology, Inc.
Foundry Networks, Inc. Sonus Networks, Inc.
Isilon Systems, Inc. Tellabs, Inc.

JDS Uniphase Cerporation

The data on the compensation practices of the Peer Group is gathered through our advisors'’
searches of publicly available information. Because of the variations between companies as to which
individuals and roles compensation is disclosed, there will not be available directly comparable
information from each pesr company with respect to each of our Section 16 Officers or named
executive officers.

Principal Elements of Executive Compensation

Base Salaries. Base salary will typically be used to recognize the experience, skills, knowledge
and responsibilities required of each execulive officer, as well as competitive market conditions. In
establishing the 2007 base salaries of our named executive officers, our Compensation Committee
took into account a number of factors, including the executive’s seniority, position and functional role
and level of responsibility. In addition, we considered the competitive market for corresponding
positions within comparable geographic areas and industries. For 2007, base salaries for our senior
executives were and are generally positioned between the 25t and 50 percentile of our Peer Group,
although actual base salaries may be higher or lower than this targeted positioning.

The base salary of our named executive officers is reviewed on an annual basis and adjustments
will be made to reflect performance-based factors, as well as competitive conditions. We will not apply
specific formulas to determine increases. Generally, executive salaries will be adjusted effective
January 1 of each year. After considering the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer with
input from the Compensation Committea's advisors with regard to the salaries of named executive
officers other than himself, the Compensation Committee approved the following base salaries,
effective as of May 1, 2007.

Name Base Salary($)
dJagdeep Singh ... ... L. e e e 230,000
Duston M. WIlliams . ......ci it e e e s 250,000
Scott A. Chandler ... ... .. .. . . e 225,000
Thomas J. Fallon . ... ... i i it i it e e 250,000
David F.Welch ... i i i v 230,000
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Pursuant to the 2008 annual compensation review and based on the performance of the Company
in 2007, the Compensation Committee increased the base salaries, effective January 1, 2008, of the
named executive officers as follows:

Old Bagse New Basa

Exacutlve Officor Position ‘ ) Salary (3) Salary ($}
Jagdeep Singh .......... Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 230,000 300,000
Duston M. Williams ...... Chief Financial Officer 250,000 280,000
Scott A. Chandler ....... Vice President, Worldwide Sales 225,000 280,000
Thomas J. Fallon........ Chief Operating Officer 250,000 280,000
David F.Welch ......... Chisf Marketing and Strategy Officer 230,000 280,000

Incentive Bonus. As discussed above, the Company's compensation objective is to have a
signification portion of each Section 18 Officer's compensation tied to performance. To this end, the
Company eslablished a 2007 Bonus Plan that provides for performance based cash incentive
opportunities for certain employees of the Company, including each of the Section 16 Officers, other
than Mr. Chandler, our VP of Worldwide Sales. In establishing the amount of these bonus
compensation amounts the Compensation Committee evaluated the total target cash compensation
(base salary plus target amount of incentive cash payments) and compared it to the market benchmark
data discussed above, including the Peer Group. The actual award eamed may be higher or lower than
this target incentive amount based on company and individual performance factors.

Under our 2007 Bonus Plan, the corporate objectives for bonuses for all Section 16 Officers, other
than Mr. Chandler, were a combination of financial related rmeasures. The payouts under the Bonus
Plan range from 0% to a maximum of 200% of the targeted bonuses payout. The 2007 Bonus Plan did
not include a discretionary element for the payment of the bonus to the named executive officers as the
Compensation Committee sought to provide a common focus for the execulive team and to encourage
a team approach to the achisvement of the 2007 objectives. Failure to achieve threshold performance
against operating profit as adjusted for certain items, regardless.of the achievement against other
measures, would have resulted in no bonus being paid. In 2007, the Company's objective was to target
total cash compensation at approximately the 50th percentile relative to competitive market practices,
although actual totat cash compensation may be higher or lower than this targeted position. For 2007,
the following target bonus percentages, as a percentage of base salary, were applied: Mr. Singh—
100%, Mr. Williams—50%, Mr. Fallon—60% and Dr, Welch—40%. The targets for our 2007 Bonus
Plan were tied to four financial metrics—invoiced shipments, gross margin on invoiced shipments, cash
from operations and operating profit based on invoiced shipments. Infinera uses invoiced shipment
measures of operating results and net income, which include changes in our deferred revenue and
deferred cost of inventory balancas from the prior period. We also use non-GAAP measures of
operating results, net income and net income per share, which are adjusted to reflect invoiced
shipments and exclude non-GAAP stock-based compensation and warrant valuation expenses. These
adjusiments to our GAAP results are made with the intent of providing a more accurate measure of
Infinera's underlying operating results and trends and our marketplace performance. The non-GAAP
results are an indication of our baseline performance and are considered by management for the
purpose of making operational decisions and by external investors in their analysis of the Company.
The Company's performance for 2007 yielded a 200% payout of the 2007 bonus amounts which were
paid out in February 2008 as follows: Mr. Singh—$460,000, Mr. Williams -$250,000, Mr. Fallon——
$300,000 and Dr. Welch—$184,000.

We expect to continue to pay cash bonuses in a single instaflment during the month of February of
the year following the measurement year. These performance objectives may change from
year-to-year as the company continues to evolve and different priorities are established, but are
subject to the review and approval of the Compensation Committee. Awards under our bonus
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programs are based on a thorough quantitative and qualitative review of all the facts and
circumstances related to company performance when determining each individual's annual bonus.

Mr. Chandler's bonus payout for 2007 was $325,807. Mr. Chandler's bonus for 2007 was based
on the Company’s achievement of an annual invoiced shipments target. The 2007 bonus earned by
Mr. Chandler was a percentage of each dollar of invoiced shipments generated by the Company, and
includes a higher percentage payout at higher invoiced shipments levels. Mr. Chandler’s annual bonus
for 2007 had an expected payout of 100% of his annual salary at 100% achievement of his sales quota
and did not have a minimum or maximum payout.

Long-Term Equity-Based Incentive Compensation. We believe that strong long-term corporate
performance is achieved with a corporate culture that encourages a long-term focus by our named
executive officers through the use of stock-based awards that fluctuate in value with our stock
performance. Our equity incentive plans have been established to provide certain of our employees,
including our executive officers, with incentives to help align those employees’ interests with the
interests of our stockholders. In connection with our initial public offering, our Board of Directors
adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, which permits the grant of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance units, performance shares and other stock-
based awards. Qur equity awards are designed to align management's performance objectives with
the interests of our stockholders. Our Compensation Committee grants equity awards to key
exacutives in order to enable them to participate in the long-term appreciation of our stockholder value,
while reducing or eliminating the economic benefit of such awards in the event we do not perform well.
Additionally, to the extent equity awards are given in the form of option grants these provide an
important retention tool for key executives, as they are in almost atl cases subject to vesting over an
extended period of time subject to continuing service with the Company.

We use a number of methodologies to make external comparisons when we set the number of
options to be granted to each executive officer. On an individual basis, we compare the fair value of the
grant to those axecutives made at the Peer Group using a Black-Scholes valuation for equity awards
that is consistent with SFAS 123(R), and the number of option shares granted by position as a
percentage of total common shares outstanding. We believe these comparisons provide important
additiona! context for comparing the competitiveness of our equity-based compensation practices
versus the market.

The annual performance equity awards we make to our executive officers will be driven by our
sustained performance over time, our executive officers’ ability to impact our results that drive
stockholder value, their organization level, their potential to take on roles of increasing responsibility,
and competitive equity award levels for similar positions and organization levels in comparable
companies. Equity forms a key part of the overall compensation for each executive officer and will be
considered each year as pant of the annual performance review process and incentive payout
calculation. In 2007, the Company's objective was to target long term equity incentive compensation at
the 75% percentile relative to market practices. In addition, the Compensation Committee also
evaluated the retention value of prior equity awards to an individual based on the potential value of the
unvested portion of those awards under various scenarios.
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In 2007, the Compensation Committee granted stock options to our named executive officers
during our annual stock grant process as follows:

‘ Number of
Name Shares
Jagdeep Singh . ... .. e e i e e e e e 412,500
Duston M. WIlliams ..ottt ittt eia e ra e 208,250
Scott A.Chandler ...t i ittt 123,750
Thomas J. Fallon ... ... o it vt e e 206,250
David F.Welch ... i i i e itiaraaaaannan 206,250

To date, we have not awarded shares of restricted stock or restricted stock units to our named
executive officers. Since we have been in a high-growth phase of our business and our stock has only
recently become publicly traded, the Compensation Committee believed in 2007 that options provided
a more powerful incentive to our named executive officers. However, the Compensation Committee
may make restricted stock or similar equity grants in the future.

Perquisites

Our Section 16 Officers participate in the same group insurance and employee benefit plans as
our other salaried employees. The Company provides employee benefits programs to all employess,
including Section 16 Officers, that the Company and the Compensation Committee believe are
reasonable and consistent with its overall compensation program to better enable the Company to
attract and retain employees. These incfude medical, dental, vision, disability and other plans and
programs made available 1o other full time employess in the applicable country of residence. At this
time, we do not provide special plans or programs for our Section 16 Officers. Accordingly, employee
benefits and perquisites are reviewed from time to time only to ensure that benefit levels remain
compelitive, but are not included in the Committee’s annual determination of a Section 16 Officer’s
compensalion package.

The Company has a 401({k) tax-qualified retirement savings plan pursuant to which all U.S. based
employees are entitled to participate. Employees can make contributions to the plan on a before-tax
basis to the maximum amount prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company does not
provide any matching to these contributions. Other than this plan, the Company does not maintain any
other deferred savings plans in which the Section 16 Officers participate. The Company does not
maintain or provide any defined benefit plans for its employees.

Change in Controf Severance Benefits

The Compensation Committee considers maintaining a stable and effective management team to
be essential to protecting and enhancing the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. To
that end, the Compensation Commities recognized that the possibility of a change in control may exist
from time to time, and that this possibility, and the uncertainty and questions it may raise among
management, may result in the departure or detraction of management to tha detriment of the
Company and its stockholders. Accordingly, the Compensation Committee decided to take appropriate
steps to encourage the continued attention, dedication and continuity of members of the Company’s
management to their assigned duties without the distraction that may arise from the possibility of a
change in control. As a result, the Company has entered into change of control agreemants with each
of our vice president level officers and above including our named executive officers. Our chief
executive officer, chief financial officer and chief operating officer will receive the following benefits if
we undergo a change of control fransaction and such officer is terminated without cause or is
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prior execution of a general release in our favor:

+  50% of the shares subject to the new hire option grant or stock award made to such officer
will vest;

»  100% of the unvested shares of each subssquent option or stock award will vest; and

+ the officer will be paid a lump sum equal to 12 months of base salary and will be provided with
up to 12 months of COBRA.

Our other vice president level officers will receive the following benefits if we undergo a change of
control transaction and such officer is terminated without cause or is constructively terminated within
12 months following the change of control, subject to the individual's pricr execution of a general
relsase in our favor:

+ 50% of the shares subject to the new hire option grant or stock award made to such officer
will vest;

» 50% of the unvested shares of each subsequent option or stock award will vest; and

« the officer will be paid a lump sum equal to six months of base salary and will be provided up
to six months of COBRA,

Stock Ownership Guldelines

The Company believes that the significant component of each Section 16 Officer’s overall
compensation based on equity awards is sufficient to align the officer’s interest with those of the
stockholders. We currently do not require our directors or Section 16 Officers to own a particular
amount of our Common Stock. The Compensation Committee is satisfied that stock and option .
holdings among our directors and Section 16 Officers are sufficient at this time to provide motivation !
and to align this group’s interests with those of our stockholders.

constructively terminated within 12 months following the change of control, subject to the Individual's

Stock Option Granting Policy

In 2007, the Compensation Committee approved a policy for granting stock options and equity
awards. New hire and ad hoc promotional and adjustment grants to non-executive employees are to be
granted monthly on the first Monday of each month by a subcommittee of the Board of Directors
consisting of our CEO—created by the Compensation Committee. Grants by this subcommittee must
be consistent with the annual grant guidelines that are reviewed and approved by the Compensation
Committee. All new hire grants to Section 16 Officers and grants that are outside of the pre-approved
Compensation Committee guidelines must be made by the Compensation Committee. Annual
performance equity awards for all employees, including Section 16 Officers will be scheduled to occur
during the first open trading window of each new calendar year and shall be approved by the
Compensation Committee,

Revislon of Financial Metrics

The Compensation Committee has not adopted a policy with respect to whether we will make
retroactive adjustments to any cash-or equity-based incentive compensation paid to executive officers
(or others) where the payment was predicated upon the achievement of financial results that were
subsequently the subject of a revision.
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Tax and Accounting Treatment of Compensation

Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) limits the amount that we may deduct for compensation
paid to our chief executive officer and to certain other of our most highly compensated officers to
$1,000,000 per person, unless certain exemption requirements are met. Exemptions to this
deductibility limit may be made for various forms of “performance-based” compensation. In addition to
salary and bonus compansation, upon the exercise of stock options that are not treated as incentive
stock options, the excess of the current market price over the option price, or option spread, is treated
as compensation and accordingly, in any year, such exercise may cause an officer's total
compensation to exceed $1,000,000. Under certain regulations, oplion spread compensation from
options that meet certain requirements will not be subject to the $1,000,000 cap on deductibility, and in
the past we have granted options that we believe met those requirements. While the Compensation
Committee cannot predict how the deductibility limit may impact our compensation program in future
years, the Compensation Committee intends to maintain an approach to executive compensation that
strongly links pay to performance. While the Compensation Committee has not adopted a formal policy
regarding tax deductibility of compensation paid to our chief executive officer and certain other of our
most highly compensated officers, the Compensation Commitiee intends to consider tax deductibility
under Rule 162(m) as a factor in compznsation decisions.

We account for equity compensation paid to our employees under the rules of SFAS 123(R),
which requires us to estimate and record an expense for each award of equity compensation over the
service period of the award. Accounting rules also require us to record cash compensation as an
expense at the time the obligation is incurred.

Summary

The Compensation Committee believes that cur compensation philosophy and programs are
designed to foster a performance-oriented culture that aligns our executive officers’ interests with those
of our stockholders. The Compensation Committee also believes that the compensation of our
executives is both appropriate and responsive to the goal of improving stockholder value,

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, Based
on its review the Compensation Committee recommended that the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

Compensation Committee

Reed E. Hundt, Chairman
Hugh C. Martin
Carl Redfield
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2007 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth all of the compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer and our three other highest paid executive officers.
W refer to these executive officers as our “named executive officers.”

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Option Compensation All Other
Name and Princlipal Position Yoar Salary{$) AwardsV {3 Compensation (§) Total {$)
Jagdeep Singh President, ......... 2007 219,500 598,025 460,000 —_ 1,277,525
Chief Executive and Chairman of
the Board 2006 200,000 44,572 32,526 — 277,098
Duston M. Williams .............. 2007 250,000 337,311 250,000 —_ 837,331
Chief Financial Officer 2006 129,808 44,856 40,657 — 215,321
ScottA.Chandler ................ 2007 225,000 163,335 325,8079 —_ 714,142
VP Worldwide Sales 2006 225,000 7.429 984,946 —_ 1,217,375
Thomas J.Fallon ................ 2007 230,962 278,532 300,000 — 800,494
Chief Operating Officer 2006 200,000 116,410 32,526 — 348,936
DavidF.Welch .................. 2007 219,500 298,222 184,000 — 701,722
Chief Marketing and Strategy
Officer 2006 200,000 22,286 32,526 —_— 254,812

) The amounts in this column represent the doflar amount recognized for financial statement
purposes in 2007, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), and thus may include amounts from
options granted in years prior 10 2007. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements contained in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008 for a
discussion of all assumptions made by us in determining the FAS 123(R) values of equity awards.

@ These amounts represent annual incentive bonus awards under the 2007 Bonus Plan, which is
discussed and analyzed beginning on page 26. See the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table for
more information on each annual incentive award in fiscal 2007.

& Mr. Chandler eamed these amounts solely through sales commissions related to certain individual
performance targets.
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2007 Grants of Plan Based Awards

The following table sets forth information regarding fiscal 2007 annual incentive bonus awards and
each equity award granted to our named executive officers during fiscal year 2007. Columns otherwise
required by SEC rules are omitted where there is no amount to report.

Estimated
Future
Payouts All Other
Under Optilon Exercise
Non-Equity Awards: or Base Grant Date
incentive Number of Prico of Fair Value
Plan Sacuritles Option  of Stock
Grant Awards Undertylng Awards and QOption
Name Type of Award Date Actual($) Target($) Maximum($) Opﬂons(#? {$/Sh) Awards(§)
Jagdeep Singh ... A. Stock options  6/6/2007 —_ —_ — 412,500 13.00 4,019,524
B. Annual
Incentive — 460,000 230,000 460,000 —_ — —_
Duston M.
Williams ....... A. Stock options  6/6/2007 — - — 206,250 13.00 2,009,762
B. Annual
Incentive — 250,000 125,000 250,000 — - —_
Scott A,
Chandler ...... A. Stock options  B/6/2007 - —_ —_ 123,750 13.00 1,205,857
B. Annual
Incentive — 325,807 225,000 nfa _ - -
Thomas J. ’
Fallon ......... A. Stock options  6/6/2007 — — . — 206,250 13.00 2,009,762
B. Annual
Incantive — 300,000 150,000 300,000 —_— - —
David F. Welch ... A. Stock options  6/6/2007 —_ — _ 206,250 13.00 2,009,762
B. Annual
Incentive - 184,000 92,000 184,000 —_— —_ —_

) Represents the fair value of each stock aption as of the date it was granted, computed in
accordance with FAS 123(R).

Description of Awards Granted in 2007

The following narrative discusses the material information necessary to understand the information
in the table abova.

Option Awards. Each of Messrs. Singh, Williams, Chandler, Fallon and Welch were granted
options on June 6, 2007 to purchase the respeclive shares as indicated above in the 2007 Grants of
Pian Based Awards. The options, which were granted under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, vest
monthly over five years from the vesting commencement date of April 24, 2007, except for Mr. Williams
which vests monthly over a five year period with a vesting commencement date of June 19, 2007.
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Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards. These amounts reflect the potential target and maximum
annual incentive bonus awards payable under the 2007 Bonus Plan. Amounts actually eamed under
the 2007 Bonus Plan are reported in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column in the
Summary Compensation Table and were the maximum payouts under the Plan for Messrs. Singh,
Williams and Fallon and Dr. Welch.

The target amount paid under the 2007 Bonus Plan varies depending on how actual performance
compares to the established performance goals set forth on page 26 of the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis section of this Proxy Statement. Participants in the 2007 Bonus Plan must have been
employed at the end of the 2007 to receive the bonus payment. The Company performed above the
target level and paid bonuses under the 2007 Bonus Plan to each of the named executive officers at
200% of the target payout amount, other than Scott A. Chandler. Mr. Chandler’s bonus for 2007 was
based on the Company’s achievement of an annual invoiced shipments target.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2007

The following table sets forth information regarding each unexercised option held by each of our
named executive officers as of December 29, 2007,

Option Awards

Number of Number of Number of

Securities Sacurities Socurities

Undertying  Underlying Undartying

Options Unexercised Unexercised Option Option
otal Options Options Exercise  Expiration
Name Grant Date Grant(f)  Exerclsable(#) Unexerclsable(#) Price($) ate

Jagdeep Singh ...... 11/28/2005 274,999 274,995 — 1.32 11/28/2015
B8/8/2006 375,000 375,000 — 2.00 8/8/2016
6/6/2007 412,500 55,0000 357,500 13.00 6/6/2017
Duston M. Williams ... B/8/2006 375,000 250,000:9 —_ 2.00 8/8/2016
6/6/2007 206,250 20,625® 185,625 13.00 6/6/2017
Scott A. Chandler .... 7/6/2004 15,000 15,0006 — 224 71612014
21212008 17,500 4,3780M — 0.76 21212015
11/28/2005 65,681 27,3696 — 1,32  11/28/2015

8/8/2006 62,500 58,253 - 2.00 8/8/2016
6/6/2007 123,750 16,50000) 107,250 13.00 6/6/2017

Thomas J. Fallon .. .. 8/8/2006 100,000 100,00000 - 200 81812016
6/6/2007 206,250 27,5000 178,750 13.00 6/6/2017
David F. Welch ...... 8/8/2006 187,500 187,50009) 2.00 8/812016

6/6/2007 206,250 27,50004) 178,750 13.00 6/6r2017

() Vag" of the shares vested on August 26, 2005, thereafter the option vests with respect to 5,729
shares after each month of sarvice.

@ vagh of the shares vested on July 29, 2008, thereafter the option vests with respect to 7,813
shares after each month of service.

¥  Starting on April 24, 2007, the option vests with respect to 6,875 shares after each month of
sarvice.

) Vgb of the shares vested on June 19, 2007, thereafter the option vests with respect to 7,813
shares after each month of service.

) Starting on July 19, 2007, the option vests with respect to 3,438 shares after each month of
servica,

#  Vagth of the shares vested on June 27, 2004, thereafter the option vests with respect to 313 shares
after each month of service.

" vt of the shares vested on November 18, 2005, thereafter the option vests with respect to 365
shares after each month of service.

@ Yt of the shares vested on August 26, 2005, thereafter the opticn vasts with respect to 1,368
shares after each month of service.

®  Vas'h of the shares vested on July 29, 2006, thereafter the option vests with respect to 1,302
shares after each month of service.

10 Starting on April 24, 2007, the oplion vests with respect to 2,083 shares after each month of
service.

(1) Vaet of the shares vested on July 29, 2006, thereafter the option vests with respect to 2,083
shares after each month of service.

(122 Starting on April 24, 2007, the option vests with respect to 3,438 shares after each month of
service.

(13 vagh of the shares vested on July 29, 2006, the option vests with respact to 3,906 shares after
each month of service.

(4} Starting on April 24, 2007, the option vests with respect to 3,438 shares after each month of
service
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2007 Option Exercises

The following table presents information regarding stock options exercised by our named
executive officers during 2007. Value realized is calculated by subtracting the aggregate exercise price
of the options exercised from the aggregate market value of the shares of common stock acquired on
the date of exercise.

Optlion Awards

Number of
Sharos Value
Acquired Reallzed

on on
Exerclse Exercise
(%)

Name Grant Date {#}
DustonM. Willlams ..........c it i i i ian s 8/8/2006 125,000 255,000
Scott A.Chandler ....... ... i i e 5/16/2003 33,750 604,463

11/28/2005 2,003 36,915
8/8/2006 4,247 75,384
2/2/2005 13,122 248,793

11/28/2005 36,878 678,589
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Severance and Change in Control Arrangements

Acceleration

The named executive officers are entitled to the following oplion acceleration upon the occurrence
of a change of control and termination:

Each oplion granted to Mr. Singh, Mr. Williams and Mr. Falion will vest with respect to 50% of the
shares subject to their new hire option grant or stock award, along with 100% of the unvested shares of
each subsequent option or stock award. Mr. Willlams is also entitied to an additional two years vesting
of his initial option grant if he is terminated without Cause in connection with the appointment of a new
chief executive officer.

Each option granted to Mr. Chandler and Dr. Welch will vest with respect to 50% of the shares
subject to his new hire option grant or stock awards and 50% of the unvested shares of each
subsequent option or stock award upon a change in control.

A change in control ("Change of Control”) includes:

« a merger of Infinera after which our own stockholders own 50% or lass of the surviving
corporation or its parent company; or

+ a sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

A termination includes:

« If (i) within twelve (12) months following a Change of Control, (A) the Company {or any parent
or subsidiary of the Company) terminates Executive's employment without Cause, or
{B) Executive resigns his or her employment as a result of a Constructive Termination, and
(ii) Executive signs and does not revoke a standard release of claims with the Company in a
form acceptable to the Company, then Executive will receive severance from the Company.

« Executive's resignation as a result of, and within thirty (30) days following: (i} a reduction in
Executive's job, duties or responsibilities in a manner that is substantially inconsistent with the
position, duties or responsibilities held by Executive immediately before such reduction, or
(i} a reduction in Executive's base salary other than in connection with and consistent with a
general reduction of all employee base salaries.

Severance

Mr. Singh, Mr. Williams and Mr. Fallon will be paid upon a Change of Control and termination (a
double trigger), a lump sum equal to 12 months of base salary and will be provided with up to 12
months of COBRA. Mr. Williams is also entitled to an additional two years of vesting of his initial option
grant if he is terminated without Cause in connection with the appointment of a new chief executive
officer.

Mr. Chandler and Dr. Welch will be paid upon a Change of Control and termination, a lump sum
equat to six months of base salary and will be provided with up to six months of COBRA.

A condition to receipt of any Change of Control benefit is that the named executive officer signs a
standard release of claims against the Company.
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Estimated Payments and Benefits Upon Termination

The amount of compensation and benefits payable to each named executive officer in each
tormination and change in control situation has been estimated in the tables below. The value of the
option and common stock vesting acceleration was calculated based on the assumption that the
change in control and the executive's emptoyment termination occurred on December 29, 2007. The
closing price of our stock as of the last day prior to our yearty close, December 28, 2007, was $14.05,
which was used as the value of our stock in the calculations. The value of the vesting acceleration was
calculated by multiplying the number of accelerated option shares and common stock as of
December 29, 2007 by the spread between the closing price of our stock as of December 28, 2007 and
the exercise price for such unvested option shares and common stock.

Potential Payments in Connection With:
Non-Change In Control Change in Control
Termination
Termination  Without Cause or
Without Constructively
Termination Cause after Terminated After
Without Change of Change of
Name Type of Benefit Cause ($) CEO($) Contro! ($)
Jagdeep Singh ........ - Cash Severance - 230,000
- Vesting Acceleration( — 5,623,612
- Continued Coverage of
Employes Benefits — 13,397
- Accrued Vacation Pay 55,288 55,288
- Total Benefits 55,288 5,922,297
Duston M. Wiliams .... - Cash Severance - 250,000
- Vesting Acceleration(? — 2,259,375 2,454,281
- Continued Coverage of
Employee Benefits - 15,549
- Accrued Vacation Pay 16,408 16,408 16,408
- Total Benefits 16,408 2,275,783 2,736,238
Scott A. Chandler ..... - Cash Severance — 112,500
- Vesting Acceleration® — 493,027
- Continued Coverage of
Employee Benefits - 7,615
- Accrued Vacation Pay 50,850 50,860
- Tota! Benefits 50,860 664,002
Thomas J. Fallon . ... .. - Cash Severance — 250,000
- Vesting Accelerationt®) — 2,008,744
- Continued Coverage of
| Employee Benefits — 15,549
| - Accrued Vacation Pay — —_—
- Total Benefits — 2,274,293
DavidF.Welch ....... - Cash Severance — 115,000
- Vesting Acceleration® — 1,382,242
- Continued Coverage of
Employee Benefits — 7,775
- Accrued Vacation Pay 37,571 37,571
- Total Benefits 37,571 1,542,588

"  The vesting of 778,856 shares of common stock would accelerate if this officer were terminated
without Cause or Constructively Terminated in connection with a Change of Control on
December 29, 2007.
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The vesting of 185,625 shares of common stock would accelerats if this officer were terminated
without Cause or Constructively Terminated in connection with a Change of Control or

(2a) 187,500 shares of common stock would accelerate if he were terminated without Cause in
connection with the appointment of a new chief executive officer, in each instance as of
December 29, 2007.

The vesting of 88,943 shares of common stock would accelerate if this officer were terminated
without Cause or Constructively Terminated in connection with a Change of Control on
December 29, 2007.

The vesting of 317,657 shares of common stock would accelerate vest if this officer were
terminated without Cause or Constructively Terminated in connection with a Change of Control on
December 29, 2007.

The vesting of 192,684 shares of common stock would accelerate if this officer were terminated
without Cause or Constructively Terminated in connection with a Change of Control on
December 29, 2007.
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Compensatlon of Directors

During 2007, our directors did not receive any cash compensation for the first two fiscal quarters
they served as members of the Board of Directors or any commitiee of the Board of Directors.
Beginning with the first day of the first full fiscal quarter after the closing of our initial public offering on
June 12, 2007 and for 2007, each non-employee member of our Board of Directors received an annual
retainer of $20,000 and fees of $2,000 per meeting of the Board of Directors attended in person and
$1,000 per meeting attended telephonically. In addition, for such period in 2007, each non-employee
director serving on our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating & Governance
Committee was entitled to fees of $1,000 per meeting attended in person or telephonically, and the
chair of each such committee was entitled to additional fees of $1,000, $500 and $500, respectively,
per meeting altended in person or telephonically. Effective January 1, 2008, each non-employee
member of our Board of Directors received an annual retainer of $30,000 and fees of $2,000 per
meeting of the Board of Directors attended in person and $2,000 per meeting attended telephonically,
and our lead independent director received an annual retainer of $15,000. In addition, effective
January 2008, the chairman of the Audit Committee received an annual retainer of $10,000 and the
chairman of each of the Compensation Committee and Nominating and Govenance Committee
received an annual retainer of $5,000. Also, effective January 1, 2008 each chalirperson of the Audit
Committee, Compensation Committee, and the Nominating and Governance Committee is entitled to
fees of $1,000 per committee meeting atiended in person or telephonically. In addition, we have a
policy of reimbursing our directors for reasonable travel, lodging and other expenses incurred in
connection with their attendance at board or committee meetings.

On January 3, 2007, we granted Alexandre Balkanski a stock option to purchase 75,000 shares of
our common stock in connection with his service on the Board of Directors. Dr. Balkanski's option vests
at the rate of ¥a™ upon January 3, 2008 and Vas® per month thereafter. On February 7, 2007, we granted
Reed E. Hundt a stock option to purchase 75,000 shares of our common stock in connection with his
commencement of service on the Board of Directors. Mr. Hundt's option vests at the rate of Va™ upon the
one year anniversary date and Vas® per month thereafter. On June 6, 2007, we awarded additional stock
options in the amount of 12,500 shares to each non-employee member of the Board of Directors, with the
exception of Reed €. Hundt, and these options vest monthly over a period of 4 years.

Future non-employee directors will be entitled to an initial stock option award to purchase
50,000 shares of our common stock upon such director's election to the Board of Directors. The option
shall vest over a four year period with 25% vesting after the first twelve months of service and the
remainder vesting ratably each month thereafter over the next three years. Each year, each
non-employee direclor typically will receive an annual equity award upon the date of the annual
meeling of stockholders. This year, each continuing non-employee member of the Board of Directors
will receive a stack option grant in the amount of 12,500 shares on the date of the Annual Meeting.
These shares will vest monthly over a one year period, subject to continued service as a director
through the relevant vesting dates. All such options will be granted at the closing market price on the
date of the award.

Annual grants for a member of the Board of Directars are not made in the same year as the initial
grants for such member of the Board of Directors.

39

X0 Y N .

W




The foliowing table sets forth all of the compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to our

non-employee directors in fiscal year 2007,

COm:oa::atIon Option
Name ($n Awards (3} Total ($)
AlexandreBalkanski ...............ccviiiiiaiinn.. 43,000 56,4129 99,412
Kenneth A. Goldman ............coiiiiiiiiiarnnnis 36,000 29,9560 65,956
ReedHundt ..................iiiiiiiiiiinnnnn, i 36,000 67,361 103,361
HughMarin ... ... .. it iiiiiaianinenn, 37,000 34 4649 71,464
DanMaydan ............cooiiiiiiiiiiienniannenna. 32,000 23,6870 55,687
CarlRedfiglg . ...t e it cineneenns 40,000 37.443® 77,443
Pradeep Sindhu ... ..ciriiiii i c e e e, 24,000 26,416 50,416

)]
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The amounts in this column represent cash compensation paid to the director for services during
2007,

The amounts in this column represent the dollar amount recognized for financial statement
reporting purposes in 2007, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), and thus may include
amounts from options granted in years prior to 2007.

On January 3, 2007, Dr. Balkanski was granted an option to purchase 75,000 shares of our
common stock, The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with

FAS 123(R), was $159,292. In addition, Dr. Balkanski was granted an option to purchase 12,500
shares of our common stock on June 6, 2007 with a grant date fair value, computed in accordance
with FAS 123(R), of $118,126. As of December 29, 2007, Dr. Balkanski held outstanding options
to purchase an aggregate of 91,879 shares of our common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on

February 19, 2008, for a discussion of all assumptions made by the Company in determining the
grant date fair value of its equity awards.

On June 6, 2007, Mr. Goldman was granted an option to purchasa 12,500 shares of our common
stock. The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was
$118,126. As of December 29, 2007, Mr. Goldman held outstanding options to purchase an
aggregate of 12,500 shares of our common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008, for
a discussion of ali assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of
its equity awards. :
On February 7, 2007, Mr. Hundt was granted an option to purchase 75,000 shares of our common
stock. The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was
$302,812. As of December 29, 2007, Mr. Hundt held outstanding options to purchase an
aggregate of 25,000 shares of our common stock, since he early exercised 50,000 of his initial
75,000 option grant. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements contained in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008, for a discussion of all assumptions
made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of its equity awards.

On June 6, 2007, Mr. Martin was grantad an option to purchase 12,500 shares of our common
stock. The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was
$118,126. As of December 29, 2007, Mr. Martin held outstanding oplions to purchase an
aggregate of 56,250 shares of our common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008, for
a discussion of all assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of
its equity awards.

On June 6, 2007, Mr. Maydan was granted an option to purchase 12,500 shares of our common
stock. The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was
$118,126. As of December 29, 2007, Mr. Maydan held outstanding options to purchase an
aggregate of 12,500 shares of our common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated

40




(8}

(]

financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008, for
a discussion of all assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of
its equity awards.

On June 6, 2007, Mr. Redfield was granted an option to purchase 12,500 shares of our common
stock. The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was
$118,126. As of December 29, 2007, Mr. Redfield held outstanding options to purchase an
aggregate of 12,500 shares of cur common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008, for
a discussion of all assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of
its equity awards.

On June 6, 2007, Dr. Sindhu was granted an option to purchase 12,500 shares of our common
stock. The grant date fair value of such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was
$118,126. As of December 29, 2007, Dr. Sindhu he!d outstanding options to purchase an
aggregate of 12,500 shares of our common stock. Ses Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated .
financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2008, for e 5
a discussion of all assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of ]

its equity awards.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We have adopted a formal policy that our exacutive officers, directors, and principal stockholders,
including thelr immediate family members and affiliates, are not permitted to enter into a related party
transaction with us without the prior consent of our Audit Committee, or other independent members of
our Board of Directors in the case it is inappropriate for our Audit Commitiee to review such transaction
due to a conflict of interest. Any request for us to enter into a transaction with an executive officer,
director, principal stockholder, or any of such persons' immediate family members or affiliates, in which
the amount involved exceeds $120,000 must first be presanted to our audit committee for review,
consideration and approval. All of our directors, executive officers and employees are required to
report to our audit committee any such related party transaction. In approving or rejecting the proposed
agreement, our audit committee shall consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and
deemed relevant to the audit committee, including, but not limited to the risks, costs and benefits to us,
the terms of the transaction, the avaitability of other sources for comparable services or products, and,
if applicable, the impact on a director's independence. Our audit committee shall approve only those
agreemenits that, in light of known circumstances, are in, or are not inconsistent with, our best
interests, as our audit committee determines in the good faith exercise of its discretion. All of the
transactions described above were entered into prior to the adoption of this policy.

Woa have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive
officers. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify each director and executive
officer to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, including indemnification of expenses such as
attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by the director or executive officer in
any action or proceeding, including any action or proceeding by or in right of us, arising out of the
person's services as a director or executive officer.

DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO STOCKHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

A number of brokers with account holders who are Infinera Corporation stockholders will be
“householding” our proxy materials. A single Proxy Statement will be delivered to multiple stockholders
sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected stockholders.
Once you have received notice from your broker that they will be *householding” communications to
your address, “householding” will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your
consent. If, at any time, you no longer wish to participate in “householding” and would prefer to recsive
a separate Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K, please notify your broker and direct
your written request to Infinera Corporation, 169 Java Drive, Sunnyvale, CA 84089, Attn: Secrelary, or
call (408) 572-5200. Stockholders who currently receive muliple copies of the Proxy Statement at their
address and would like to request “householding™ of their communications should contact their broker.

OTHER MATTERS

The Board of Directors knows of no other matters that will be presented for consideration at the
Annual Meeting. If any other matters are property brought before the meeting, itis the intention of the
persons named in the accompanying proxy to vote on such matters in accordance with their best
judgment.

By Order of the Board of Directors

/sl MicHAEL Q. McCaARTHY, Il|

Michael O. McCarthy, Il
Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

March 21, 2008
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Appendix A

CHARTER OF THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
INFINERA CORPORATION

PURPOSE:

The purpose of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Infinera Corporation (the
“Company”) shall be to:

» Oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Company and audits of the
financial statements of the Company;

» Assist the Board in oversight and monitoring of (i) the integrity of the Company's financial
statements, (ii) the Company's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, {iii} the
independent auditor's qualifications, independence and performance, and {iv) the Company’s
internal accounting and financial controls;

+ Prepare the report that the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC”}
require to be included in the Company’s annual Proxy Statement;

+ Provide the Company's Board with the results of its monitoring and recommendations derived
therefrom; and

* Provide to the Board such additional information and matenals as it may deem necessary to
make the Board aware of significant financial matters that require the atiention of the Board.

In addition, the Audit Committee will undertake those specific duties and responsibilities listed
below and such other duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

MEMBERSHIP:

The Audit Committee members will be appointed by, and will serve at the discretion of, the Board
of Directors. The Audil Committes will consist of at least three members of the Board of Directors.
Members of the Audit Committee must meet the following criteria (as well as any criteria required by
the SEC):

+ Each member will be an independent director, as defined in (i) NASDAQ Rule 4200 and
(i) the rules of the SEC;

» Each member will be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, in
accordance with the NASDAQ National Market Audit Committee requiremsnts; and

+ At least one member will have past employmant experience in finance or accounting, requisite
professional certification in accounting, or other comparable experience or background,
including a current or past position as a principal financial officer or other senior officer with
financial oversight responsibilities.

RESPONSIBILITIES:
The responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall include:-

» Reviewing on a continuing basis the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal controls,
including meeting periodically with the Company’s management and the independent
registered public accounting firm to review the adequacy of such controls and to review before
refeass the disclosure regarding such system of internal controls required under SEC rules to
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be contained in the Company's pericdic filings and the attestations or reports by the
independent registered public accounting firm relating to such disclosure;

Appointing, compensating and overseeing the work of the independent registered public
accounting firm {including resolving disagreements between management and the
independent registered public accounting firm regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of
preparing or issuing an audit report or related work;

Pre-approving audit and non-audit services provided to the Company by the independent
registered public accounting firm {(or subsequently approving non-audit services in those
circumstances where a subsaquent approval is necessary and permissible); in this regard, the
Audit Committee shall have the sole authority to approve the hiring and firing of the
independent registered public accounting firm, all audit engagement fees and terms and all
non-audit engagements, as rnay be permissible, with the independent registered public
accounting firm,

Reviewing and providing guidance with respect to the external audit and the Company's
relationship with its independent registered public accounting firm by (i) reviewing the
independent registered public accounting firm's proposed audit scope, approach and
independence; (i) obtaining on a periodic basis a statement from the independent registered
public accounting firm regarding relationships and services with the Company which may
impact independence and presenting this statement to the Board of Directors, and to the
extent there are relationships, monitoring and investigating them; (iii) reviewing the
independent registered public accounting firm’s peer review conducted every three years and
their annual Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) report; (iv) discussing
with the Company’s Independent registered public accounting fim the financial statements
and audit findings, including any significant adjustments, management judgments and
acecounting estimates, significant new accounting policies and disagreements with
management and any other matters described in SAS No. 61, as may be modified or
supplemented; (v) reviewing reports submitted to the audit committee by the independent
registered public accounting firm in accordance with the applicable SEC requirements; and
(vi) directing the Company's independent registered public accounting firm to take such other
actions as may be necessary to comply with applicable law and listing requirements;

Reviewing and discussing with management and the independent registered public
accounting firm the annual audited financial statements and quarterly unaudited financial
statements, including the Company's disclosures under “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” prior to filing the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reporis on Form 10-Q, respectively, with the
SEC,

Reviewing before release the unaudited quarterly operating results in the Company's
quarterly and annual eamings releases, as well as any other financial press releases;

Overseeing compliance with the requirements of the SEC for disclosure of auditor’s services
and audit committee member qualifications and activities;

Reviewing, approving and monitoring the Company’s code of ethics for its senior financial
officers, which is incorporated in the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Reviewing and discussing, in conjunction with legal counsel, such other legal matters as may
be appropriate in connection with the Audit Committee’s functions hereunder;

Reviewing the Company's compliance with Company pians and policies as the same may be
implemented from time to time;

If necessary, instituting special investigations with full access to all books, records, facilities
and personnel of the Company,; '
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» As appropriate, obtaining advice and assistance from outside legal, accounting or other
advisors;

+ Reviewing and, if appropriate, approving in advance any proposed transactions involving
potential conflicts of interest, including, specifically, reviewing and approving all proposed
related party transactions;

» Reviewing its own charter, structure, processes and membership requirements;

« Providing a report in the Company’s Proxy Statement in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the SEC; and

» Establishing procedures for receiving, retaining and treating complaints received by the
Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and
procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing matters.

MEETINGS:

The Audit Committee will meet at least four times each year. The Audit Committee may establish
its own schedule, which it will provide to the Board of Directors in advance.

The Audit Committee will meet separately with the Chief Executive Officer and separately with the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company at such times as are appropriate to review the financial affairs
of the Company. The Audit Committee will meet separately with the independent registered public
accounting firm of the Company, at such times as it deems appropriate, but not less than quarterly, to
fulfil} the responsibilities of the Audit Committee under this charter.

MINUTES:

The Audit Committee will maintain written minutes of its meetings, which minutes wil be filed with
the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors.

REPORTS:

In addition to preparing the report in the Company's Proxy Statement in accordance with the rules
and regulations of the SEC, the Audit Committee will summarize its examinations and
recommendations to the Board of Directors as may be appropriate, consistent with the Committee’s
charter.

COMPENSATION:

Members of the Audit Committee shall receive such fees, if any, for their service as Audit
Committee members as may be determined by the Board of Directors in its sele discretion. Such fees
may include retainers or per meeting fees. Fees may be paid in such form of consideration as is
determined by the Board of Directors. Members of the Audit Committee may not receive any
compensation from the Company except the fees that they receive for service as a member of the
Board of Directors or any committee thereof.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY:

The Audit Committee may delegate to one or more designated members of the Audit Committee
the authority to pre-approve audit and parmissible non-audit services, provided such pre-approval
decision is presented to the full Audit Committee at its scheduled meetings.
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Partl

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Infinera Corporation ("we" or “Infinera") has developed a solution that we believe will changs the
economics, operating simplicity, fiexibility, reliability and scalability of optical communications networks.
At the core of our Digital Optical Network architecture is what we believe to be the world’s only
commercially-deployed, large-scale photonic integrated circuit, or PIC, Qur PICs transmil and recelve
100 Gbps of optical capacity and incorporate the functionality of over 60 discrete optical components
into a pair of indium phosphide chips approximately the size of a child’s fingernail. We have used our
PIC technology to design a new digital optical communications system called the DTN System. The
DTN System is designed to enable cost-efficient optical to electrical to optical conversion of
communications signals. The DTN System is architected to improve significantly communications
service providers’ economics and service offerings as compared to traditional systems. Our DTN
System is designed to provide faster service delivery and network management flexibility. Our carrier-
class DTN System runs our Infinera 1Q Network Operating System and is integrated with our Infinera
Management Suite software, which together enhance and simplify network monitoring, management
and control.

Our goal is to establish our Digital Optical Network as a leading architecture for optical
communications networks. We beligve that photonic Integrated circuits will significantly change optical
communications networks in a fashion similar to the integrated circuit’s impact on electronics beginning
in the 1950’s. We also believe that our DTN System can provide benefits to our customers in the $6.4
billion wavetength division multiplexing segment of the global optical communications equipment
market, which is estimated by Ovum-RHK, a third-party industry analyst, to be nearly $16 billion in
2008. As of December 29, 2007, we have sold our DTN System for deployment in the optical networks
of 41 customers worldwide, including Internet2, Interoute, Level 3 Communications and Qwest
Communications. We do not have long-term purchase commitments with our customers. To date, a
few of our customers have accounted for a significant portion of our revenue. In 2007 and 2006, Leve!
3 and Broadwing Communications, which Level 3 acquired in January 2007, together accounted for
approximately 47% and 75% of our revenue, respectively.

Wae believe that rapid growth of communications traffic and proliferation of next-generation
bandwidth-intensive services such as video will expand the need and increase demand for optical
network capacity, Our DTN System is designed to serve as the key element for long-haul and metro
optical transport networks of U.S. and intemnational communications service providers. Customer
deployments of our DTN System have ranged from two to hundreds of network access points,

Our DTN System is designed to provide several advantages over traditional systems, including:
» Operating simplicity and cost savings

« Ease of deployment and scalability. Our DTN System provides oplical capacity in 100
Gbps increments (10 channels at 10 Gbps), enabling our customers to more easily scale
their opticat networks with the initial installation of the DTN System and to add capacity to
existing DTN Systems in less time and with fewer service calls;

« Management and personnel. Our DTN System offers buili-in software intelligence to
route services across complex optical communications networks and is designed to
simplify our customers' network planning, enginesring and operations; and

+ Efficiency and reliability. Given the high level of photonic integration and digital
processing, our DTN System is designed to consume less power, enable simplified
testing and improve system reliability;
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+ Enhanced revenua generation

« Expand services reach. Qur DTN System lowers the cost of optical to electrical to optical
conversion, which enables our customers to access markets cost-effectively that had
previously not been served duse to cost constraints;

- Optimal use of network capacity. Our DTN System enables communications service
providers to combine streams of network traffic from various points throughout the
network onto a single wavelength, thereby optimizing existing capacity and increasing
revenue opportunities; and

+ Accelsrate sarvice provisioning. Qur DTN System's ability to deploy optical capacity in
100 Gbps increments and to process and manage data at each DTN System location
remotely enables communications service providers to add customers and provision new
services more rapidly than traditional systems; and

» Capital cost savings. Our DTN System integrates the functionality of over 60 discrete
optical components inte a single PIC pair, reducing capital expenditures and the physical
space required for a given amount of optical network capacity.

We began commercial shipment of our DTN System in November 2004. In the third quarter of
2005 we believe we achieved, and have since maintained through the third quarter of 2007, the largest
market share of 10 Gbps long-hau! ports shipped worldwide. We believe this rapid customer
acceptance is due to the benefits that our PIC-based digital optical communications system offers over
traditional systems.

“‘Infinera,” “Infinera DTN,” “IQ,” iPIC," “Infinera Digital Optical Network,” "Bandwidth Virtualization™
and other trademarks or service marks of Infinera Corporation appearing in this report are the property
of Infinera Corporation, This report contains additional trade names, frademarks and service marks of
other companies. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks or
service marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other
companies.

Infinera was founded in December 2000, originally operated under the name “Zepton Networks,”
and is headquartered in Sunnyvale, California. We are incorporated in the State of Delaware. Qur
principal executive offices are located at 169 Java Drive, Sunnyvale, CA 94088. Our telephone number
is {408) 572-5200.

industry Background

Optical communications equipment carries digital information as analog light waves over fiber
optic networks. Fiber optic networks provide significantly greater data transport capacity than
traditional electrical over copper transport technology. The advent of wavelength division
multiplexing systems has enabled the transmission of larger amounts of data by using multiple
wavelengths over a single optical fiber. Service providers often use wavelength division multiplexing
systems to carry communications trafiic between cities, referred to as long-haul networks, and within
large metropolitan areas, referred to as metro networks. Most fiber optic networks carry all types of
communications traffic, from conventional long-distance telephone calls to e-mails and web sessions
to high-definition video streams. As traffic grows, service providers add capacity to existing networks
or purchase and deploy additional systems to keep pace with bandwidth demands and service
expansion. Fiber optic networks are expensive and complex, and service providers have traditionally
experienced significant challenges in generating new revenue while reducing operating and
capital costs.




Increased Demand for Network Capacity

We intend to address a larger portion of the optical communications equipment market opportunity
with enhancements to our existing DTN System and with new product releases in the future.

Drivers of Increases in Demand for Network Capacity

We believe that a number of trends in the communications industry are driving growth in demand
for network capacity and ultimately will increase demand for optical communications systems, including
our DTN System. These trends include:

Growth of Intemet usage and internet protocol traffic. Intemet protocol network traffic
continues to grow significantly as bandwidth consumed per Intemet user and the total number
of Intemet users increases;

Increasing broadband penetration and high capacity services. Communications service
providers are offering broadband intemet access to an increasing number of subscribers to
support voice, video and high speed data offerings. In addition, adoption of new consumer
applications such as video and music downloads and business applications such as
videoconferencing necessitates an increase in network capacity to accommodate high-quality
delivery of these bandwidth-intensive services; and

Availability of more bandwidth capacity. Competition, particularly in the United States, among
cable and communications service providers in providing bundled services such as the “Triple
Play” (voice, video and data) has encouraged greater consumption of bandwidth,

Challenges Faced by Communications Service Providers
Service providers face significant challenges in meeting increasing bandwidth demands, including:

Price competition pressuring network costs. Competition between communications service
providers places pressure on service pricing and thus network costs. The optical communications
network is a significant source of overall network cost, and thus service providers are
aggressively seeking ways to reduce their optical network operating and capital costs;

Operational complexity. Optical communications network design, planning and engineering
involves considerable complexity. This complexity is costly and may slow network expansion
and service delivery which, in some cases, resulls in lost revenus;

Limited service reach. Many network operators have optical facilities that pass through small -
to mid-sized cities but determine that it is cost-prohibitive to deploy expensive optical systems
that would allow them to offer services to potential customers in these locations;

Slow service provisioning. Optical communications networks often require fixed allocation of
bandwidth between customer sites. Communications service providers often must add
capacity to their networks to accommodate new subscribers and services. Adding capacity
generally involves complex and costly re-enginsering of the existing network and a lengthy
time period to implement, test and prepare the network to provide service;

Lack of protection and management features. Most traditional long-hau! optical
communications systems do not offer protection capabilities to restore service in the event of
aquipment or fiber failure. As a result, communications service providers must purchase,
deploy, and manage additional equipment to support protected services, which further
increases cost and network complexity; and

Exposure to equipment failures. Traditional optical communications systems and sub-syslems
contain dozens of discrete interconnected optical components. Most failures occur at these
connections resulting in reduced system reliability and potential loss of service.
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Limitations of Traditional Optical Approaches
Optical Components and Sub-systems

Optical component technology today shares many characteristics with electronic component
techniology in the 1950's. At that time, all electronic devices were comprised of discrete components,
each requiring a separate package to perform a given function. As in traditional systems today,
individual components were {argely manually-wired to their packages, resulting in higher cost and
lower reliability. Due to the numerous discrete connected parts, electronic systems were physically
large, consumed significant amounts of power and were prone to failure. These problems were
significantly reduced with the advent of the integrated circuit, which led to the proliferation of high-
performance, mass-market, low-cost and reliable semiconductor chips suitable for a wide rangs of
computing applications.

Several companies have developed forms of oplical sub-system integration, which consist of
co-packaging discrete components within a common module. Optical subsystems provide modest
space and package savings and some cost reductions in final production and testing. However, we
believe that the total cost savings associated with these devices is limited because each must undergo
its own manufacturing, separation, testing and preduction process steps before final integration within
a subsystem package. [n addition, we believe that these optical subsystems approaches provide
minimal improvement in quality or reliability compared to discrete optical components.

Optical Communications Systems

Optical components and sub-systems are the key building blocks of traditional systems.
Traditional systems vendors typically rely on a limited number of component and sub-system suppliers,
resulting in limited product differentiation. In addition, the ability of traditional systems vendors to
benefit from photonic integration is constrained by the development efforts of their optical component
and sub-system suppliers.

Optical communications systems typically fransport communications signals between cities as
wavelengths and switch or add/drop those signals using digital electronics at network access points
where services are provided. Most optical communications networks utilize wavelength division
multiplexing technology that transmits multiple signals, each as separate colors of light, or
wavelengths, on a single fiber in a communications service provider's network. The principal benefit of
wavelength division multiplexing syslems is that they enable the transmission of large amounts of data
on multiple wavelengths over a single optical fiber. In optical communications networks,
communications service providers cannot access or manage these wavelengths of light, or analog
signals, and must convert the wavelengths of light to electrical or digital signals. Once this traffic has
been converled into the digital domain, it can be processed by the communications service provider.
This processing can include adding/dropping, monitoring or regenerating the traffic. After the digital
signal is processed, it is converted back to wavelengths of light so that it can be transported to the next
network destination. The process of converting the optical signal to an electrical signal for processing
and then converting it back to an optical signal to enable digital processing is known as optical to
electrical to optical conversion. Optical to electrical to oplical conversion enables access to data that
allows communications service providers to differentiate their networks and to generate revenue
through value-added services. Optical to electrical to optical conversion utilizing traditional systems can
be expensive,

With some traditional systems, communications service providers must choose at multiple network
access points whether to utilize a wavelength division multiplexing system that enables high-
performance digital management and processing but with high optical to electrical to optical conversion
costs, or to use an all-optical architecture that reduces optical to electrical to opticat conversion costs
but also may limit service reach and add cost.




Traditional Wavelength Division Multiplexing Systems
Traditional wavelength division multiplexing systems have several disadvantages, including:
+ significant capital cost, space and power requirements;

- requirement of discrete components to execute optical to electrical to optical conversicns for
each wavelangth, which adds significant cost and reduces reliability;

+ expansion of the network is often manually intensive as communications service providers
may need to redesign the network, re-allocate available wavelengths or deploy additional
hardware at multiple locations each time a new circuit is added;

- limited flexibility to alter traffic flows because dedicated network capacity must be purchased
and deployed in advance; and

- high costs associated with implementing advanced features, such as network-wide
provisioning or optical layer protection, because additional equipment may be required.

All-Optical Communications Systems

Several optical communications systems vendors have attempted to reduce the cost of
transporting data on oplical networks by limiting the need for optical to electrical to optical conversions.
The resulting architecture, known as the all-optical network, utilizes a new generation of wavelength
division multiplexing systems to manage and switch traffic as analog light waves. Reconfigurable
optical add/drop multiplexers and wavelength selectable switches are examples of all-optical systems.
However, we believe these all-optical approaches possess inherent weaknasses, including:

- limited ability to digitally process the data, which prevents these systems from efficiently
adding and dropping traffic at intermediate network access points; this can result in a reduced
network footprint and decreased revenue opportunities for communications service providers,
particularly in smaller regions and markets;

+ more costly and time-consuming network planning and service provisioning, because adding
new services requires complex engineering calculations involving power levels, dispersion
compensation and other optica! non-linear effects; ‘

» higher installation costs, because this process may require complicated components to
minimize signal degradation over long distances; all-optical systems also tack the ability to
effectively view network performance statistics and reconfigure traffic pattemns; and

» overall network capacity can be limited by wavelength blocking, which is the inability to use
wavelengths of light because they are already in use in another part of the network.

Wa believe significant demand exists for an optical communications system that is simple and
easy to operate and that reduces operating and capital costs for communications service providers.

The Infinera Solution

Our PIC technology facilitates a network architecture that allows communications service
providers to realize the benefits of both wavelength division multiplexing and digital processing more
fully and cost-effectively. We believe that our DTN System and our Digital Optical Network architecture
enable the improvement of the economics, operating simplicity, flexibility, reliability and scatability of
our customers’ optical networks.

Our PICs enable our DTN System to provide lower-cost optical to electrical to optical conversions
at every network access point to provide communications service providers with the ability to digitally
process the information being transported across their optical networks. Our DTN System’s software
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enables our customers to leverage this digital information to simplify and speed the delivery of
differentiated services and to optimize the utilization of their opfical networks.

Our DTN System is designed to enable the Digital Optical Network architecture for long-haul and
metro optical transport systems of communications service providers and to offer the following key
technical benefits:

«  Photonic integration. Qur DTN System integrates the functionality of over 60 discrete optical
components within a single PIC pair, reducing capital expenditure and physica! space
requirements for a given amount of optical network capacity. Our PIC technology also enables
our DTN System to allow service providers to add 10 wavelengths of 10 Gbps capacity
concurrently, as compared to one wavelength in traditional systems;

« Digital processing. Our DTN System processes traffic digitally, which ensures significantly
greater signal quality and network management flexibitity than analog, or all optical, systems.
With our DTN System, communications traffic can be cost-efiectively added/dropped,
monitored and regenerated through digital processing of data; and

«  High value-add sofiware content. Our DTN System's software utitizes digital data to enable
network provisioning, management, testing and control that provides intelligence not available
in traditional optical communications systems.

These distinctive technical features provide significant advantages to our custemers, including:
» Operating simplicity and cost savings

+ Ease of deployment and scalability. Our DTN System deploys optical capacity in 100 Gbps
increments, which enables our customers to rapidly deploy the initial DTN System and to
add capacity to existing DTN Systems in less time and with tewer service calls than with
traditional systems, Infinera customers have publicly remarked on the speed with which
they are able to roll out new network capacity thanks to Infinera’s unique architecture;

- Differantiated services via Bandwidth Virtualization. Our DTN System uses digital
switching electronics to virtualize its optical wavelengths into digital bandwidth. This
bandwidth can be allocated, using intelligent software, to different services without regard
to the underlying optical parameters. The separation of services from undertying
wavelengths, which we call Bandwidth Virtualization, is key to Infinsra’s value
proposition. It allows customers to offer a variety of differentiated services over different
distances without the neead to re-engineer the underlying wavelengths. We call this
capability bandwidth virtualization;

+ Management and personnel. Our DTN System offers built-in software intelligence to
route and signal services across complex optical communications networks. In addition,
our DTN System’s digita! protection and manageability enables cariers to offer a broad
range of service qualiies without requiring a separate synchronous optical network, or its
international equivalent, synchronous digital hierarchy, or optical switching layer for
protection and management. These features are designed o provide our customers with
flexible management and control of their networks while significantly reducing the amount
of information technology personnel and hours dedicated to planning, engineering and
operating their optical communications networks; and

« Efficiency and reliability. Given its high level photonic integration and digital processing,
our DTN System occupies a fraction of the physical space, generally consumes less
power than traditional systems for a given amount of capacity, enables simplified testing
and is designed to improve system reliability. We are able to deliver both increased
simplicity and reliability to our customers through our differentiated PIC technology and
unique approach to optical networking architecture. By enabling frequent optical to
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electrical to optical conversions across their optical networks, we allow our customers to
manipulate traffic in the digital domain, which we believe is simpler than architecting
traffic and provisioning services wilh all-optical systems. Likewise, our PICs efficiently
perform opical to electrical to optical conversions without a need for dozens of discrete
components, which in turn require hundreds of failure-prone individual connections. As
such, we believe our customers' service quality can be improved significantly due to our
DTN System’s simplified product design.

Enhanced revenue gensration

« Expand services reach. Our DTN System significanily lowers optical to electrical to
optical conversion cost, which enables our customers to access markets cost-effectively
that had previously not been served due to cost constraints. This provides our customers
with new revenue opportunities and can reduce or eliminate the cost paid to other service
providers for use of their networks to complete a services connection. Our DTN System
also supports a variety of communications Interfaces, including separate synchronous
optical network/synchronous digital hierarchy, Gigabit and 10 Gigabit Ethernet;

+  Optimal use of network capacity. Our DTN System enables communications service
providers to combine streams of network traffic from various points throughout the
network onto a single wavelength, thereby optimizing existing capacity and increasing
revenue opportunities. In contrast, traditional systems often require that communications
service providers reserve an entire wavelength for a single stream of traffic, which may
consume only a fraction of the available capacity, and

« Accelerate service provisioning. Qur DTN System’s ability to deploy optical capacity in
100 Gbps increments and to process and manage data at each DTN System location
remotely enables communications service providers to add customers and provision new
services more rapidly than traditional optical communications systems; and

Capital cost savings. Our DTN System can require less capital expenditure for a given
amount of optical network capacity. We believe that photonic integration enables a faster rate
of innovation than is possible using conventional discrete optical components and will result in
a continued decline in costs and complexity.

The Infinera Strategy

Our goal is to be a preeminent provider of optical systems to communications service providers.
Key aspects of cur strategy are:

Increase our customer footprint. During 2007, we diversified our customer base in terms of
markets served, expanding beyond our original core market of bandwidth wholesalers into the
fast-growing cable MSO and internet content provider markets. We now count four of the top
five North American MSOs as customers, as well as some of the top internet content
providers, in addition to many of the North American national footprint bandwidth wholesalers.
We intend to increase penetration of our installed base of customers while also targeting new
U.S. and international communications service providers, including U.S. regional bell
operating companies, international postal, telephone and telegraph companies, and other
operators of fiber optic networks around the world.

Penetrate adjacent markets. We believe that our Digital Optical Networking architecture can
benefit government, research and educational institutions, multiple system operators, or
MSOs, and internet content provider markets in the same way It does long-haul or wholesale
carriers and independent operator markets. We intend to increase our addressable markets
by adding functionality to our DTN System by developing new products and by creating the
service and support infrastructure needed to address these markets;
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+ Maintain and extend our technology lead. We intend to incorporate the functionality of
additional discrete components into our PICs and to pursue further functional integration in
our DTN System in order to enhance the performance, scalability and economics of our DTN
System;

« Deliver systems o scale and deliver additional functionality. Our DTN System is, to our
knowledge, the only commercially-available system which provides 100 Gbps of transport
capacity on a single line card. We recognize the need to continually increase our scalability
and functionality to maintain product leadership in optical transport networks as demonstrated
by expanding our system transport capacity from 400 Gbps to 800 Gbps; and

= Continus investment in PIC manufacturing activities. We believe that our manufacturing
capabilities serve as a competitive advantage and intend te continue to invest in the
manufacturing capabilities needed to produce new generations of our PICs.

Products
Infinera DTN Systern

Our DTN System utilizes our PIC technology to enable digital processing and management of data
with the capability to both generate wavelength division multiplexing wavelengths and to add, drop,
switch, manage, protect and restore network traffic digitally. Qur DTN System is comprised of two
elements, the DTN digital node, which houses our PIC and enables optical to electrical to optical
conversion, and an optical line amplifier, or OLA, which extends the optical reach between DTNs. The
DTN can automate the connection of circuits and provisioning of new services without costly and
cumbersome manual intervention,

Our DTN Systemn is modular in design to enable our customers with the ability to add capacity in a
cost-efficient manner. The initial deployment of our DTN System at a customer involves the installation
of common equipment, which includes a chassis, optical tine amplifiers and related equipment.
Customers can purchase additional common equipment to expand the reach of the DTN System and
can increase the capacity of existing common equipment for the DTN System by purchasing our Digital
Line Modules, or DLMs, Tributary Adapter Modules, or TAMs and Tributary Optical Modules, or TOMs.
Each DTN System is composed of one or two half rack chassis, each of which supports up to 4 DLM
cards. We have either a 23 inch or 19 inch chassis option for the DTN System. Each DLM card
typically supports up to 5 TAMs. The 40 Gbps TAM takes up 2 slots of the DLM Card. Each DLM
contains a pair of PICs that provide 100 Gbps of transport capacity; thus, a single DTN System
supports up to 800 Gbps (8 DLMs x 100 Gbps each) of transmit/receive capacity per fiber pair. The
individual TAMs serve as client-side interface modules, which support line rates from 155 Mbps to 40
Gbps. Given both the density and the modular architecture of each DTN, our DTN System enables
significant flexibility and scalability for communications service providers.

Our DTN System is carrier-class, which means that it complies with applicable Telcordia and
equivalent major intemational standards for central office-based network elements. Cur DTN System
supports a broad range of optical service interfaces including Ethernet (Gigabit Ethemet and 10 GbE)
and separate synchronous optical ngtwork/synchronous digital hierarchy (OC-3/STM-1, or 155 Mbps,
to OC-768/STM-256, or 40 Gbps).

Infinera Optical Line Amplifier

Our OLA is a bidirectional ampilifier that extends the optical reach betwean DTNs.
Communications service providers purchase our OLAs for network access points where customer
access to data is not required. Our OLA is a small form-factor device that can be managed seamlessly
within the DTN System.




Infinera IQ Network Operating System and Management Suite

Our DTN Syslem utilizes proprietary embedded software, the IQ Network Operating System, to
enable our customers to simplify and speed up the tasks they perform to deliver, differentiate, and
manage services and to optimize the utilization of their networks. The IQ Network Operating System
software utilizes the DTN System's digital switching and IP-based technologies, including generalized
multiprotocal label switching for end-to-end provisioning, protection and restoration services, and a
host of performance monitoring and software-definable testing capabilities.

In addition to our 1Q Network Operating System software, we offer a broad set of standards-based
network and element management tools and Operations Support System integration interfaces. Our
management suite software includes our Digital Network Administrator, a scalable, robust, feature-rich
Element Management System, and our Graphical Node Manager, an easy-to-use web-based
management interface.

Technology
Digital Optical Network Architecture

Our founders have experience in the optical communications market and understood the inherent
limitations of both traditional wavelength division multiplexing systems and all-optical networking
systems and sought to develop a product that offered the key benefits of both approaches. They
founded Infinera with a vision to increase the functionality and improve the economics of optical
transport systems. To that end, our core engineering team is comprised of optical component and
systems experts who have collaborated to create an innovative optical communications architecture
that is designed to combine enhanced performance, system-wide simplicity and efficiency, with the
ability to be manufactured in a cost-efficient manner. We have focused our efforts, time and capital on
developing our Digital Optical Network architecture and DTN System based on our PIC technology.

Our Digital Opticat Network architecture is based on our belief that network operators can expand
service reach, expedite service provisioning, ensure reliability and more effactively manage, monitor
and scale their networks by processing data digitally rather than in analog format. We further believe
that the key to delivering this capability in a cost-effective manner is integrating the functionality of
muitiple discrete devices into a single set of semiconductor chips. This integration allows us to
eliminate separate optical packages for each discrete optical device, which we believe is the largest
cost challenge facing traditional systems. This integration has further enabled us to provide additional
functionality and intelligence to our optical communications systems.

infinera PIC

Woe believe that our proprietary PICs are a key source of our vaiue proposition and competitive
advantage. We manufacture and package our PICs at our own facilities for use exclusively with our DTN
System. We began the simultaneous design and manufacture of our PICs shorlly after we were founded
in December 2000. We employ @ multi-discipinary approach towards the development and manufacturing
of our PICs, with significant interaction between our manufacturing, system engineering and advanced
technology groups. As a leader in the development of photonic integration, we have protected the
intellectual property associated with our PIC manufacturing through a combination of trade secrets,
patents and contractual protections. We believe that as a result of the combination of the multiple
disciplines that were required to develop our PIC, together with the intellactual property protections that
we have established, it will be difficult for others to duplicate the technology we have developed.

Our DTN System transmits 100 Gbps of optical capacity, utilizing a pair of PICs, one transmitter
PIC and one receiver PIC. Our transmitter PIC integrates the functionality of 51 optical components onto
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a single chip, including lasers and modulators. In addition, our receiver PIC integrates the functionality
of 11 optical components onto a single chip, including photodetectors and an optical de-multiplexer.

We expect our PIC technology to enable continued innovation in additional applications and
systems beyond the optical transport market currently being served by the DTN System. We have
demonstrated a next generation PIC prototype that is capable of transporting 1.6 terabits of data. We
believe this is 40 times the capacity of the most advanced commercial discrete photonics devices today.

Customars

Our DTN System has been sold to telecommunications carriers, cable operators, internet content
providers and other service providers. As of December 29, 2007, we have sold our DTN System for
deployment in the oplical network of 41 customers worldwide, including:

+  360networks, Inc.;

+ BOREAS—Net;

+ Carphone Warehouse;

« Cox Communications;

+ Citynet, LLC;

+ Deltacom;

+ EWE TEL GmbH;

» FLAG Telecom Group Limited;
+ FPL Fibemnet;

+ Freenet Cityline GmbH;

+ Global Crossing International Networks Ltd.,

+ Integra Telecom Holdings, Inc.;

+ Intermnet2,

* Interoute Communications Limited;

* Level 3 Communications;

» Mid-Atlantic Broadband Cooperative,

+ North China Grid Company Limited;

» QOVH SARL;

»  Qwest Communications intemational, Inc.;

« Stale of New Mexico,
+ Wuhan NEC Fiber Optic Communications Industry Co., Ltd.; and
+  XO Communications Services, Inc.

Level 3 and Broadwing Corporation, which Level 3 acquired in January 2007, together accounted
for approximately 47%, 75% and 28% of our revenue in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Support and Services

We offer our cusiomers a range of support offerings, including product training, installation and
deployment services, extended warranties and 24x7 multi-level technical support. These product I
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support services consist of software warranty, updates and upgrades including peneral product
support. Our support services are provided by our employees and third-party support partners. We
believe that providing ongoing support is critical to successful long-term relationships with, and
follow-on sales to, our customers. We are committed to providing our customers with the highest levels
of support and service.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our DTN System and related support services primarily through our direct
sales force, supported by marketing and product management personnel. We may also use distribution
or support partners to enter new markets or when requested by a potential customer. Our sales team
has significant previous experience with the buying process and sales cycles typical of high-value
telecommunications products. We expect to continue to add sales and support employees as we grow
our business.,

The sales process for our DTN System entails discussions with prospective customers, analyzing
their existing networks and Identifying how they can utilize our DTN System capabilities within their
networks. This process requires developing strong customer relationships, and we expect to leverage
our sales force and customer support capabilities to establish relationships with both domestic and
international service providers.

Over the course of the sales cycle, service providers often test our DTN System before buying. Prior
to commercial deployment, the service provider will generally perform a field trial of our DTN System.
Upon successful completion, the service provider generally accepts the products installed in its network
and may continue with commercial deployment of additional DTN systems. We anticipate that our sales
cycle, from initial contact with a service provider through the signing of a purchase agreement, may, in
some cases, take several quarters.

Direct Sales Force. Our sales team sells directly to service providers worldwide. We maintain
sales presences throughout the United States as well as in China, France, Germany, Japan, South
Korea and the United Kingdom.

Indirect Safes Force. We have and will continue to employ business consultants, resale partners
and sales agents to assist in our sales efforts to accelerate and strengthen our customer relationships.
We expect to work with business partners to assist our customers in the sale, deployment and
maintenance of our systems and have entered into distribution and resale agreements to facilitate the
sale of our DTN System.

Marketing and Product Management. Our product management team is responsible for defining
the product features and roadmap required to maximize our success in the marketplace. Product
management supports our sales efforts with product and application expertise. QOur marketing team
works 1o create demand for our DTN System by communicating our value proposition and
differentiation in direct customer Interaction, public relations, tradeshows, events and web and other
marketing channels.

Research and Development

Continued investment in research and development is critical to our business. To this end, we
have assembled a team of engineers with expartise in various fields, including systems, sub-systems
and components. Our research and development efforts are currently focused in Sunnyvale, California,
Allentown, Pennsylvania, Annapolis Junction, Maryland and Bangaiore, India. We have invested
significant time and financial resources into the devetopment of our Digital Optical Network
architecture, our DTN System, including the IQ Network Operating System and Management Suite
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software, the PIC and our manufacturing capabilities. We will continue to expand our product offerings
and capabilities in the future and plan to dedicate significant resources to these conlinued research
and development efforts. We are conlinually increasing the scalability and software features of our
current DTN System, and developing additional functionality and new products, including products for
metro applications. We are also working to develop new generations of PICs, and we intend to
leverage further integration in our Digital Optical Network architecture and our DTN System through
continued research and development and investments in our manufacturing capabilities.

Our research and development expenses were $60.9 million in 2007, $39.0 million in 2006 and
$25.0 million in 2005.

Employees

As of December 29, 2007, we had 711 full time employees. A total of 140 of those employees
were located outside of the United States. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or
covered by a coliective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we
consider our employee relationships to be good.

Manufacturing

We have invested significant time and capital to develop and improve the manufacturing process
that we use to produce and package our PIC. This includes significant investments in personnel and
the facilities to manufacture and package our PIC in Sunnyvale, Califomia and Allentown,
Pennsylvania. We also have invested in automating our manufacturing process and in training and
maintaining the quality of our manufacturing workforce. As a Ieader in the development of photonic
integration, we have protected the intellectual property associated with our PIC manufacturing through
a combination of trade secrets, patents and contractual provisions. We believe that as a result of the
combination of the multiple disciplines that were required to develop our PIC, together with the
intellectual property protections that we have established, it will be difficult for others to duplicate the
technology we have developed. Qur manufacturing process has been developed over several years
and is prolected by a significant number of frade secrets. We believe that the trade secrets associated
with the manufacturing and packaging of our PIC provide us with a significant competitive advantage.

We outsource manufacturing of certain components of our DTN System. We are planning to
expand the use of our international manufacturing partners in 2008. Our contract manufacturers
manufacture our DTN System based on our specifications and bill of materials. In addition, the lead
times associated with ceriain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in product
specifications or defivery schedules. To date, we have not experienced any significant delays or
material unanticipated costs resulting from the use of these contract manufacturers; however, such a
strategy involves certain risks, including the potential absence of adequate capacity, the unavailability
of or interruptions in access to certain process technologies, and reduced control over delivery
schedules, manufacturing yields, quality and costs. Despite outsourcing manufacturing operations for
cost-effective scale and flexibility, we perform rigorous in-house quality control testing to ensure the
reliability of our DTN Systems.

Shortages in components that we use in our DTN System are possible and our ability to predict the
availability of such components may be limited. Some of these components are availabie only from
single or limited sources of supply. Our DTN System includes some components that are proprietary in
nature and only available from a single source, as well as some components that are generally available
from a number of suppliers. in some cases, significant time would be required to establish relationships
with alternate suppliers or providers of proprietary components. We do not have any long-term contracts
with any component providers that guarantee supply of components or their manufacturing services. If
we encounter difficulty continuing our relationship with a supplier, or if a supplier is unable to meet our

12




needs, we may encounter manufacturing delays that could adversely affect our business. Our ability to
timely defiver products to our customers would be materially adversely impacted if we needed to qualify
replacements for any of a number of the components used in our DTN Systems.

We believe that our current manufacturing facilities can accommodate an increase in capacity for
PIC production sufficient for the foreseeable future. Given the competitive advantage we believe is
provided by our PIC product capabilities, we are continually investing in our manufacturing processes;
however, we anticipate that increasing and enhancing production at this facility will not result in
significant additional capital expenditures and personnel costs.

Backlog

As of December 29, 2007, our backlog was $26.7 million. These orders are subject to future
events that could cause the amount or timing of the related revenue to change, and, in centain cases,
may be cancelled without penalty. We do not believe that backlog should be viewed as an indicator of
future performance. A backlogged order may not result in revenue in a particular period, and the actual
revenue may not be equal to our backiog amounts. Our presentation of backlog may not be
comparable with that of other companies in our industry. !

Competition

The optical communications network equipment market is highly competitive. Competition in this
market is based on any one or a combination of the fotlowing factors:

+  price,
« functionality;
- existing business and customer relationships,

« the ability of products and services 1o meet customers’ immediate and future network
requirements,

+ installation capability;

*  services,

+ scalability; and

+ manufacturing capability.
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Competition in the optical communications market is dominated by a small number of very large,
multi-national companies. Many of our competitors have substantially greater name recognition and
technical, financial, and marketing resources, and greater manufacturing capacity, as well as better
established relationships with the incumbent carmiers, than we do. Many of our competitors have more
resources to develop or acquire, and more experience in developing or acquiring, new products and
technologies and in creating market awareness for these products and technologies. In addition, many of
our competitors have the financial resources to offer competitive products at below market pricing levels
that could prevent us from competing effectively. Further, many of our competitors have built long-
standing relationships with some of our prospective customers and have the ability to provide financing to
customers and could, therefore, have an inherent advantage in selling products to those customers.

Our competitors include current wavelength division multiplexing suppliers, such as Alcatel-
Lucent, Ciena, Cisco Systems, Ericsson, Fujitsu Limited, Huawei Technotogies Co. Ltd., LM Ericsson
Telephone Co., NEC Corporation, Nokia-Siemens Networks, Nortel Networks, Tellabs and ZTE
Corporation, These companies have historically set the competitive benchmarks for price and
functionality. There are also smaller companies, including startups, which have announced plans or
developed products that would compete for long-haul and metro optical transport business.
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We also face additional competition in certain market segments from companies which offer one
or more products that compete directly or indirectly with our DTN System. In addition, we may compete
with other companies as we expand into new markets or as other companies develop products that are
competitive with us.

Intellectual Property

Our success as a company depends upon our ability 1o protect our core technology and intellectual
property. To accomplish this, we rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents,
trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, as well as customary contractual protections.

We rely primarily on trade secret protection for our PIC and PIC manufacturing processes,
including design, fabrication and testing of our PICs. However, there can be no assurances that trade
secrats will be sufficient to provide us with a competitive advantage or that others have not or will not
reverse engineer our designs or discover, develop or disclose the same or similar designs and
manufacturing processes.

As of December 29, 2007, we held 69 U.S. patents and cone international patent expiring between
2021 and 2026, and held 99 U.S. and 55 foreign pending patent applications. Wa do not know whether
any of our pending patent applications will result In the issuance of patents or whether the examination
process will require us to narrow our ¢laims.

We may not receive competitive advantages from the rights granted under our patents and other
intellectual property. Any patents granted to us may be contested, circumvented or invalidated over the
course of our business, and we may not be abie to prevent third parties from infringing these patents.
Therefore, the exact effect of the protection of these patents cannot be predicted with certainty.

We believe that the frequency of asssrtions of patent infringement is increasing as patent holders,
including entities that are not in our industry and who purchase patents as an investment or to
monetize such rights by obtaining royalties, use such aclions as a competitive tactic as well as a
source of additional revenus. We have been sued by Cheetah Omni LLC for alleged infringement of
their patent. See the section titled “—Legal Proceedings” for additional information regarding this
lawsuit. Any claim of infringement from a third party, even those without merit, could cause us to incur
substantial costs defending against such claims, and could distract our management from running our
business. Furthermore, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that
requires us to pay substantial damages. A judgment could also include an injunction or other court
order that could prevent us from selling our DTN System. In addition, we might be required to seek a
license for the use of such intellectual property, which may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Alternatively, we may be required to develop non-infringing technology,
which would require significant effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful.

In addition to thase protections, we generally control access to and the use of our proprietary
software and other confidential information. This protection is accomplished through a combination of
internal and external controls, including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers,
and partners, and through a combination of U.S. and international copyright laws. We incorporate a
number of third party software programs into our DTN System pursuant to license agreements.

We license some of our software pursuant to agreements that impose restrictions on our
customers’ ability to use such software, such as prohibiting reverse engineering and limiting the use of
copies, We also seek to avoid disclosure of our intellectual property by relying on non-disclosure and
assignment of intellectual property agreements with our employees and consultants that acknowledge
our exclusive ownership of all intellectual property developed by the individual during the course of his
or her work with us. The agreements also require that each person maintain the confidentiality of all
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proprietary information disclosed to them. Other parties may not comply with the terms of their
agreements with us, and we may not be able to enforce our rights adequately against these parties.
We also rely on contractual rights to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our DTN System.

Environmental Matters

Our business and operations are subject to environmental laws in various jurisdictions around the
world. We seek to operate our business in compliance with such laws. We are currently subject to laws
relating to the materials and content of our products and certain requirements relating to product take
back and recycling. Environmental regulation is increasing, particularly outside of the United States,
and we expect that our intemational operations will be subject to additional environmental compliance
requirements, which may expose us to additional costs. To date, our compliance costs relating to
environmental regulations have not resulted in a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations or financial condition.

Executive Officers and Directors

Our executive officers and directors, and their ages and positions as of December 29, 2007, are set
forth below:

Name ﬂ Position

JagdeepSingh .......... ...t 40 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
ThomasJ.Fallon .................... 46  Chief Operating Officer

David F. Welch,Ph.D. ................ 46 Chief Marketing and Strategy Officer
Duston M. Williams .................. 49  Chief Financial Officer
ScottA.Chandler.................... 33 Vice President, Worldwide Sales
Michael O. McCarthy Ill . .............. 42  Chief Legal Officer

William R.Cumpston ................- 46 Vice Prasident, Systems Engineering
Alexandre Batkanski, Ph.D. @ ... .. 47  Director

Kenneth A. Goldman® . .............. 58 Director

Reed E. Hundt @@ ... ........... 59 Director

Hugh C. Martin B0 _ .. .............. 53 Director

Dan Maydan, Ph.D.® . ... ........... 72 Director

CarlRedfield @4 . .. ............... 60 Director

Pradeep S. Sindhy, Ph.D. ............. 55 Director

i Lead Independent Director

@ Member of Nominating and Governance Committee
3 Member of Audit Committee

4} Member of Compensation Committee

Jagdeep Singh co-founded our company and has served as our President and Chief Execulive
Officer since January 2001, and as Chairman of our board of directors since March 2001. From
December 1999 to December 2000, Mr. Singh served as co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of
OnFiber Communications, Inc., or OnFiber, an optical telecommunications carrier. From January 1998
to March 1999, Mr. Singh served as co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of Lightera Networks, or
Lightera, an optical switching equipment company, and upon Ciena Corporation’s acquisition of
Lightera in March 1999, served as President of Ciena’s Core Switching Division. Mr. Singh holds a
B8.S. in Computer Science from the University of Maryland, an M.S. in Computer Science from Stanford
University and an M.B.A. from the University of California, Berkeley.

Thomas J. Fallon has served as our Chief Operating Officer since October 2006, From April 2004
to September 2006, Mr. Fallon was our Vice President of Engineering and Operations. From August
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2003 to March 2004, Mr. Fallon was Vice President, Corporate Quality and Development Operations of
Cisco Systems, Inc., a networking and telecommunications company. From May 2001 to August 2003,
Mr. Fallon served as Cisco's General Manager of the Optical Transport Business Unit. Mr. Fallon holds
a B.S.M.E. and M.B.A. from the University of Texas at Austin.

David F. Welch, Ph.D. co-founded our company and has served as our Chief Marketing and
Strategy Officer since January 2007. From May 2004 to January 2007, Dr. Welch served as our Chief
Strategy Officer. From May 2001 to May 2004, he served as our Chief Development Officer/Chief
Technology Officer. From May 2001 to November 2008, Dr. Welch also served as a member of our
board of directors. From February 2001 to April 2001, Dr. Welch served as Chief Technology Officer of
the Transmission Division of JDS Uniphase Corporation, an optical component company. From
January 1985 to February 2001, Dr. Welch served in various executive roles, including Chief
Technology Officer and Vice Presideni of Corporate Development of SDL, an oplical component
company. Dr. Welch holds a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from the University of Delaware and a Ph.D.
in Electrical Engineering from Cornell University.

Duston M. Willlams has served as our Chief Financial Officer since June 2006. From December
2004 to June 2006, Mr. Williams was Executive Vice Prasident and Chief Financial Officer of Maxtor
Corporation, an information storage sclutions company. From July 2003 to November 2004,

Mr. Williams served as Chief Financial Officer of Aruba Networks, Inc., a network infrastructure
company. From July 2001 to February 2003, Mr, Williams served as Chief Financial Officer of
Rhapsody Networks, Inc., a storage networking provider. Mr. Williams currently serves on the board of
directors of BlueArc, a network storage company. Mr. Williams holds a B.S. in Accounting from Bentley
College and an M.B.A. from the University of Southern California.

Scott A. Chandler has served as our Vice President, Worldwide Sales since November 2004.
From May 2003 to November 2004, Mr. Chandler served as our Vice President, Sales for North
America. From October 1999 to May 2003, Mr. Chandler held a number of senior sales positions at
Sonus Networks, Inc., a voice over IP infrastructure solutions company, including Vice President of
Strategic Sales. Mr. Chandler holds a B.S. in Business Administration from Plymouth State College.

Michael Q. McCarthy Il has served as our Chief Legal Officer since January 2008. From May
2003 to January 2008, Mr. McCarthy served as our Vice President and General Counsel. From May
2001 to February 2003, Mr. McCarthy served as Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and
Support at Ciena Corporation, a communications equipment company. From July 1999 to May 2001,
Mr. McCarthy served as Ciena's Senior Vice President and General Counsel. Mr. McCarthy holds a
B.A. in Mathematical-Economics from Colgate University and a J.D. from Vanderbilt University's
School of Law.

William R. Cumpston has served as our Vice President, Systems Engineering since June 2006.
From Septermmber 2005 to June 2006, Mr. Cumpston served as the Senior Vice President of
Engineering at XenSource Inc., an enterprise grade platform virtualization solution company. From
March 2003 to May 2005, Mr. Cumpston served as Chief Executive Officer of CloudShield
Technologies, Inc., a provider of iP services control and security. From June 2002 to August 2002,

Mr. Cumpston served as a Senior Vice President of Metro Products at Ciena Corporation. From August
1998 to June 2002, Mr. Cumpston served as Vice President, Engineering and Chief Operating Officer
at ONi Systems Corporation, a fiber-optic communications equipment company. Mr. Cumpston holds a
B.S. in Mathematics from the University of North Carolina. ’

Alexandre Balkanskl, Ph.D. has been a member of our board of directors since October 2001.
Dr. Balkanski has been a General Partner at Benchmark Capital, a venture capital firm, since April
2000. From August 1988 to April 2000, Dr. Balkanski was a co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of
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C-Cube Microsystems Inc., a digital video company. Dr. Balkanski holds a B.S. from Harvard College
and an M.A. and a Ph.D. from*Harvard University.

Kenneth A. Goldman has been a member of our board of directors since February 2005.

Mr. Goldman has been the Senlor Vice President Finance and Administration and Chlef Financial
Officer of Fortinet Inc., a provider of unified threat management solutions since September 2007. From
November 2006 to August 2007, Mr. Goldman served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Dexterra, Inc., a provider of mobile enterprise software. From August 2000 until March 2006,
Mr. Goldman served as Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer
of Siebel Systems, Inc., a supplier of customer software solutions and services. From December 1999
to December 2003, Mr. Goldman served as an advisory council member of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board Advisory Council. Mr. Goldman serves on the boards of directors of BigBand
Networks, Inc., a provider of broadband multimedia Infrastructure, Leadis Technology Inc., a
semiconductor company, and Starent Natworks Corp., a provider of networking solutions. Mr. Goldman
served on the board of Juniper Networks, Inc., an IP network solutions company, until his resignation
from the position in January 2008. Mr. Goldman holds a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from Comell
University and an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School.

Reed E. Hundt joined our board of directors in February 2007. Since 1988, he has acted as
Co-Chairman of the Forum on Communications and Society at The Aspen Institute, a public policy
organization, and as an independent advisor on information industries to McKinsey & Company, Inc., a
management consulting firm. Mr. Hundt served as Chairman of the Federal Communications
Commission from 1993 to 1897. Mr. Hundt currently serves on the board of directors of intel
Corporation, a semi-conductor company, and Data Domain, a storage and networking company.

Mr. Hundt holds a B.A. in History from Yale University and a J.D. from Yale Law School.

Hugh C. Martin has been a member of our board of directors since July 2003. Since April 2004,
Mr. Martin has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Pacific Biosciences, Inc., a
biotechnology company. From September 2003 to April 2004, Mr. Martin acted as a consultant to
Kleiner, Perkins, Caufield & Byers, a venture capital firm. From May 2002 to May 2003, Mr. Martin was
a consultant to Ciena Corporation. From January 1998 to May 2002, Mr. Martin was the Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer of ONI Systems Corporation, a fiber-optic communications
equipment company. Mr. Martin holds a B.S.E.E. from Rutgers University.

Dan Maydan, Ph.D. has been a member of our board of directors since September 2001. From
April 2003 to September 2005, Dr. Maydan served as the President Emeritus of Applied Materials, Inc.,
a company that manufactures semiconductor equipment, and was a member of its board of directors
from June 1992 unti) March 2006. From December 1993 to April 2003, Dr. Maydan served as
President of Applied Materials. Dr. Maydan serves on the boards of directors of Electronics for
Ymaging, Inc., a digital imaging and print management solutions company, and LaserCard Corporation,
a secure |D solutions company. Dr. Maydan holds a B.S. and M.S. in Electrical Engineering from the
Israel Institute of Technology and a Ph.D. in Physics from Edinburgh University of Scotland.

Carl Redfield has been a member of our board of directors since August 2006. Since September
2004, Mr. Redfield has served as Senior Vice President, New England executive sponsor, of Cisco
Systems, Inc. From February 1997 through September 2004, Mr. Redfield served as Cisco's Senior
Vice President, Manufacturing and Logistics. From September 1993 until February 1997, Mr. Redfield
served as Vice President of Manufacturing of Cisco. Mr. Redfield is a member of the board of directors
of SourceForge, Inc., an online media, software and e-commerce company. Mr. Redfield holds a B.S.
in Materials Engineering from Renssetaer Polytechnic Institute and has completed post-graduate
studies at the Harvard Business School.
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Pradeep S. Sindhu, Ph.D. has been a member of our board of directors since September 2001.
In February 1996, Dr. Sindhu co-founded Juniper Networks, Inc., an IP network solutions company,
and served as its Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of its board of directors until September 1996.
Since September 1996, Dr. Sindhu has served as Chief Technical Officer and Vice Chairman of the
board of directors of Juniper Networks. Dr. Sindhu holds a B.S.E.E. from the Indian Institute of
Technology in Kanpur, an M.S.E_.E. frorn the University of Hawaii and a Masters in Computer Science
and Ph.D. in Computer Science from Carnegie-Mellon University.

Our board of directors is currently composed of 8 members. Messrs. Goldman, Hundt, Martin and
Redfield and Drs. Balkanski, Maydan and Sindhu qualify as independent directors in accordance with
the listing requirements of NASDAQ. The NASDAQ definition of independence includes a series of
objective tests, such as that the director is not, and has not been for at least three years, one of our
employees and that neither the director, nor any of his family members, has engaged in various types
of business dealings with us. In addition, as further required by the NASDAQ rules, our board of
directors has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationships
exist that, in the opinion of our board of directors, would interfere with his exercise of independent
judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these determinations, our directors
reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and us with regard to each director's
business and personal activities as they may relate to us and our management.

Availabte Information

Our website address is htfp://www.infinera.com. Information contained on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K unless expressly noted. We file reports with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"), which we make available on our website free of
charge. These reports include annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports, each of which is provided on our website as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with or furnish them to the
SEC. You can also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549, You can obtain additional information about the
operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. !In addition, the SEC
maintains a website (htfp://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including us.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Set forth below and elsewhere in this
annual report on Form 10-K, and in other documents we file with the SEC, are risks and uncertainties
that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-
looking statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K. Because of the following factors, as
well as other variables affecting our operating results, past financial performance should not be
considered as a reliable indicator of future performance and investors should not use historical trends
to anticipate results or frends in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have a limited operating history and have only recently begun selling our DTN System, both
of which make it difficult to predict our future operating results.

We were incorporated in December 2000 and shipped our first DTN System in November 2004.
Our limited operating history gives you very little basis upon which to evaluate our ability to accomplish
our business objectives. In making an investment decision, you should evaluate our business in light of
the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in early stages of
development, particularly companies in the rapidly changing optical communications market. We may
not be successful in addressing these risks. It is difficult to accurately forecast our future revenue and
plan expenses accordingly and, therefore, predict our future operating results.

We have a history of significant operating losses and may not achieve profitability in the future.

We have not achieved profitability. We experienced a net loss of $55.3 million for the year ended
December 29, 2007 and a net loss of $89.9 million for the year ended December 31, 20086. As of
December 29, 2007, our accumulated deficit was $369.4 million. We expect to continue to make
significant expenditures related to the development of our business, including expenditures to hire
additional personne! related to the sales, marksting and development of our DTN System and to
maintain and expand our manufacturing facilities and research and development operations. In
addition, as a newly public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses. We will have to sustain significant increased revenue and product
gross margins to achieve profitability.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which could make our future results difficult
to predict and could cause our operating results to fall below investor or analyst expectations.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our
control. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-pericd basis may not be
meaningful. You should not rely on past results, in particular the recent growth in our revenue, as an
indicator of our future performance. Fluctuations in our revenue can lead to even greater fluctuations in
our operating results. Our budgeted expense levels depend in part on our expectations of long-term
future revenue. Given relatively fixed operating costs related to our personnel and facilities, any
substantial adjustment to our expenses to account for lower levels of revenue will be difficult and take
time. Consequently, if our revenue does not meet projected levels, our inventory levels and operating
expenses would be high relative to revenue, resulting in additional operating losses.

In addition to other risks discussed in this section, factors that may contribute to fluctuations in our
revenue and our operating results include:
- fluctuations in demand, sales cycles, product mix and prices for our DTN System and our
services,;
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« reductions in customers’ budgets for optical communications purchases and delays in their
purchasing cycles;

+ order cancellations or reductions or delays in delivery scheduies by our customers;
+ timeliness of our customers’ payments for their purchases;

+ the timing of recognizing revenue in any given quarter as a result of software revenue
recognition requirements and any changes in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
or new interpretations of existing accounting rules;

+ our ability to establish vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE for our training, installation
and deployment services, in order to be able to recognize revenue once the four revenue
recognition criteria have been met, rather than over the period represented by the longest
undelivered service period;

+ readiness of customer sites for installation of our DTN System;
« the timing of product releases or upgrades by us or by our competitors;

*+ availability of third party suppliers to provide contract engineering and installation services for
us,

+ any significant changes in the competitive dynamics of our market, including any new
entrants, technological advances or substantial discounting of products;

+ our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses and the costs of compenents we
purchase; and

+ general economic conditions in domestic and international markets.

Until we establish VSOE for training and installation and deployment services, all revenue for our
bundled products will continue to be deferred and recognized ratably over the longest undelivered
service period. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities
analysts or below any guidance we may in the future provide to the market, the price of our common
stock may decline substantially.

Our gross margin may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and may be adversely affected by a
number of factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Our gross margin fluctuates from period to period and varies by customer and by product
specification. Our gross margin may continue to be adversely affected by a number of factors,
including:

= the mix in any period of higher and lower margin products and services:;

+ price discounts negaotiated by our customers;

+ sales volume from each customer during the period;

+ the period of time over which ratable recognition of revenue occurs;

+ the amount of equipment we sell for a loss in a given quarter;

+ charges for excess or obsotete inventory;

+ changes in the price or availability of components for our DTN System;

+ our ability to reduce manufacturing costs;

+ introduction of new products, with initial sales at relatively small volumes with resulting higher

product costs;
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+ increased price competition, including competition from low-cost producers in China; and
» increased warranty or repair costs.

It is likely that the average unit prices of our DTN System will decrease over time in response to
competitive pricing pressures, increased negotiated sales discounts, new product introductions by us
or our competitors or other factors. In addition, some of our customer contracts contain annual
technology discounts that require us to decrease the sales price of our DTN System to these
customers. In response, we will likely need to reduce the cost of our DTN System through
manufacturing efficiencies, design improvements and cost reductions or change the mix of DTN
Systems we sell. If these efforts are not successful or if we are unable to reduce our costs to a greater
extent than the reduction in the price of our DTN System, our revenue and gross margin will decline,
causing our operating results to decline. Fluctuations in gross margin may make it difficult to manage
our business and achieve or maintain profitability.

Aggressive business tactics by our competitors may harm our business.

Increased competition in our markets has resulted in aggressive business tactics by our
competitors, including:

+ selling at a discount used equipment or inventory that a competitor had previously written
down or written off:

* announcing competing products prior to market availability combined with extensive
marketing efforts;

» offering to repurchase our equipment from existing customers;
+ providing financing, marketing and advertising assistance to customers: and

» asserting intellectua! property rights.

If we fail to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, or if our current or
future competitors continue or expand aggressive business tactics, including those described above,
demand for our DTN System could decline, we could experience delays or cancellations of customer
orders, or we could be required to reduce our prices or increase our expenses.

The markets in which we compete are highly competitive and dominated by large corporations,
and we may not be able to compete effectively.

Competition in the optical communications equipment market is intense, and we expect such
competition to increase. A number of very large companies historically have dominated the optical
communications network equipment industry. Our competitors include current wavelength division
multiplexing suppliers, such as Alcatel-Lucent, Ciena Corporation, Cisco Systems, Ericsson, Fujitsu
Limited, Huawei Technologies Co., LM Ericsson Telephone Co., NEC Corporation, Nokia-Siemens
Networks, Nortel Networks, Tellabs and ZTE Corporation. Competition in these markets is based on
price, functionality, manufacturing capability, pre-existing installation, services, existing business and
customer relationships, scalability and the ability of products and breadth and quality of services to
meet our customers’ immediate and future network requirements. Other companies have, or may in the
future develop, products that are or could be competitive with our DTN System. In particular, if a
competitor develops a photonic integrated circuit with similar functionality, our business could be
harmed. On June 19, 2008, Nokia and Siemens agreed to combine their communications service
provider businesses to create a new joint venture and on November 30, 2006 Alcatel and Lucent
announced the completion of their merger. These transactions and any future mergers, acquisitions or
combinations between or among our competitors may adversely affect our competitive position by
strengthening ocur competitors.
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Many of our competitors have substantially greater name recognition and technical, financial and
marketing resources, greater manufacturing capacity and better established relationships with
incumbent carriers and other potential customers than we have. Many of our competitors have more
resources to develop or acquire, and more experience in developing or acquiring, new products and
technologres and in creating market awareness for those products and technologies. In addition, many
of our competitors have the financial resources to offer compaetitive products at below market pricing
levels that could prevent us from competing effectively. Further, many of our competitors have built -
long-standing refationships with some of our prospective customers and have the ability to provide
financing to customers and could therefore. have an inherent advantage in selling products to those
customers .

We also compete with low-cost producers in China that can increase pricing pressure onusanda”
number of smaller companies that provide competmon for a specific product, customer sagment or
geographic market. These compelitors ofien base their products on the latest available technologies.
Due to the narrower focus of their efforts, these competitors may achieve commercial availability of
their products more quickly than we can and may provide attractive alternatives to our customers.

We are dependent on Level 3 Communications and other key customers for a significant
portion of our revenue and the loss of, or a significant reduction in orders from, Level 3 or one
or more of our key customers would reduce our revenue and harm our operating results.

A relatively small number of customers account for a large percentage of our net revenue. In
particular, for the year ended December 29, 2007, Level 3 Communications, or Level 3, and
Broadwing, which Level 3 acquired in January 2007, together accounted for approximately 47% of our
revenue. We expect Level 3 to continue to represent a significant percentage of our revenue for the
foreseeable future. Our busineéss will be harmed if we do not generate as much revenue as we expect
from our key customers, particularly from Level 3, if we experience a loss of Level 3 or of any of our
other key customers or if we suffer a substantial reduction in orders from these customers. Our ability
to continue to generate revenue from our key customers will depend on our ability to introduce new
products that are desirable to these cuslorners at competmve prices and we may not be successful |
domg so. Because, in most cases. our sales are made to these customers pursuant to standard
purchase orders rather than. long-:erm purchase commrtments orders ‘may be cancelled or reduced
readily. In the event of a cancellation or reduction of an order we may not have enough time to reduce
operating expenses to minimize the effect of the lost revenue on our business. Our operating results
will continué to depend on our ability to sell our DTN System to Leve1 3 and other large customers.

Our large customers have, substantial negotlatlng leverage, whlch may require that we agree to
terms and conditions that result in Increased cost of sales. decreased revenue and Iower
average sell!ng prices and gross marglns, aII of which would harm our operatlng results.

Substantlal changes in the cptical communlcations mdustry have occurred over lhe last few years.,
Many potential customers have confronted static or declining revenue. Many of our customers have
substantial debt burdens, many. have experienced financial distress, and some have gone out.of
business or have.been acquired by other service providers or announced their withdrawal from
segments of the business: Consolidation in the markets in which we compete has resulted in the
changes in the structure of the communications networking.industry, with greater concentration of
purchasing power in a small:number of large service providers, cable operators and govermment
agencies. tn addition, it has resulted in a substantial reduction In the- number of our potentia)
customers. For example, service providers, such-as Leve! 3, have recently acquired a number, of other.
communications service providers; including one of our other custemers. This increased concentration
among our customer base-may also lead to increased negotratnng power for our customers and may
require us to decrease our average selling prices. .
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Further, many of our customers are large communications service providers that have substantial
purchasing power and leverage in negotiating contractual arrangements with us. These customers
have and may continue to seek advantageous pricing and other commercial terms and may require us
to develop additional features in the products we sell to them. We have and may continue 1o be
required to reduce the average selling price, or increase the average cost, of our DTN System in
response to these pressures or competitive pricing pressures. To mainiain acceptable operating
results, we will need to develop and introduce new products and product enhancements on a timely
basis and continue to reduce our costs.

. We expect the factors described above to continue to affect our business and operating results for
an indeterminate period, in several ways, including:

« overall capital expenditures by many of our customers or potential customers may be flat or
reduced,

« we will continue to have only limited ability to forecast the volume and product mix of our
sales;

+ managing expenditures and inventory will be difficult in light of the uncertainties surrounding
our business; and

« increased competition will enable customers to insist on more favorable terms and conditions
for sales, including product discounts, extended payment terms or financing assistance, as a
condition of procuring their business.

If we are unable to offset any reductions in our average selling prices or increases in our average
costs with increased sales volumes and reduced production costs, or if we fail to develop and introduce
new products and enhancements on a timely basis, our operating results would be harmed.

We are dependent on a single product, and the lack of continued market acceptance of our DTN
System would harm our business.

Our DTN System accounts for substantially all of our revenue and will continue to do so for the
foresseable future. As a result, our business could be harmed by:

+ any decline in demand for our DTN System,
+ the failure of our existing DTN System to achieve continued market acceptance;

» the introduction of products and technologies that serve as a replacement or substitute for, or
represent an improvement over, our DTN System;

« technological innovations or new communications standards that our DTN System does not
address; and

+ our inability to release enhanced versions of our DTN System on a timely basis.

i we fall to expand sales of our DTN System into international markets or to sell our products
to new types of customers, such as U.S. reglonal bell operating companies, international
postal, telephone and telegraph companies, cable multiple system operators and U.S.
competitive local exchange carriers, our revenue wlll be harmed.

Wae believe that, in order to grow our revenue and business and to build a large and diverse
customer base, we must successfully sell our DTN System in international markets and ultimately to
U.S. regional bell operating companies, international postal, telephone and telegraph companies, cable
muttiple system operators and U.S. competitive local exchange cariers. We have limiled experience
selling our DTN System intemationally and to U.S. regional bell operating companies, international
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postal, telephone and telegraph companies, cable multiple system operators and U.S. competitive local
exchange carriers. To succeed in these sales efforts, we believe we must hire additional sales
personnel and develop and manage new sales channels through resellers, distributors and systems
integrators. If we do not succeed in our efforts to sel! to these target markets and customers, the size
of our total addressable market will ba fimited. This, in turn, would harm our ability to grow our
customer base and revenue.

If we fail to protect our Intellectual property rights, our compatitive position could be harmed or
we could incur significant expense to enforce our rights.

We depend on our ability 1o protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secret, patent,
copyright and trademark laws and confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties, all of
which offer only limited protection. The steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not
be adequate to preclude misappropriation of our proprietary information or infringement of our
intellectual property rights, and our ability to police such misappropriation or infringement is uncertain,
particularly in countries outside of the United States. This is likely to become an increasingly important
issue as we expand our operations and product development into countries that provide a lower level
of intellectual property protection. We do not know whether any of our pending patent applications will
result in the issuance of patents or whether the examination process will require us to narow our
claims, and even if patents are issued, they may be contested, circumvented or invalidated. Moreover,
the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with a competitive advantage, and, as
with any technology, competitors may be able to develop similar or superior technologies to our own
now or in the future.

Protecting against the unauthorized use of our DTN System, trademarks and other proprietary
rights is expensive, difficult, time consuming and, in some cases, impossible. Litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets
or to determine the validity or scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation could result in
substantial cost and diversion of management resources, either of which coutd harm our business,
financial condition and operating resuits. Furthermore, many of our current and potential competitors
have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property rights
than we do. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing
upon or misappropriating our intellectual property.

Claims by others that we infringe their Intellectual property could harm our business.

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims
and related litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. In particular, many leading
companies in the optical communications industry, including our competitors, have extensive patant
portfolios with respect to optical communications technology. We expect that infringement claims may
increase as the number of products and competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur. From
time to time, third parties may assert exclusive patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual
property rights to technologies and related standards that are important to our business or seek to
invalidate the proprietary rights that we hold. Competitors or other third parties have, and may continue
to asser claims or initiate litigation or other proceedings against us or our manufacturers, suppliers or
customers alleging infringement of their proprietary rights, or seeking to invalidate our proprietary
rights, with respect to our DTN Systemn and technology. In the event that we are unsuccessful in
defending against any such claims, or any resulting lawsuit or proceedings, we could incur liability for
damages and/or have valuable proprietary rights invalidated.

Any claim of infringement from a third party, even one without merit, could cause us to incur
substantial costs defending against the claim, and could distract our management from running our
business. Furthermore, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that
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requires us to pay substantial damages. A judgment could also include an injunction or other court
order that could pravent us from offering our DTN System. In addition, we might be required to seek a
license for the use of such intellectual property, which may not be avaitable on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Alternatively, we may be required to develop non-infringing technology,
which would require significant effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful. Any of these
events could harm our business, financial condition and operating results. Competitors and other third
parties have and may continue to assert infringement claims against our customers and sales partners.
Any of these claims would require us to initiate or defend potentially protracted and costly litigation on
their behalf, regardless of the merits of these claims, because we generally indemnify our customers
and sales partners from claims of infringement of proprietary rights of third parties. If any of these
claims succeed, we may bs forced to pay darnages on behalf of our customers or sales partners,
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating resuits.

On May 9, 2006, we and Level 3 were sued by Cheetah Omni LLC in the United States District
Court for the Eastemn District of Texas Texarkana Division for alleged infringement of patent
No. 6,795,605, and a continuation thereof. On May 16, 2006, Cheetah filed an amended complaint,
which requested an order to enjoin the sale of our DTN System, recovery of all damages caused by the
alleged infringement and an award of any and all compensatory damages available by law, including
-damages, attorneys’ fees, associated interest and Cheetah's costs incurred in the lawsuit. Cheetah's
complaint does not request a specific dollar amount of damages. We are contractually obligated to
indemnify Level 3 for damages suffered by Leve! 3 to the extent our product is found to infringe the
rights of a third party, and we have assumed the defense of this matter. On July 20, 2008, we and
Level 3 filed an amended response. On November 28, 2006, Cheetah filed a second amended
complaint and added patent No. 7,142,347 to the lawsuit. On December 18, 2006, we and Level 3 filed
responses to Cheetah's second amended complaint. On January 30, 2007, Cheetah filed a third
amended complaint adding additional assertions of infringement for the two patents in suil. On
February 16, 2007, we and Level 3 filed responses to Chestah’s third amended complaint.

On April 11, 2007, we, Level 3 and Cheetah filed a joint motion with the court, agreeing to the
following: (1) to stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending a determination by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office as to whether it will reexamine U.S. Patent Nos. 6,795,605 and 7,142,347, and (2) if
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office decides to reexamine either U.S. Patent No. 6,795,605 or
7,142,347, to stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending final resolution of the reexamination(s) by the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. On April 12, 2007, the court granted the motion staying all
proceedings in the lawsuit. On June 26, 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office ordered
reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 6,795,605. On August 1, 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
ordered reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 7,142,347. As a result, all proceedings in this lawsuit are
stayed until the final resolution of these reexaminations. We do not know when the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office reexamination process will be completed. In the event that Cheetah is successful in
obtaining a judgment requiring us to pay damages or obtains an injunction preventing the sale of our
DTN System, our business could be harmed.

If we fall to accurately forecast demand for our DTN System, we may have excess or insufficient
inventory, which may increase our operating costs, decrease our revenue and harm our
businegss.

We are required to generate forecasts of future demands for our DTN System several months
prior to the scheduled delivery to our prospective customers, which reguires us to make significant
investments before we know if corresponding revenue will be recognized. If we overestimate demand
for our DTN System and increase our inventory in anticipation of customer orders that do not
materialize, we will have excess inventory, we will face a risk of obsolescence and significant inventory
write-downs and our capital infrastructure will be depreciated across fewer units raising our per unit
costs. If we underestimate demand for our DTN System, we will have inadequate inventory, which
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could slow down or interrupt the manufacturing of our DTN System and result in delays in shipments
and our ability to recognize revenue. In addition, we may be unable to meet our supply commitments to
customers which could result in a breach of our customer agreements and raquire us to pay damages.
Lead times for materials and components, including application-specific integrated circuits, that we
need to order for the manufacturing of our DTN System vary significantly and depend on factors such
as the specific supplier, contract terms and demand for each component at a given time,

Our manufacturing process Is very complex and the partial or complete loss of our
manufacturing facility, or a reduction In yields or an inability to scale capacity to meet
customer demands could harm our business.

The manufacturing process of our PIC and our DTN System is technically challenging. In the event
that our PIC manufacturing facility was fully or partially destroyed, as a result of fire, water damage, or
otherwise, it would limit our ability to produce our DTN System. Because of the complex nature of our
PIC manufacturing facility, such loss would take a considerable amount of time {o repair or rebuild. The
partial or complete loss of our PIC manufacturing facility, or an event causing the interruption in our
use of such facility for any extended pariod of time would cause our business, financial condition and
operating results to be harmed.

Minor deviations in the manufacturing process can cause substantial decreases in yields and, in
some cases, causa production to be suspended. We have had production interruptions and
suspensions in the past and may have additional interruptions cor suspensions in the future. We expect
our manufacturing yield for our next generation PICs to be lower initially and increase as we achieve
full production. Poor yields from our PIC manufacturing process or defects, integration issues or other
performance problems in our DTN System could cause us customer relations and business reputation
problems, harming our business and operating results.

tn addition, our manufacturing facilities may not have adequate capacity to meet the demand for
our DTN System or we may not be able to increase our capacity to meet potential increases in demand
for our DTN System. Our inability to obtain sufficient manufacturing capacity to meet demand, either in
our own facllities or through foundry or similar arrangements with third parties, could harm our
relationships with customers, our business and our operating results.

Product performance problems, including undetected errors in our hardware or software, could
harm our business and reputation.

The development and production of new products with high technology content, such as our DTN
System, is complicated and often involves problems with software, components and manufacturing
methods. Complex hardware and software products, such as our DTN System, can often contain
undetected errors when first introduced or as new versions are released. We have experienced errors
in the past in connection with our DTN System, including failures due to the receipt of faulty
components from our suppliers. We suspect that emrors, including potentially serious errors, will be
found from time to time in our DTN System. We have only been shipping our DTN System since
November 2004, which provides us with limited information on which to judge its refiability. Our DTN
System may suffer degradation of performance and reliability over time.

If refiability, quality or network monitoring problems develop, a number of negative effects on our
business could result, including:
» delays in our ability to recognize ravenus;
+ costs associated with fixing software or hardware defects or replacing products;
« high service and warranty expenses,
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+ delays in shipments;

= high inventory excess and obsoclescence expense;

= high levels of product returns;

- diversion of our engineering personne! from our product development efforts;
» delays in collecting accounts receivable;

» payment of damages for performance failures;

» reduced orders from existing customers; and

+ declining interest from potential customers.

Because we outsource the manufacturing of certain components of our DTN System, we may also
be subject to product performance problems as a result of the acts or omissions of these third parties.

From time to time, we encounter interruptions or delays in the activation of our DTN System at a
customers’ site. These interruptions or delays may result from product performance problems or from
issues with installation and activation, some of which are outside our control. If we experience
significant interruptions or delays that we cannot promptly resolve, confidence in our DTN System
could be undermined, which could cause us to lose customers and fail to add new customers.

We are dependent on sole source and limited source suppliers for several key components,
and If we fail to obtaln these components on a timely basis, we will not meet our customers’
product dellvery requirements.

We currently purchase several key components from single or limited sources. in particular, we
rely on third parties as sole source suppliers for certain of our components, including: application-
specific integrated circuits, fleld-programmable gate arrays, processors, and other semiconductor and
optical components. We purchase these items on a purchase order basis and have no long-term
contracts with any of these sole source suppliers. If any of our sole or limited source suppliers suffer
from capacity constraints, lower than expected yields, work stoppages or any other reduction or
disruption in output, they may be unable to meet our delivery schedule. Further, our suppliers could
enter into exclusive arrangements with our competitors, refuse to sell their products or components to
us at commercially reasonable prices or at all, go out of business or discontinue their relationships with
us. We may be unable to develop altemnative sources for these components. If we do not receive
critical components from our suppliers in a timely manner, we will be unable to deliver those
components to our manufacturer in a timely manner and would, therefore, be unable to mest our
prospective customers’ product delivery requirements. In addition, the sourcing from new suppliers
may result in a re-design of our DTN System, which could cause delays in the manufacturing and
delivery of our systems. In the past, we have experienced delivery delays because of lack of availability
of components or reliability lssues with components that we were purchasing. This may occur In the
future, which could cause us to fail to meet a customer’s delivery requirements and could harm our
reputation and our customer relationships and result In the breach of our customer agreements.

Our abllity to Increase our revenue will depend upon continued growth of demand by
consumers and businesses for additional network capacity.

Our future success depends on factors such as the continued growth of the intemet and internet
protocol traffic and the continuing adoption of high capacity, revenue-generating services to increase
the amount of data fransmitted over communications networks and the growth of optical
communications networks to meet the increased demand for bandwidth. If demand for such bandwidth
does not continue, or slows down, the need for increased bandwidth across networks and the market
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for optical communications network products may not continue to grow. if this growth doas not continue
or slows down, our DTN System sales would be negatively impacted.

We have experienced delays In the development and introduction of our DTN System, and any
future delays in releasing new products or In enhancements to our DTN System may harm our
business.

Since our DTN System is based on complex technology, we may experience unanticipated delays in
developing, improving, manufacturing or deploying it. Any modification to our PIC and to our DTN System
entails similar development risks. Al any given time, various enhancements to our DTN System are in the
development phase and are not yet ready for commercial manufacturing or deployment. The maturing
process from laboratory prototype to customer trials, and subsequently to general avallability, involves a
number of steps, including:

» completion of product development;

» the qualification and multiple sourcing of criticat components;

+ validation of manufacturing methods and processes;

- extensive quality assurance and reliability testing, and staffing of testing infrastructure;
+ validation of software; and

+ establishment of systems integration and systems test validation requirements.

Each of these steps, in tum, presents risks of failure, rework or delay, any one of which couid
decrease the speed and scope of product introduction and marketplace acceptance of our DTN
System, New versions of our PICs, specialized application-specific integrated circuits and intensive
software testing and validation are imporiant to the timely introduction of enhancements to our DTN
System and to our ability to enter new markets, and schadule delays are common in the final validation
phase as well as in the manufacture of specialized application-specific integrated circuits. In addition,
unexpected intellectual property disputes, failure of critical design elements, and a host of other
execution risks may delay or gven prevent the infroduction of enhancements to our DTN System. If we
do not develop and successfully introduce products in a timely manner, our compstitive position may
suffer.

We must respond to rapid technological change and comply with evolving industry standards
and requirements for our DTN System to be successful.

The optical communications equipment market is characterized by rapid technological change,
changes in customer requirements and evolving industry standards. The introduction of new
communications technologies and the emergence of new industry standards or requirements could
render our DTN System obsolete. Further, in developing our DTN Systemn, we have made, and will
continue to make, assumptions with respect to which standards or requirements will be adopted by our
customers and competitors. If the standards or requirements adopted by our prospective customers
are different from those on which we have focused our efforts, market acceptance of our DTN System
would be reduced or delayed and our business would bs harmed.

We expect our competitors to continue to improve the performance of their existing products and
to introduce new products and technologies. To be competitive, we must continue to invest significant
resources in research and developmert, sales and marketing and customer support. We may not have
sufficient resources to make these investments, we may not be able to make the technological
advances necessary to be competitive: and we may not be able to effectively sell our DTN Systemn to
targeted customers who have prior relationships with our competitors.
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If we fail to maintain effective Internal control over financial reporting in the future, the
accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected.

Assessing our processes, procedures and staffing in order to improve our internal contro! over
financial reporting is an ongoing process. For the year ending December 27, 2008, pursuant to
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, management will be required for the first time to deliver a
report that assesses the effactiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our auditors will
be required o deliver an attestation report on the operating effectiveness of, our internat control over
financial reporting beginning with the year ended December 27, 2008.

Preparing our financial statements involves a number of complex processes, many of which are
done manually and are dependent upon individual data input or review. These processes include, but
are not limited to, calculating ratable revenue, deferred revenue and inventory costs. While we
continue to automate our processes and enhance our review and detect controls to reduce the
likelihood for errors, we expect that for the foreseeable future many of our processes will remain
manually intensive.

We have a substantial effort ahead of us to implement appropriate processes, document the
system of internal control over key processes, assess their design, remediate any deficiencies
identified and test their operation. In the past, we have identified several material weaknesses in our
internat control over financial reporting. We have remediated these identified material weaknesses, but
we cannot give any assurances that all material weaknesses have been identified or that additional
material weaknesses will not be identified in the future in connection with our compliance with the
provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 beginning in the year ending
December 27, 2008. The existence of one or more material weaknesses would preclude a conclusion
by management that we maintained effective intemal contro! over financial reporting.

We cannot be certain at this time that we will be able to successfully complete the procedures,
certification and attestation requirements of Section 404 or that we or our independent registered
public accounting firm will not identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting. If we fail to comply with the requirements of Section 404 or if we or our independent
registered public accounting firm identify and report a material weakness, it may affect the refiability of
our intenal conirol over financial reporting.

if we lose key personnel or fail to attract and retain additional qualified personnel when needed,
our business may be harmed.,

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our key
management, engineering, sales and marketing, and finance personnel, many of whom would be
difficult to replace. For example, senior members of our engineering team have unique technical
experience that would be difficult to replace. We do not have long-term employment contracts or key
person life insurance covering any of our key personnel. Because our DTN System is complex, we
must hire and retain a large number of highly trained customer service and support personnel o
ensure that the deployment of our DTN System does not result in network disruption for our customers.
We believe our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to identify, attract and retain
highly skilled managenial, engineering, sales, marketing, finance and customer service and support
personnel. Competition for these individuals is intense in our industry, especially in the San Francisco
Bay Area. We may not succeed in identifying, attracting and retaining appropriate personnel. Further,
competitors and other entities have in the past attempted, and may in the future attempt, to recruit our
employees. The loss of the servicas of any of our key personnel, the inability to identify, attract or
retain qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring qualified personnel, particularly engineers and
sales personnel, could make it difficult for us to manage our business and meet key objectives, such as
timely product introductions.
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Our sales cycle can be long and unpredictable, which could result In an unexpected revenue
shortfall in any given quarter.

Our DTN System has a lengthy sales cycle, which can extend from six to twelve months and may
take even longer for larger prospective customers such as U.S. regional bell operating companiss,
intarnational postal, telephone and telegraph companies and U.S. competitive local exchange carriers.
Our prospective customers conduct significant evaluation, testing, implemsntation and acceptance
procedures before they purchase our DTN System. Wa incur substantial sales and marketing expenses
and expend significant management effort guring this time, regardless of whether we make a sale.

Because the purchase of our equipment involves substantial cost, most of our customers wait to
purchase our equipment until they are ready to deploy it in their network. As a result, it is difficult for us
to accurately predict the timing of future purchases by our customers. |n ;addition, product purchases
are frequently subject to budget constrainis, multiple approvals and unplanned administrative,
processing and other delays. If sales expected from customers for a particular quarter are not realized
in that quarter or at all, our revenue will be negatively impacted.

Our International sales and operations subject us to additional risks that may harm our
operating results.

We market, sell and service our DTN System globally. In 2007, 2006 and 2005, we derived
approximately 19%, 14% and 36%, respectively, of our revenue from customers outside of the United
States. We have sales and support personnel in numerous countries worldwide. In addition, we have a
large group of software development personnel located in Bangalore, India. We expect that significant
management attention and financial resources will be required for our international activities over the
foreseeable fulure as we enter new intemational markets. In some countries, our success will depend
in part on our ability to form relationships with local partners. Our inability to identify appropriate
partners or reach mutually satisfactory arrangements for international sales of our DTN System could
impact our ability to maintain or increase international market demand for our DTN System.

Our international operations are subject to inherent risks, and our future results could be adversely
affected by a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including:

- greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable and longer collection periods;

+ difficulties of managing and siaffing international offtces, and the increased travel,
infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated with multiple international locations;

» the impact of recessions in economies outside the United States;

+ tariff and trade barriers and other regulatory requirements or contractual limitations on our
ability to sell or develop our DTN System in certaln forelgn markets;

» certification requirements;

+ greater difficulty documenting and testing our internal controls;

» reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
« potentially adverse tax conseqjuences;

« political and economic instability;
» effects of changas in currency exchange rates; and
« service provider and govemment spending pattemns.
Intermational customers may also require that we comply with certain testing or customization of

our DTN System to conform to local standards. The product development costs to test or customize
our DTN Systam could be extensive and a material expense for us. |
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As we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our
ability to anticipate and effectively manage these and other risks associated with our international
operations. Our failure to manage any of these risks could harm our international operations and
reduce our intemational sales.

If our contract manufacturers do not perform as we expect, our business may be harmed.

Our future success will depend on our ability to have sufficient volumes of our DTN System
manufactured in a cost-effective and quality-controlled manner. We have engaged third parties to
manufacture cerain elements of our DTN System and are [n the process of qualifying non-U.S.
contract manufacturing sites. There are a number of risks associated with our dependence on contract
manufacturers, including:

+ reduced control over delivery schedules, particularly for international contract manufacturing
sites;

+ reliance on the quality assurance procedures of third parties;

« potential uncertainty regarding manufacturing yields and costs;

» potential lack of adequate capacity during periods of excess demand,

- potential uncertainty related to the use of iternational contract manufacturing sites;
+ limited warranties on components supplied to us;

+ potential misappropriation of our intellectual property; and

« potential manufacturing disruptions.

Any of these risks could impair our ability to fulfill orders. Our contract manufacturers may not be
able to meet the delivery requirements of cur customers, which could decrease customer satisfaction
and harm our DTN System sales. We do not have long-term contracts or arrangements with our
contract manufacturers that will guarantee product availability, or the continuation of particular
pricing or payment terms. If our contract manufacturers are unable or unwilling to continue
manufacturing our DTN System in required volumes or our relationship with any of our contract
manufacturers is discontinued for any reason, we would be required to identify and qualify alternative
manufacturers, which could cause us to be unable to meet our supply requirements to our customers
and result in the breach of our customer agreemsnts. Qualifying a new contract manufacturer and
commencing volume production is expensive and time-consuming and if we are required to change
or qualify a new contract manufacturer, we would likely lose sales revenue and damage our existing
customer relationships.

Any acqulsitions we make could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition and
operations.

We have made strategic acquisitions of businesses, technologies and other assets in the past.
While we have no current agreements or commitments, we may in the future acquire busingsses,
product lines or technologies. In the event of any future acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen
our competitive position or achieve our goals, or they may be viewed negatively by customers, financial
markets or investors and we could:

+ issue stock that would ditute our current stockholders’ percentage ownership;

+ incur debt and assume other liabilities; or

+ incur amortization expenses related to goodwill and other intangible assets and/or incur large
and immediate write-offs.
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Acquisitions aiso involve numerous risks, including:
= problems integrating the acquired operations, technologies or products with our own,
+ diversion of management's attention from our core business;
« assumption of unknown liabilities;
+ adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customners;
+ increased accounting compliance risk;
+ risks associated with entering new markets; and
« potential loss of key employees.

Wao may not be able te successfully integrate any businesses, products, technologies or personnel
that we might acquire in the future. Our failure to do so could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results.

Our investments in adjustable rate securities are subject to risks which may cause losses and
affect the liquidity of these investments.

As of February 15, 2008, we held $75.7 million of municipal notes investments, classified as short-
tarm investments, with an auclion resel feature (*adjustable rate securities™) whose underlying assets
were in student loans and which had a AAA credit rating. Auctions for some of these adjustable rate
securities have failed and there is no assurance that auctions on the remaining adjustable rate
securities in our investment portfolio will continue to succeed. An auction failure means that the parties
wishing to sell their securities could not do so. As a result, our ability to liquidate and fully recover the
carrying value of our adjustable rate securities in the near term may be limited or not exist. These
developments may result in the classification of soma or all of these securities as long-term
investments in our consolidated financial statements.

If the issuers of these adjustabie rate securities are unable to successfully close future auctions and
their credit ratings deteriorate, we may in the future be required to record an impairment charge on these
investments. We may be required to wait until market stability is restored for these instruments or until
the final maturity of the underlying notes (up to 30 years) to realize our investments’ recorded value.

Our use and reliance upon development resources in India may expose us to unanticipated
costs or liabllities.

Wae have established a development center in India and expect to continue to increase hiring of
personnel for this facility. There is no assurance that our reliance upon development resourcas in India
will enable us to achieve meaningful cost reductions or greater resource efficiency. Further, our
developmeni efforts and other operations in India involve significant risks. including:

- difficulty hiring and retaining appropriate engineering resources due to intense competition for
such resources and resulting wage inflation;

+ the knowledge transfer related to our technology and exposure to misappropriation of
intellectual property or confidential information, including information that is propristary to us,
our customers and other third parties;

« heightened exposure to changes in the economic, security and political conditions of India;

« fluctuation in currency exchange rates and tax risks associated with intemational operations;
and

+ development effarts that do not meet our requirements because of tanguage, culturat or cther
differences associated with intemational operations, resulting in errors or delays.
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Difficulties resulting from the factors above and other risks related to our operations in India could
expose us to increased expense, impair our development efforts, harm our competitive position and
damage aur reputation.

Unforeseen health, safety and environmental costs could harm our business.

Our manufacturing operations use substances that are regulated by various federal, state and
international taws governing health, safety and the environment. If we experience a problem with these
substances, it could cause an interruption or delay in our manufacturing operations or could cause us
to incur liabilities for any costs related to health, safety or environmental remediation. We could also be
subject to liability if we do not handle these substances in compliance with safety standards for storage
and transportation and applicable laws. If we experience a problem or fail to comply with such safety
standards, our business, financial condition and operating results may be harmed.

Woe incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is
required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we incur legal, accounting and other compliance expenses including with
respect to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as well as rules subseguently implemented by the SEC and
the NASDAQ Stock Market. For example, the listing requirements of the NASDAQ Global Market
require that we satisfy certain corporate governance requirements refating to independent directors,
audit committees, distribution of annual and interim reports, stockholder meetings, stockholder
approvals, solicitation of proxies, conflicts of inlerest, stockholder voting rights and codes of conduct.
Our management and ather personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to these
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial
compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. These rules and
regulations alsc make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our
board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers.

In addition, U.S. securities laws require, among other things, that we maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting ang disclosure controls and procedures. In particular, for the year
ending December 27, 2008, we must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our
intemnal control over financial reporting to allow management and our independent registered public
accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required
by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the subsequent testing by our independent
registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting
that are deemed to be material weaknesses. Our compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur
substantial accounting expense and expend significant management time on compliance-related
issues. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner,
or if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal control
over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock
could decline and wa could be subject to potential delisting by the NASDAQ Stock Market and review
by the NASDAQ Stock Market, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional
financial and management resources.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject us to liabiiity or
impair our abillty to compete in international markets.

Wa are subject to export control laws that limit which products we selt and where and to whom we
sell our DTN System. In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain technologies and
have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute cur DTN System or could limit our customers’
ability to implement our DTN System in those countries. Changes in our DTN System or changes in
export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our DTN System in international
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markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our DTN System
throughout their global systems or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our DTN System to
certain countries altogether. Any change in export or import regulations or related legislation, shift in
approach to the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries, persons or
technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our DTN System by, orin
our decreased ability to export or sell our DTN System to, existing or potential customers with
international operations. For example, we need to comply with Waste from Electrical and Electronic
Equipment and Restriction of Hazardous Substances laws, which have been adopted by certain
European Economic Area countries on a country-by-country basis. Failure to comply with these and
similar Jaws on a timely basis, or at alf, decreased use of our DTN System or any limitation on our
ability to export or sell our products would adversely affect cur business, financial condition and
operating results.

If we need additional capital in the future, it may not be available to us on favorable terms, or
at all.

QOur business requires significant capital. We have historically relied on significant outside
financing as well as cash flow from operations to fund our operations, capital expenditures and
expansion. We may require additicnal capital from equity or debt financings in the future to fund our
operations or respond to competitive pressures or strategic oppertunities in the event that we continue
to incur significant losses or otherwise. We may not be able to secure timely additional financing on
favorable terms, or at all. The terms of any additional financing may place limits on our financial and
operating flexibility. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity, convertible debt
securities or other securities convertible into equity, our existing stockholders could suffer dilution in
their percentage ownership of our company, and any new securities we issue could have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. if we are unable 10 obtain
adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, if and when we require it, our ability to
grow or support our business and to respond to business challenges could be limited and our business
will be harmed.

We are subject to government regulations that could adversely Impact our business.

The Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, has jurisdiction over the entire U.S,
communications industry and, as a result, our DTN System and our North American customers are
subject to FCC rules and regulations. Current and future FCC reguiations affecting communications
services, our DTN System or our customers' businesses could negatively affect our business. In
addition, international regulatory standards coutd impair our ability to develop products for international
customers in the future. Delays caused by our compliance with regulatory requirements could result in
postponements or canceliations of product orders. Further, we may not be successful in obtaining or
maintaining any regulatory approvals ihat may, in the future, be required to operate our business. Any
failure to obtain such approvals could harm our business and operating results.

Natural disasters, terrorist attacks or other catastrophic events could harm our operations.

Our headquarters and the majority of our infrastructure, including our PIC manufacturing facility, is
located in Northern California, an area that is susceptible to earthquakes and other natural disasters.
Further, a terrorist attack aimed at Northern Cailifornia or at our nation's energy or telecommunications
infrastructure could hinder or delay the development and safe of our DTN System. In the event that an
earthquake, terrorist attack or other catastrophe were to dastroy any part of our facilities, or certain of
our contract manufacturers’ facilities, destroy or disrupt vital infrastructure systems or interrupt our
operations for any extended period of time, our business, financial condition and operating results
would be harmed.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and is likely to be volatile in the
future.

The trading prices of our common stock and the securities of other technology companies have
been and may continue to be highly volatile. Further, our common stock has limited prior trading
history. Factors affecting the trading price of our common stock will include:

« variations in our operating results;

+ announcements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements,
strategic alliances or agreements by us or by our competitors;

 the gain or foss of customers;
« recruitment or departure of key personnel;

» changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any
securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock;

= market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a
whole; and

+ adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to our
business.

In addition, if the market for technology stacks or the stock market in general experiences loss of
investor confidence, the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our
business, financial condition or operating results. The trading price of our common stock might also
decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not
directly affect us. Each of these factors, among others, could harm the value of your investment in our
commen stock. Some companies that have had volatile market prices for their securities have had
securities class action lawsuits filed against them. If a suit were filed against us, regardless of its merits
or outcome, it could result in substantial costs and divert management's attention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish misteading or unfavorable
research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that
securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. If no or few securities or industry
analysts cover our company, the trading price for our stock would be negatively impacted. If one or
mare of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes misleading or unfavorable
research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts
ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could
decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage, delay
or pravent a change In control of our company and may affect the trading price of our common
stock.

Woe are a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General
Comoration Law, which apply to us, may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by
prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of
three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be
beneficial to our existing stockholders. n addition, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our
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management or control over us that slockholders may consider favorable. Qur amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws:

= authorize the issuance of *blank check” convertible preferred stock that could be issued by
our board of directors to thwart a takeover attempt;

+ @stablish a classifled board of directors, as a rasult of which the succassors to the directors
whose tarms have expired will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification
until the third annual meeting following their elaction;

+ require that directors only be removed from office for cause and only upon a supermajority
stockholder vote;

- provide that vacancies on the board of directors, including newly-created directorships, may
be filled only by a majority vote of directors then in office rather than by stockholders;

- prevent stockholders from calling special meetings; and

+ prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all actions to be taken at a meeting of
the stockholders.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM2. PROPERTIES

in Sunnyvate, California, we lease approximately 120,000 square feet of office and manufacturing
space pursuant to leases that expire between 2007 and 2013. We lease approximately 38,500 square
fest of office and manufacturing space in Annapolis Junction, Maryland and 25,000 square feet in
Allentown, Pennsylvania pursuant to laases that expire in 2012, and 2009, respectively. internationally,
we lease sales office space in China, Hong Kong, Japan, United Kingdom and Korea that expire
between 2007 and 2012. We also have two leases in India for approximately 40,000 square feet used
for research and development that expire in 2010 and 2011. We intend {o add new facilities and to
expand existing facilities as we add employees, and we believe that suitable additional or substitute
space will be available as needed to accommodate any such expansion of our operations.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On May 9, 2008, we and Level 3 were sued by Cheetah Omni LLC, or Cheetah, in the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas Texarkana Division for alleged infringement of patent
No. 6,795,605, and a continuation thereof. On May 16, 2006, Cheetah filed an amended complaint,
which requested an order to enjoin the sale of our DTN System and to recover all damages caused by
the alleged willful infringement including any and all compensatory damages available by law, such as
actual and punitive damages, attorneys' fees, associated interest and Cheetah's costs incurred in the
lawsuit, Cheetah’s complaint does not request a specific doilar amount for these compensatory
damages. We are contractually obligated to indemnify Level 3 for damages suffered by Level 3 to the
extent its product is found to infringe, and it has assumed the defense of this matter. On July 20, 2006,
we and Level 3 filed an amended response denying all infringement ctaims under patent No. 6,795,605
and asserting that the claims of the patent are invalid and that the DTN System does not infringe the
patent. On November 28, 2006, Cheetah filed a second amended complaint and added patent
No. 7,142,347 to the lawsuit. On December 18, 2006, we and Level 3 filed responses to Cheetah's
second amended complaint denying all infringement claims under patent No. 7,142,347 and wa and
Level 3 asserted counterclaims against Cheetah asserting that the claims are invalid and that the DTN
System does not infringe the patents.
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On January 30, 2007, Cheetah filed a third amended complaint adding additionat asserlions of
infringement for the two patents in suit. On February 16, 2007, we and Level 3 filed responses to
Cheetah’s third amended complaint denying all Infringement claims, and we and Level 3 asserted
counterclaims against Cheetah asserting that the claims of the patents are invalid and that the DTN
System does not infringe the patents,

On March 14, 2007, we submitted requests to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for Inter
partes reexamination of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,795,605 and 7,142,347 asking the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office to reexamine the patents based on prior art in order to invalidate the patents or limit
the scope of each patent’s claims. On March 21, 2007, we and Leval 3 filed a motion with the court to
stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending the reexamination of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,795,605 and
7,142,347,

On April 11, 2007, we, Level 3 and Cheetanh filed a joint motion with the court, agreeing to the
following: {1) to stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending a determination by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office as to whether it will reexamine U.S. Patent Nos. 6,795,605 and 7,142,347; and (2) if
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office decides to reexamine either U.S. Patent No. 6,785,605 or
7,142,347, to stay all procsedings in the lawsuit pending final resolution of the reexamination(s) by the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. On April 12, 2007, the court granted the motion staying all
proceedings in the lawsuit. On June 26, 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office ordered
reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 6,795, 605. On August 1, 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office ordered reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 7,142,347. As a result, all proceedings in this lawsuit
are stayed until the final resolution of these reexaminations. We believe the suit is without merit and
intend to defend ourselves vigorously, but we are unable to predict the likelihood of an unfavorable
outcome.

In addition to the matters described above, we are subject to various legal proceedings, claims
and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these matters is currently
not determinable, we do not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will have a material
effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.
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PART Il

ITEMS5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “INFN" since it
began trading on June 7, 2007. Our initial public offering was priced at $13.00 per share on June 6,
2007. The following table sets forth, for the time periods indicated, the high and low sales prices of our
common stock as reporied on the NASDAQ Global Market.

Righ Low
Second Quarter 2007 (fromJune 7,2007) ......... o iivnnnnnnenn, $30.00 $16.00
Third QUANET 2007 ...ttt et e e e e $25.98 $16.52
Fourth QUanter 2007 ... . it i e et in s tar e tinaas $27.12 $13.82

As of February 6, 2008, there were 791 registered holders of record of Infinera’s common stock. A
substantially greater number of holders of Infinera common stock are “strest name” or beneficial
holders, whose shares are held by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain all
available funds and any future earnings to support the operation of and to finance the growth and
development of our business. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general
business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.




STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the cumulative 7-month total retum provided stockholders on
Infinera Corporation’s common slock relative to the cumulative total retums of the NASDAQ Composite
index and the NASDAQ Telecommunications index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all
dividends) is assumed to have been made in our common stock and in each of the indexes on June 7,
2007, the first day of trading of our common stock and its relative performance is tracked through
December 31, 2007. The NASDAQ Telecommunications Index contains securities of NASDAQ-listed
companies classified according to the Industry Classification Benchmark as Telecommunications and
Telecommunications Equipment. They include providers of fixed-line and mobile telephone services,
and makers and distributors of high-technology communication products. This graph is not deemed to
be “fited” with the SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchangs Act of 1934,
and the graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference Into any prior or subsequent filing
by infinera under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act.

COMPARISON OF T MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Based upon an initial investment of $100 on June 7, 2007, the first day of trading of our common stock
with dividends reinvested

$140 -

$120 4

.....

6/07 87 77 o7 807 10007 11/07 12707

w5 Infinera Corp. — -A— NASDAQ Composite - - O - -NASDAQ Tetecommunications

* $100 invested on June 7, 2007 in stock or May 31, 2007 in index-including reinvestment of
dividends.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the foliowing selected consolidated historical financial data below in conjunction
with the section titted “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the consolidated financial statements, related notes and other financial information
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected financia) data in this section is
not intended to replace the financial statements and is qualified in its entirety by the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Repert on Form 10-K.

We derived the statements of operations and cash flow data for the years ended December 29,
2007, December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 and the balance sheet data as of December 29,
2007 and December 31, 2006 from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes,
which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We derived the statements of
operations and cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 and
the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 from
our audited consolidated financia! statements and related notes which are not included in this Annual
Repont. We have not declared or distributed any cash dividends. Additionally, our historical results are
not necessarily indicative of the results that should be expected in the fulure.

Yoar Ended
December 29, Yoars Ended December 3,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2002

(In thousands, except par share data)
Statements of Operations Data:

Revenus:
Ratable product and related support and services .... $237,745 $52978 $ 4127 § — § —
Product . . oo r i e et B,107 5258 —_ 599 —_
TOLBI FBVENUB ... v v nannrerareeeassinns 245,852 58,236 4127 599 —_—

Cost of revenue:
Cost of retable product and related suppont and

BOIVICOS ...ttt it 152,859 48,072 17,759 —_ —_
Lower of cost or market adjustment ................ 12,313 21,693 9,696 1,587 _
Costofproduct .........ccoviinrnrian it 4,091 1,660 - 5,653 —

Totalcostofrevenue .............cevivvevnns 169,263 71425 27,455 7,240 —_
Gross proft {IoSS) ... ..o 76,589 (13,189) (23,328) (6,641) -
Operating expenses:
Salesandmarketing ............... .00 e 32,724 20,682 11,053 8,294 1,680
Researchanddevelopment .................0v0ne- 60,851 38,967 ' 24988 46306 41951
General and administrative .......... o ciiiiiae 25,965 12,650 4,328 2,688 4,587
Amortization of intangible assets ................... 148 56 - - —_
Total Operating expenses ............c.o.oeeuns 119,685 72,355 40,367 57,488 48,218
LoSS from Operstions ..........ceveniennroneeanernines (43,096) (85,544) (63,695) (64,129) (48,218)
Other Income (expense}, Nt . ... .. ..o iverieninnns (11,978) (4,319) (2,256) (2,351) (2,013)
Loss before provision of income taxes and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle ............... (55.074) (89,863) (65951) (66,480) (50.231)
Provision forincometaxes .. .......... oo iiiiinianan 268 72 12 —_ —
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting
PIRGIPIE ..o e e s (55,342) (89,935) {65.963) (66,480) (50,231)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ....... —_ - (1,137) - -
NBLIOSS ...ttt i e $(55,342)  $(89,935) $(64,826) $(66.480) $(50,231)
Net loss per common share, basicand diluted ........... $ (1.09) $ (1490) $ (14.08) § (17.94) $ (19.61)
Weighted average number of shares used in computing
basic and diluted net loss per common share .......... 50,732 8,038 4,605 3,705 2,561




Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and shost and long-term

investments ...................
Working capital ,.................
Totalassets . .........cooovnnnns.
Current and long-term debt ... ... ..
Convertible preferred stock ........

.................

Common and additional paidin-capital ...............

Stockhokiars’ equity (deficit) .......

Cash Flow Data:

.................

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities .........
Cash provided by (used in) investing activilies .........

Cash provided by financing activities

D::z:‘:ib"':f‘z%' Yoars Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2005 2004 2003

{In thousands, except per share dats)

$302493 § 29,572 § 37,112 $40,017 §$54244
237,590 2218 20578 37,665 43,976
529188 230466 100,912 69,514 75441
- 28,382 23773 6359 10,256

— 320,650 247,147 207,315 151,865
663,962 7,920 3520 2979 2095
204,574  (306,321) (220,710) (156,471) (91,200)

$ 23058 § (67.775) $ (56449) $(62,222) $(43,727)
{230,268) (18,069) 29,451 9,283 (4,892)
269,478 78,780 58,059 51,608 53,573
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ITEM?7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” that involve risks and
uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such
forward-looking staterments include any expectation of samings, revenues or other financial items; any
statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations, factors that
may affect our operating results; statements concemning new products or services, statements related
to future capital expenditures; statements related to future economic conditions or performance;
statements related to the timing of achieving vendor specific objective evidence; statements as to
industry trends and other matters that do not relate strictly to historical facts or statements of
assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These statements are often identified by the use of words
such as “anticipate,” “beliave,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” ‘intend,” "may,” or *will,” and
similar expressions or variations. These statements are based on the bueliefs and assumptions of our
management based on information currently available to management. Such forward-looking
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results and the
timing of certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not
limited to, those identified below, and those discussed in the section titted “Risk Factors” included in
item 1A of Part | of this annual report on Form 10-K. You should review these risk factors for a more
complete understanding of the risks associated with an investmant in our securities. We undertake no
obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements. The following discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with our “Selected Consolidated Financial Data" and consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto Included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We were founded in December 2000. Our objective is to change the economics, operating
simplicity, flexibility, refiability and scalability of optical communications networks. At the core of our
Digital Optical Network architecture is what we believe to be the world’s only commercially-deployed,
large-scale Photonic Integrated Circuit, or PIC. Qur PiCs transmit and receive 100 Gbps of optical
capacity and Incorporate the functionality of over 60 discrete optical components into a pair of indium
phosphide chips. We have used our PIC technology to design a new digital optical communications
system called the DTN System, which is architected to improve significantly communications service
providers’ economics and service offerings as compared to traditional systems.

We began commercial shipment of our DTN System in November 2004. As of Dacember 29,
2007, we had sold our DTN System for deployment in the optical networks of 41 customers worldwide,
including telecommunications carriers, cable operators, Intemet service providers and others. Our goal
is to be a leading provider of optical communications systems to communications service providers.
Our revenue growth will depend on the continued acceptance of our DTN System, growth of
communications traffic and the proliferation of next-generation bandwidth-intensive services, which are
expected to drive the need for increased levels of bandwidth. Our ability to increase revenue and
achiave profitability will be directly affected by the leve! of acceptance of our products in the tong-haul
and metro markets and by our ability to cost-effectively develop and sell innovative products that
leverage our technology advantages. ‘

In June 2007, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, of common stock in which we sold
and issued 16.1 million shares of our common stock, including 2.1 million shares sold by us pursuant
to the underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of $13.00 per share.
We raised a total of $209.3 million in gross proceeds from the IPO, or $190.1 million in net proceeds
after deducting underwriting discounts of $14.7 million and other offering costs of $4.5 million. In
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November 2007, we completed a follow-on offering of our common stock in an underwritten secondary
public offaring in which we sold and issued 5.0 million shares of our common stock, at an issue price of
$22.00 per share. We raised a total of $110.0 million in gross proceeds, or approximately $104.0
million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts of $5.2 million and other offering costs of
approximately $0.8 million. Additionally, 5.0 million shares were sold by existing stockholders of the
Company at a price of $22.00 per share. We did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the
shares sold by the selling stockholders.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses, and as of December 28, 2007 we had an
accumulated deficit of $369.4 million. We have not achieved profitability on a quarterly or annual basis,
notwithstanding the profitability of the underlying invoiced shipments, reftecting our requirement to
defer significant amounts of revenue and margin as we had not established vendor specific objective
evidence (VSOE) of fair value for our service offerings as of December 29, 2007. In the first quarter of
2008, we established VSOE for our software subscription services, which will allow us to recognize
increased revenue from invoiced shipments in the period in which they occur. We expect the earlier
recognition of revenue from current period invoiced shipments and the recognition of significant
amounts of revenue and margin deferred from prior periods 1o result in the achievement of profitability
in the first quarter of 2008. Our ability to sustain this profitability in the future will be affected by future
revenue and margin levels and any additional expenses that we incur to expand our manufacturing
capacity, sales, markeling, development and general and administrative capabilities in order to grow
our business. The largest component of our expenses is personnel costs. Personnel costs consist of
salaries, benefits and incentive compensation for our employees, including commissions for sales
personnel and stock-based compensation for all employees.

We primarily selt our products through our direct sales force, with a small portion sold indirectly
through resellers. We derived 97% of our revenue from direct sales to customers in the year ended
December 29, 2007 and 98% in the year ended December 31, 2006. We expect to continue generating
a majority of our revenue from direct sales in the future.

We are headquartered in Sunnyvale, California, with employees located throughout the United
States, Europe and the Asia Pacific region. We expect to continue to add personnel in the United
States, and internationally to provide additional geographic sales and technical support coverage.

We have experienced significant revenue growth over the last two years and expect to see
continued revenue growth into the future. Revenue growth will be direclly impacied by underlying
growth in invoiced shipments. Although we expect growth in invoiced shipments to continue on a year-
over-year basis, the quarier-over-quarter growth may be impacted by several factors including the
timing of large product deployments, acquisitions of new customers and general market conditions.
Therefore, the quarter-over-quarter revenue growth could be somewhat volatile and growth may not
always occur in a linear manner. In addition, the rate at which we recognize revenue is directly
impacted by our ability to establish VSOE, or fair value for training and software warranty or product
support services. Starting in the first quarter of 2008, due to the attainment of VSOE on software
subscription services, we expect that an increased portion of our shipments will be recognized as
product revenue at the time of invoice. In addition, the average ravenue deferral period for shipments
of bundled products and services will be reduced to approximately 30-45 days as compared to 14
months in the fourth quarter of 2007. This wilt result in a significant increase in the amount of ratable
revenue recognized in 2008 along with a reduction in additions to deferred revenue and an ongoing
reduction in the deferred revenue balance throughout 2008. This increase in the recognition of revenue
from the current period, combined with the expected recognition of $167 million of deferred revenue
from prior periods, will result in elevated revenue in 2008. We expect revenues in 2009 and future
periods to more closely approximate the underlying invoiced shipment [evels for those periods.
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We continue to work to establish VSOE for our installation, deployment and training services. Until
that is achieved, shipments where these services are undefivered at the time of invoice will continus to
be deferred and recognized ralably until these services are delivered, at which point the remaining
revenue is recognized. The requirement to complete the delivery of these services prior to recognition
of the remainder of the revenue may contribute to volatile and unpredictable operating results.

As described below, we had $92.8 million of deferred margin, as calculated by the sum of short and
long-term deferred revenue less the sum of short and long-term deferred inventory costs on our balance
sheet at December 29, 2007. We expect $88.7 million of this deferred margin to be recognized in 2008
and we do not expect to continue to defer significant amounts of margin from new invoiced shipments in
the future, resulting in elevated gross margins in 2008. We expect gross margins in 2009 and future
periods to more closely approximate the margin generated on the underlying invoiced shipments for
those periods. It remains difficult to predict future improvements in invoiced shipment gross margins due
to changes in product and customer mix and the timing of new customer deployments.

We will continue to make significant investments in the business, and management believes that
operating expenses will average betvieen 38% and 40% of invoiced shipments in future periods.

Overview of Consolidated Financiat Data
Revenue

We derive our revenue from sales of our products, support and services. Our revenue is
comprised of two components: (1) ratable product and related support and services revenue, or ratable
revenue, and (2) product revenue. Our DTN System is integrated with software that is more than
incidental to the functionality of our equipment. We refer to the integration of our DTN System with our
software and related support and services as a bundled product. Revenue related to these bundled
products, which is ratable revenue, is the portion of our total revenue that we recognize pursuant to
Statement of Position No. 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9,
“Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain Transactions,” or
SOP 97-2. Product revenue consists of sales of products that are sold without related services and,
therefore, is not recognized ratably in accordance with SOP 97-2.

The following table illustrates our revenue for the specified periods:

Yoar Year
Three Months Ended 2006 (E"99d Throo Monthe Ended 2007 pnd%d
Revenue Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 200 " ‘Mar. 31 Jun, 30 Sept. 29 Dec. 29 2007
{In thousands) (Unaudited) {Unaudited)
Ratable revenue ,....... $2,653 $4.054 $6,118 $40,153 $52,978 345,047 $54,411 $62,130 $75257 $237,745
Product revenue ........ - 1,578 3680 5258 3,245 4,005 25 832 8,107
Totalrevenue _......... $2,653 $4,054 $7,696 $43.833 $56,236 $49,192 $58,416 $62,155 $76,089 $245,852

Ratable Revenue. Substantially all of our sales arrangements consist of product sales bundled
with training and product support services. Product support services consist of software warranty,
updates and unspecified upgrades and product support. As of Decamber 28, 2007, we had not
established VSOE of fair value for software warranty or product support services and training. All
revenue for these bundled products is therefore deferred and recognized ratably over the longest
undelivered service period. In order to establish VSOE, we must have a history of selling our training
and product support services separately at a consistent price. Once we hava a sufficiently consistent
transactional history to establish VSOE for training, software warranty and product support services,
we will be able to recognize revenue up front for new custoemer orders once all of the following have
occurred: (1) we have entered into a legally binding arrangement with a customer; (2) delivery and
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acceptance have occurred, which is when product title and risk of loss has transferred to the customer,
(3) customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable; and (4} collectibility is reasonably assured.
Revenue for then existing customer orders will continue to be recognized over the applicable revenue
recognition period.

Historically, our sales arrangements have included rights to software warranty services for a
period of one to five years. This warranty obligation typically represented the longest undelivered
service period and resulted in straight-line recognition of revenue over the warranty period. This
average period over which the deferred revenue balance at the end of the third quarter of 2006 would
be amortized to revenue was 3.7 years. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we amended three of our
significant sales contracts to shorten our contractual software warranty period to between 90 days and
one year, which we believe is more typical in our industry. We have amended, and may continue to
amend, other existing contracts to shorten the software warranty period and expect the software
warranty period in future contracts generally to be within this range. This contractual change in the
software warranty period resulted in the reduction in the revenue recognition period of these contracts
and in each case shortened the period to one year. These contractual changes also shortened the
average recognition period for ratable revenue to 1.3 years in the fourth quarter of 2006. As discussed
above, we expect that our average recognition period for ratable revenue will be significantly reduced
in the first quarter of 2008 due to the attainment of VSOE for software subscription services. We
expect that this average recognition period will continue to fluctuate based on the terms of existing and
future customer contracts and our customer mix until we establish VSOE for the remaining contract
service elements.

The ratable revenus that is recognized in each quarter includes a ratable portion recognized from
deferred revenue of prior invoiced shipments of bundled products together with a ratable portion of
each new invoiced shipment of bundled products in that quarter. Invoiced shipments of bundled
products represent sales of our DTN System and services delivered and accepted by the customer for
which payment will be made in accordance with normal payment terms, but for which VSOE has not
been established. Shipments of bundied products are invoiced when al! products ordered on a
purchase order have been shipped and the relevant customer acceptance criteria have been satisfied.
Customer acceptance periods averaged 18 days in the fourth quarter of 2007. Invoiced shipments of
bundled products are amortized and recognized as revenue over the longest undelivered service
pericd in each customer contract,

Product Revenue. Revenue for products that does not require significant customization, and with
respect to which any software is considered incidental, is recognized under Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104, *Revenue Recognition,” or SAB 104. Under SAB 104, revenue is recognized only when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,
the fee is fixed or determinable and collactibility is reasonably assured. Additionally, a small portion of
our sales arrangement consist of product sales net bundled with product support services and
therefore recognized upfront in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97-2, “Software Revenue
Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,
with Respect to Certain Transaction." when all of the following have occurred: {1) we have entered into
a legally binding arrangement with a customer; (2) delivery has occurred, which is when product title
and risk of loss have transferred to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or ,
determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized net of cash discounts. .
Revenue related to these arrangements is included in product revenue in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. As discussed above, following the attainment of VSOE of fair
value for software subscription services in the first quarter of 2008, we expect future product revenue
to increase due to the inclusion of product revenue from sales of bundled products where software
subscription is the only undelivered element.
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Defarred Revenue

Only a small amount of our invoiced shipments of bundled products within a quarter are
recognized as revenue in such quarter and the majority is recorded as deferred revenue. Deferred
revenue increases each quarter by the amount of invoiced shipments of bundled products in that
quarter and decreases by the amount of ratable revenue recognized from invoiced shipments of
bundled products.

The following table illustrates the changes in deferred revenue for the specified periods:

Year Year
Three Months Ended 2006 nded Three Months Ended 2007 nded
Deforrod Revenue  War, 31 Jum. 30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 2006 Mar.31 Jun.30 Sept 29 Dec.29 2007 |
(in thousands} {Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Beginning
balance........ $23,200 $34,349 $49,977 $ B4,284 $ 23,200 $110,953 $128,420 $138,855 $157,150 $110,953
Invoiced shipments
of bundled
products ....... 13,802 19,682 40425 66,822 140,731 63,414 64548 80,325 92,544 301,229

Ratable revenue .. (2,653) (4,054) (6,118) (40,153) (52,878) (45847) (54,411) (62,130) (75,257) (237.745)
Ending balance . .. $34,349 $49.977 $84,284 §110,953 $110,953 $128,420 $138,955 $157,150 $174,437 $174.437

In 2007, we recorded $301.2 million of invoiced shipments of bundled products, recognized $237.7
million of revenue and added $63.5 million to the deferred revenue balance. In 2006, we recorded
$140.7 million of invoiced shipments of bundled products, recognized $53.0 million of revenue and
added $87.8 million to the deferred revenue balance.

The growth in invoiced shipments from 2006 to 2007 is due primarily to increased shipments to
existing customers and the addition of a significant number of new customers. The growth in revenue
reflects this increase in invoiced shiprnents and a shortening of the average revenue recognition period
for ratable revenue due to the amendment of historical contracts in the fourth quarter of 2006 as
discussed above and the negotiation of shorter wamranty and service periods in new contracts.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenus is comprised of three components: cost of ratable revenue, lower of cost or
market adjustment and cost of product revenus.

The following table ilustrates our cost of revenue for the specified periods:

Yoar Yoar
Three Months Ended 2008 &1‘_’3‘1" Throe Months Ended 2007 nic"d?é
Cost of Revenue Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 2006 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 29 Dec.290 2007
{In thousands) (Unaudited) {Unaudited)

Cost of ratable revenue .. ... 35485 $4,488 § 7.967 $30,132 $48,072 $34,843 $37,529 $37,620 $42,867 $152,859
Lower of cost or

market adjustment . ...... 4325 3647 4,972 9,539 21693 1067 2218 3,184 5843 12,313
Cost of procduct revenue . ... - - 311 1,349 1,660 1,363 2488 18 222 4,091
Total cost of revenue ....... $9.810 $8,145 §$12,450 $41,020 $71.425 $37,273 $42,236 $40,822 $48,932 $169,263

Cost of Ratable Revenue and Lower of Cost or Market Adjustment. Cost of ratable revenue
consists primarily of the costs of manufacturing our network equipment, including personnel costs,
stock-based compensation, raw materials, overhead and period costs. Period costs consist primarily of
shipping fees, logistics costs, manufacturing ramp-up costs, expenses for inventory obsolescence and
warranty obligations.
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Certain manufacturing costs are recognized in the period in which they are incurred or can be
estimated, including period costs and losses associated with products which are sold or anticipated to
be sold at a loss. The initial deployment of our DTN System at a customer involves the installation of
common equipment, including a chassis, optical line amplifiers and related equipment. This common
equipment is typically sold at low or negative gross margins. When we sell equipment at a loss, the
losses are recognized in the period in which they are incurred or are reasonably estimatable. We refer
to this loss as a lower of cost or market adjustment, or LCM adjustment. In 2007, our LCM adjustment
was $12.3 million. In addition, we recorded inventory write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory in
2007 of $5.0 million reflected as cost of ratable product and related support and services and cost of
product. The remainder of our cost of ratable revenue is recorded as deferred costs of invoiced
shipments of bundled products and is recognized in the same period as the corresponding revenue.

Cost of Product Revenue. Cost of product revenue consists primarily of the costs of manufacturing
network components, such as personnel costs, raw materials and application of overhead.

Deferred Inventory Cost
Deferred inventory cost increases by the cost of invoiced shipments of bundled products in a

period and decreases as cost of ratable revenue is amortized in that period.

The following table Illustrates the increases in our deferred inventory cost for the specified periods:

Year Yoar
Three Months Ended 2006 [Ended Three Months Ended 2007 Do,

Deferred Inventory Cost Mar.31 Jun.30 Sept.30 Dec.31 2006 " "Mar.31 Jun.30 Sopt. 20 Doc.29 2007
{In thousands) {Unaudited) {Unaudited)
Beginning balance ....... $16,687 $28,548 $35,038 $55,612 $16,687 $67,253 $73,458 $74,706 $79,887 $67,253
Defsmred cost of invoiced

shipments of bundled

products .............. 11,880 11,298 24,442 36,986 B6,606 33,164 32,800 38,830 39,580 144,374
Amortization to cost of

ratable ravenue ........ (2,019) (2,808) (3,868) (27.345) (36,040) (26,959) (31.552) (33,849) (37,845)(130,005)
Ending balance .......... $26,548 $35,038 $55,612 $67,253 $67,253 $73,458 $74,706 $79,887 $81.622 $81.622
Gross Margin

Gross margins have been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including the
product mix, average selling prices of our products, the sale of additional support and sarvices, new
product introductions and enhancements, the cost of our hardware and software products, the amount
of revenue that is recognized ratably, the period over which our revenue is recognized ratably and the
amount of common equipment sold at a loss causing an LCM adjustment.

To satisfy our customers’ requirement of transmitting optical signals, our customers must purchase
a combination of common equipment and some limited number of DLMs, TAMs and TOMs. If a
customer wishes to add capacity to our DTN System after their initial deployment to satisfy their
additional demands, they may purchase additional DLMs, TAMs and TOMs. When a customer wishes
to expand the reach of the DTN System or deploy another DTN System on a route on which the
customer has reached the maximum capacity for its existing DTN System, they may purchase a
combination of additional common equipment and additional DLMs, TAMs and TOMs. Pricing for
optical communications systems, such as our DTN System, is very competitive and we must often
respond 1o these competitive pressures by decreasing the initial purchase price of our product. Asa
result of these competitive pressures and In order to gain new customers, our common equipment is
typically sold at low margins or at a joss. Our DLMs, TAMs or TOMs are typically sold at higher gross
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margins, These higher margin sales positively impact overall gross margin over the ratable revenue
recognition period.

The following table illustrates our gross margin for the specified periods:

Year Yeour
Threa Months Ended 2008 ﬂfg‘} Three Months Ended 2007 D'i';d;‘;

Gross Margin Mar. 31 Jun.30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 2006  Mar.31 Jun.30 Sept 29 Dec.20 2007
(in thousands) {Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Totalrevenue .... $2653 $4,054 $ 7696 $43,833 $ 58,236 340,192 $58416 $62,155 §$76,089 $245,852
Costofrevenue ... 9,810 8,145 12450 41,020 71,425 37273 42235 40822 48,932 169,263
Gross proflt

(loss) ......... $(7,157) $(4,091) ${4,754) § 2,813 $(13,189) $11,919 $16,180 $21,333 $27,157 $ 76,589
Gross margin . . . . . 270%  -101%  -62% 6%  -23%  24%  28%  34%  I6% 31%

The improved gross margin for the year ended December 29, 2007 compared to the corresponding
period of 2006 reflects the impact of the recognition of $39.2 million of deferred gross margin related to
invoiced shipments in prior periods. In addition, although we continued to sell common equipment at low
or negative margins, we experienced & reduction in LCM adjustments of $9.4 million for the year ended
December 29, 2007 compared to 2006. This was primarily due to lower costs because of product design
changes and transitions to a number of lower cost components. We also achieved other reductions in a
number of our component costs during the period. These cost improvements were primarily offset by an
increase in our warranty expense due to higher than expected costs of replacing defective products
primarily due to reduced usage of lower cost repaired units in the repair process.

The prices paid for our DTN System vary by customer. In addition, the quantity of DTN Systems
purchased by each of our customers varies from quarter-to-quarter depending on our customers’
needs for optical transport equipment. To the extent that a customer with lower contractual prices
purchases significant quantities of our DTN System that comprise a significant portion of the DTN
Systems we sell within a quarter, our gross margin for such quarter and for future quarters in which
that revenue is ratably recognized would be lower. In addition, substituting or adding a new customer
with a higher requirement for comimon equipment could result in an Increased inventory write-down in a
given quarter or lower gross margins in that quarter,

As of December 29, 2007, deferred revenue was $174.4 million and deferred inventory cost was
$81.6 million. We expect $88.7 million of this $92.8 million of deferred margin to be recognized in 2008
and we do not expect {0 continue to defer significant amounts of margin from new invoiced shipments
in the future, resulting in elevated gross margins in 2008. We expect gross margins in 2009 and future
periods to more closely approximate the margin generated on the underlying invoiced shipments for
those periods.

The table below, which only represents a portion of our results for the projected periods presented
and may not be Indicative of our future results, shows the expected future impact of the recognition of
these deferred amounts on our consolidated statement of operations (unaudited):

Doferred

Balance
Decetnr 29, For the Throe Months Ended 2008 Future
) 2007 Mar. 29 Jun.28  Sept. 27  Dec.27  Periods

{In thousands) ,

Revenue .................cco.oun $174,437 $66,824 $52,104 $36,389 $11,715 $7,405
Costofinventory ................. - 81,621 32,258 24,372 16,943 4,788 3,260
Grossprofit.................. o0 $ 02,816 $34,566 $27,732 $19,446 $ 6,927 $4,145
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and
administrative expenses, and are recognized as incurred. Personnel-related costs are the most
significant component of each of these expense categories. We expect personnel costs to continua 10
increase as we hire new employees to support our anticipated growth. We expect that each of the
categories of operating expenses discussed below will increase in absolute dollars, but will decline as a
percentage of total revenue over time.

Research and development expenses are the largest component of our operating expenses and
primarily include salary and related benefit costs, including stock-based compensation expense, and
facilities costs. We expense research and development expenses as incurred. We are devoting
substantial resources to the continued development of additional functionality for existing products and
the development of new products. We intend to continue to invest significantly in our research and
development efforts because we believe that they are essential to maintaining our competitive position.

Sales and marketing expenses primarily include salary and related benefit costs, including stock-
based compensation expense, sales commissions, marketing and facilities costs. Woe expect sales and
marketing expenses to increase as we hire additional personnel both in the United States and
internationally to support our expected revenue growth.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salary and related benefit costs,
including stock-based compensation expense and facilities related to our executive, finance, human
resource, information technology and legal organizations, and fees for professional services.
Professional services principally consist of outside legal, audit and information technology consulting
costs.

Other Income {expense), net

Other income (expense), net includes interest expense on short and fong-term debt, interest
income on our cash and short and long-term investment balances, loss and gains on disposal of
assets, and losses or gains on conversion of foreign currency transactions into U.S. dollars. In 2007
and 20086, other income (expense), net, also included an adjustment to record our convertible preferred
stock warrants at fair value as required by Staff Position 150-5, “Issuer's Accounting under FASB
Statement No. 150 for Fresstanding Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares That Are
Redeemable.” or FSP 150-5. In addition, if interest rates continue to decline due to current global
market conditions, we will experience reductions in future interest income from our cash and short and
long-term investment balances, assuming consistent investment levels.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally
accepted accounting principals, or GAAP. These accounting principles require us to make certain
estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of
the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the periods presented. Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include
revenue recognition, warranty reserve, cash, cash equivatents and short and long-term investments,
inventory valuation, accounting for income taxes and the determination of the fair value of stock
awards and warrants issued prior to our IPO. By their nature, these estimates and judgments are
subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. We believe that the estimates and judgments upon which
we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates and
judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual
results, our consolidated financial statements will be affected.
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We beligve the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our DTN System is generally integrated with software that is more than incidental to the
functionality of such product. Accordingly, we account for revenue in accordance with SOP 97-2. We
recognize product revenue when all of the following have occurred: (1) wa have entered into a legally
binding arangement with a customer; (2) delivery and acceptance have occurred, which is when
product title and risk of loss has transferred to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or
determinable; and {4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized net of cash discounts.

Substantially all of our product sales have been sold in combination with training and product support
services, which consist of software warranty and updates, and product support. Software updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software product upgrades and to maintenance releases and patches
released during the term of the support period. Product support services consist of software warranty,
updates and upgrades including product support. Training services include the right to a specified number
of training classes over the term of the arangement. Installation and deployment services may include
customer site assessment, equipment installation and testing. Revenue for training, installation and
deployment services, and support services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract
term, which ranges from one to five years.

VSOE of fair value for training, installation and deployment services, and product support services
is determined by reference to the price a customer is required to pay when training, instaltation and
deployment services, and product support services are sold separately. As of December 29, 2007, we
have not established VSOE of fair value for training, installation and deployment services, and product
support services, Assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met and the only
undelivered element is training, installation and deployment services or product support services,
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the longest undelivered service period. The
undelivered service periods range from one to five years. Revenue related to these arrangements is
included in ratable revenue in our consolidated statements of operations.

Occasionally, we sell our networking products to customers who do not purchase training,
installation and deployment services or product support services as part of the amangement. Revenue
related to these amrangements is generally recognized as product revenue when delivery of the product
has occurred, assuming all other revenus recognition criteria have been met. Once product delivery has
taken place, there are no remaining undelivered elements in these arrangemants.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are generally used to determine the existence of an
arrangement. Shipping documents and customer acceptance, when applicable, are used o verify
delivery and transfer of title. Revenue is recognized only when title and risk of loss passes to
customers. In instances where acceptance of the product is specified by the customer, revenue is
deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met. Wa assess whether the fee is fixed or
determinable based on the payment tarms associated with the transaction. Payment terms to
customers generally range from net 30 to 120 days from invoice. In the event payment terms are
provided that differ from our standard business practices, the fees are deemed to not be fixed or
determinable and, therefore, revenue is deferred until the fees become fixed or determinable, which we
believe is when they are legally due and payable. We assess the ability to collect from our customers
based primarity on the creditworthiness and past payment history of the customer.

Revenus for products that do not require significant customization and with regard to which any

software is considered incidental, is recognized under SAB 104. Under SAB 104, revenue is
recognized provided that persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or
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services have been rendered, the fee is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured.
Revenue related to these arrangements is included in product revenue in our statements of operations.
Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and in ratable revenue. The
related shipping costs are included in cost of product sales and cost of ratable revenue in our
consolidated statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value
method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees,” or APB No. 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 44,
*Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB No. 257
The intrinsic value represents the difference between the per share market price of the stock on the
date of grant and the per share exercise price of the respective stock option. We generally grant stock
options to employees for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the
shares at the date of grant. Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is recorded for employee
stock options granted at an exercise price equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date
of grant.

During the period from January 1, 2006 through June 6, 2007, we granted stock options with
exarcise prices as follows:

SFAS 123{R)
Number of Exerclse Valuatlon Black-Scholes
Optlons Price Por Pricr to Optlon Falr
Stock Awards Grant Dates Granted Share Grant Date alue
February 27,2006 ....................c0t. 118,322 $ 132 $ 1.04 $0.80 - $0.92
April5,2006 . ... ... ... 128,311 132 1.04 0.80-0.92
August8,2006 ..................olann 3,229,735 2.00 200 1.16-1.36
August29,2006 . ... ........ ... e 193,750 2.00 2.00 1.16- 1.36
September7,2006 ............... ...l 999,766 2.00 2.00 1.16 - 1.36
January 3,2007 ... 224,999 4.04 4.04 2.12
January 4,2007 ... .. oo 683,287 4,04 4.04 2.562-253
February7,2007 ................coovnn.e 75.000 7.68 7.68 4.04
February 12,2007 ... ........vovrennenns 103,075 7.68 7.68 4,79
April 24,2007 . ... e 158,371 10.72 10.72 6.68
June 8, 2007 ... ... e 3,479,614 13.00 13.00 9.45-6.74

(M The table reflects the valuation for two groups of employees, the executive group and the
non-executive group. The two groups have different characteristics which resulted in different
valuations on the same grant date.

We increased the estimated fair value of our common stock from January 1, 2006 through June 6,
2007, based on, amang other factors, contemporaneous valuations. If the Intemal Revenue Service
andlor certain States determine that certain of our stock options were granted at below the fair value of
our common stock on the date of grant and those stock options are not curable, the recipients of those
stock option grants could be subject to an additional deferred compensation tax under Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and we could be liable for Federal and/or State employment and income
tax withholding obligations.

In the absence of a public trading market, our Board of Directors relied in part upon
contemporaneous valuations presented by management, which utifized the enterprise value allocation
method, in order to help the board determine the value of our common stock. As pant of this enterprise
value allocation method, the value of our common stock was measured on a per share basis utilizing a

51




probability weighted scenario analysis. The common stock per share value was based on the
probability weighted average of two possible future liquidity scenarios: (1) a scenaric where an IPO is
not completed, or a no IPO liquidity scenario, and (2) a scenario where an IPO is completed, or an IPO
liquidity scenario.

In the no IPO liquidity scenario, the common stock per share value is based on the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model and represents the curent nominal value of the common stock plus its option
value for potential future increases in our value until a liquidity event. The methodology used allocated
the estimated aggregate value to each security. A value was first assigned to each series of converlible
preferred stock and then the remaining equity securities were analyzed and the remaining enterprise
value was apportioned to the remaining equity securities. The rights, preferences and privileges of
each security were considered, including the liquidation and conversion rights, and the manner in
which the value of each security affects the other securities.

in the no IPO liquidity scenario, a large proportion of our enterprise value is apportioned to our
convertible preferred stock because the aggregate liquidation preference is approximately $325.2
million and each seties of our convertible preferred stock participates with the cornmon stock up to
certain capped amounts after the paymaent of the aggregate liquidation preference.

In the IPO liquidity scenario, options and warrants are valued based sclely on the Black-Scholes
optlion-pricing model. The aggregate value related to options and warrants are subtracted from the
aggregate equity value for purposes of determining the convertible preferred stock and common stock
values on an as-if converted, per share basis, After accounting for the value of the options and
warrants, the remaining enterprise value is apportioned equally among the shares of common stock
and each series of convertible preferred stock, which causes our common stock to have a higher
relative value per share than under the ne IPQ liquidity scenario.

Our Board of Directors also considered a number of factors, in addition to the valuations, to
determine the estimated fair value of bur common stock at each grant date, including:

+ the shares of common stock underlying the options were illiquid securities in a private
company that were not readily tradable at the time of grant and that there could be no
assurance of such shares ever being readily tradable;

+ the prices at which convertible preferred stock was issued and sold to outside investors in
arm’'s-length transactions, and the rights, preferences and privileges of the convertible
preferred stock relative to the common stock;

- important developments relating to achievement of our business objeclives, including new
product launches, customer wins and growth in our revenue and invoiced shipments;

+ our stage of development and business strategy;
+ the status of our efforts to build our management team,

« the status of our efforts to increase revenue and invoiced shipments while reducing losses, as
well as our financial results;

» the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the shares of our common stock, such as an
initial public offering or sale of the company, given prevailing market conditions and
achievement of our business objectives;

» the state of the new issue market for similarly-situated technology companies; and
+ the market prices of publicly-held technology companies with similar business models.

Our Board of Directors also considered the provisions of our former Series A through G convertible
preferred stock in determining the estimated fair value of our common stock at the time of each option
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grant, including the aggregate liquidation preference of the Series A through G convertible preferred
stock of $325.2 million and the fact that in a sale of Infinera the Series A through G convertible preferred
stock would participate with the common stock up to certain caps after the payment of the aggregate
liquidation preference. As we approached our Initial public offering, the per share value of our common
stock moved closer 1o our enterprise value per share because the likelihood of a sale of Infinera where
our convertible preferred stock receives a larger proportion of our enterprise value decreases.

The anticipated timing of a potential liquidity event, the estimated volatility, the discount rate, the
discount for lack of marketability and the probability that we are able to complete an initial public
offering of our common stock were the key assumptions used in the determination of the common
stock value per share. These assumptions are as set forth below for each of our valuation dates since
December 31, 2005:

Mar. 25, Jan.15, Nov.30, June 30, Dec. 31,
2007 2007 2006 2008 2005

Common Stock ValuePerShare .................... $10.72 %768 $404 $2.00 $1.04M
Time to Liquidity (inyears) ................. ccontn. 0.25 0.5 1.0 14 N/A
Volatility .........c i e s 55%  55% 60% 65% N/A
DCF Discount Rate ..........ccviivienimannrenennnan 16% 20% 25% 30% 18-20%
Marketability DiscountRate . ....................... 0% 5% 15% 25% 30%

(" For options granted in February and April 2008, our board of directors determined the fair value of
our common stock to be $1.32 per share.

As can be seen in the table above, the increase in the valuation of our common stock from
December 2005 to January 2007 can be attribuled to declines in the anticipated time to liquidity, the
volatility rate, the discount rate and the marketability discount rate and an increase in the probability
that we would be able to complete an initial public offering of our common stock. The most significant
driver of the increase in the fair value of cur common stock from the stock option grants we made on
January 3 and 4, 2007 to the grants we made on April 24, 2007 was the increase in the probability that
we would be able to complete an initial public offering of our common stock. The probability of an IPO
increased significantly as our 2006 financial statement audit neared completion and as we filed our
initial registration statement and subsequent amendments on Form S-1 in 2007.

During 2006, we granted options to employees to purchase a total of 4.7 million shares of common
stock at exercise prices ranging from $1.32 to $2.00 per share at a weighted average exercise price of
$1.96. Through our IPO in June 2007, we granted 4.7 million shares of common stock at exercise
prices ranging from $4.04 to $13.00. During 2007, we granted options to employees and directors to
purchase an aggregate of 5.1 million shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $4.04 to
$23.86 at a weighted average exercise price of $11.88 per share,
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Options outstanding that have vested and are expected to vest as of December 29, 2007 are as
follows:

Welghtad-

Wolghted- Average remalning Aggregate
Number of shares  Averago Exercise  contractualterm  Intrinsic Value (%
{in thousands) Prica Per Share {In years) (in thousands}

Vested ... ....... ... ... . ..., 3,658 $3.04 7.46 $40,341

Expectedtovest@ ... ........... 7,227 7.91 8.97 47,348

Tota! vested and expected to vest .. 10,885 $6.31 8.47 $87.689
Notexpectedtovest ............. 240
11,125
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() These amounts represent the difference between tha exercise price and the closing price of our
common stock as of December 29, 2007,

Options outstanding that are expected 1o vest are net of estimated future option forfeitures in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R}.

On January 1, 2008, we adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, SFAS 123(R), “Share-Based Payments,” or SFAS 123(R). Under SFAS 123(R), stock-based
compensation costs for employees is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated falr value of
the award at that date, and is recognized as expense over the employee's requisite service period,
which is generally over the vesting period, on a straight-line basis. We adopted the provisions of
SFAS 123(R) using the prospective transition method. Under this transition method, non-vested option
awards outstanding at January 1, 2006, continue to be accounted for under the minimum value method
as stipulated by SFAS 123(R). All awards granted, modified or setiled after the date of adoption are
accounted for using the measurement, recognition and atiribution provisions of SFAS 123(R).

We make a number of estimates and assumptions related to SFAS 123{R} including forfeiture rate,
expected life and volatility. The estimation of stock awards that will ulimately vest requires judgment, and to
the extent actual results differ from our estimates, such amounts will be recorded as an adjustment in the
period estimates are revised. We utilized our historical data as an estimate of expected forfeiture rate and
recognized compensation costs only for those equity awards expected to vest. The effect of adjusting the
forfeiture rate for all expense amortization is recognized in the period the forfeiture estimate is changed.
Actual results may differ substantially from these estimates. In valuing share-based awards under
SFAS 123(R), significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of our common stock
and the expscted term individuals will hold their share-based awards prior to exercising. The expected term
of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding, which
incorporates the contractual terms, grant vesting schedules and terms and expected employee and director
behaviors. Commencing in June 2007, we elected to use the simplified method to estimate the expected
term as permitted by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 (SAB 107) due to increased liquidity of the
undertying options in the post PO era as compared 1o our historical grants. In December 2007, the SEC
released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110 ( SAB 110). SAB 110 amends SAB 107 to allow for the
continued use, under certain circumstances, of the “simplified” method in developing an estimate of the
expected term of “plain vanilla” stock options accounted for under SFAS 123(R). As a result, we will
continue to use the simplified method until our own historical data is sufficient to provide a reasonable basis.
Expected volatility of the stock is based on our peer group in the industry in which we conduct business
because we do not have sufficient historical volatility data for our own stock. In the future, as we gain
historical data for volatility in our own stock and more data on the actual term employees hold their options,
the expected volatility and expected term may change, which could substantially change the grant-date fair
value of future awards of stock options and ulimately the expense we record.




The following table summarizes the effects of stock-based compensation related to employees,

non-recourse notes and non-employees on our consolidated balance sheets and statements of

operations for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Years Ended
oYearEnded  pocombar 31,
2007 2005 ¢
(In thousands)
Stock-based compensation effects in inventory
Beginning balance . .........ouvvreiiit it $ 82 $—
Stock-based compensation expense added toinventory ... ........... 3,384 -
Stock-based compensation expenses recognized as cost of revenue . .. (38) —
Stock-based compensation expense released from inventory to deferred
INVENtOTY COSES . ..ottt ittt is e e nres (1,213) —_
CloSINg DalANCe . ... oottt e e e $ 2,215 $—
Stock-based compensation effects in deferred inventory cost
Beginningbalance . ........ ... oo e $§ 23 $—
Stock-based compensation expense added from inventory ............ 1,213 -
Stock-based compensation expense recognized as cost of revenue . . .. (289) —
Closing balance ... ........orioiiiii it $ 947 $—
Stock-based compensation effects in loss before income taxes
COSLOfIBVENUB . .. ittt i i e et iiiia s aaaanaannaanias $ 410 $—
Researchand development . ...t iiiinairnanr s 3,751 36
Salesandmarketing . .......c.erini i i 1,854 99
General and administration .. . ... ... . 3,314 7
9,329 142
Cost of revenue—amortization from balance sheet* ................. 327 —
Total stock-based compensationexpense ..............c.c.covin.ns $ 9.656 $142

(" The estimated values and assumptions that we used in calculating fair value prior to the adoption

of SFAS 123(R).

*  Repressnls stock-based compensation expense deferred to inventory and deferred inventory

costs in prior periods and recognized in the current period.

At December 29, 2007, the total compensation cost related to stock-based options granted under
SFAS 123(R) to employees and directors but not yet amortized was $38.9 million, net of estimated

forfeitures of $3.4 million. These costs will be amortized over a weighted average period of

approximately 1.2 years. Amortization of stock-based compensation in 2007 was approximately $7.2

million, net of estimated forfeitures compared to $0.9 million for 2006.
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The weighted average estimated values of employee stock option grants as well as the weighted
average assumptions used in calculating these option values during 2007, 2006 and 2005, were based
on estimates at the date of grant as follows:

Years Ended
December 29, December 31, Decomber 31,
Employee and Director Stock Options 2007 2008 2005
Volatility ... .. ... 62% - 84% 72% - 83% 0%
Risk-fresinterestrate ... .......... ... ... .. ... ... 4.2%-49% 4.57%-5.08% 4.05%
Expectedlife ...........covviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin 43-6.3years 4.2-54 years 4 years
Estimatedfairvalue ...........ccovviivenrvnenns- $2.12-$17.04 $0.81-8%1.35 $0.15

) The estimated values and assumptions that we used in calculating fair value prior to the adoption
of SFAS 123(R).

Concurrent with our IPO in June 2007, we astablished the 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(ESPP). This plan provides for consecutive six-month offering periods, except for the first such offering
period which commenced on June 7, 2007 and will end on the first trading day on or after February 15,
2008. The Black-Scholes option pricing model is used to estimate the fair value of rights to acquire
stock granted under the ESPP. Compansation costs refated to the ESPP under FAS123(R) were $1.7
million for 2007 and the fair value of the ESPP shares were estimated using the following assumptions:

Year Ended
December 29,
Employee Stock Purchase Plan _ﬂ__
Volatility ......... e e e e 49%
Risk-freginterestrate .. ....... oot iiieiineerenireianenenean 4.97%
Expectedlife ..........ooiier e 0.7 years
Estimated fairvalue ........ ...t iiiirnrnrrcnieaaiannn, $4.17

We began issuing Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) in the second quarter of 2007 pursuant to our
2007 Equity Incentive Plan. An RSU is a right to receive a share of our common stock when the unit
vests. During 2007, we granted RSUs to employees to purchase a total of approximately 0.6 million
shares of common stock at no cost, vesting annually over four or five years. We accounted for the fair
value of the RSUs using the closing market price of our common stock on the date of grant. As of
December 29, 2007, total compensation cost related to restricted stock based awards to employees
but not yet amontized was approximately $9.9 million, net of estimated forfsitures of $1.5 million.
Amortization of RSU stock-based compensation in 2007 was approximately $1.2 million.

We account for stock options granted to non-employees in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force, or EITF, No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction With Selling, Goods or Services,” or EITF No. 96-18, and
related interpretations. We grant stock options to certain consultants and advisory board members for
a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value of our common stock at the date
of grant. Under EITF No. 96-18, compensation expense on non-employee stock options is subject to
variable accounting and is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recorded
using the straight-line method over thia vesting period, which approximates the service period.

Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants

Effective July 1, 2005, we adopted FSP 150-5 and reclassified the fair value of the warrants from
equity to liability and recorded a cumulative effect charge of approximately $1.1 million income. In
addition, we recorded additional charges of approximately $0.2 million to reflect the increase in fair
value between July 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005. In 2006, we recorded approximately $2.4 million
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of charges in other gain (loss), net, to reflect the increase in fair value between January 1, 2006 and
December 31, 2006.

We estimated the fair value of these warrants using the Black-Scholes model for change of control
scenario and the Lattice model for a successful initial public offering scenario. We then used a
probability weighted average of per-share values under the different scenarios to determine the fair
value of these warrants at the respective balance sheet dates.

Both models require the input of highly subjective assumptions and a change in our assumplions
could materially affect the fair value estimates.

Upon the closing of our IPO in June 2007, warsrants to purchase shares of our convertible
preferred stock became warrants to purchase shares of our common stock and, as a result, are no
fonger subject to Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position (FSP) No. 150-5, “Issuers
Accounting under Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other similar Instruments on
Shares that are Redeemable” (FSP 150-5). The then-current aggregate fair value of these warrants of
$25.2 million was reclassified from current liabilities to additional paid-in capital, a component of
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and we are longer required to record any further periodic fair value
adjustments.

In 2007 (through the completion of our IPQ) and 2006, we recorded $19.8 million and $2.4 million,
respectively, of expense reflected in other gain (loss), net to reflect the increase in fair value during the
periods.

Inventories

Inventories consist of hardware, work-in-process and related component parts and are stated at
standard cost adjusted to approximate the lower of actual cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.
Market value is based upon an estimated average selling price reduced by the estimated cost of
disposal. The determination of market value involves numarous judgments including estimated
average selling prices based upon recent sales volumes, industry trends, existing customer orders,
current contract price, future demand and pricing for our products and technological obsolescence of
our products.

Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of our forecasted demand or is anticipated to be sold at a
loss is written down to its estimated net realizable value based on historical usage and expected
demand. We recorded total inventory write-downs for LCM adjustments in 2007, 2006 and 2005 of
$12.3 million, $21.7 million and $9.7 million, respectively. These adjustments related to our inventory
and firn purchase commitments with suppliers and included the impact of expected losses on common
equipment. In addition, we recorded inventory write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory in 2007,
2006 and 2005 of $5.0 million, $1.7 million and $(0.7) million, respeclively. These write-downs for
excess and obsolete inventory were reflected as cost of ratable product and related support and
services and cost of product.

In valuing our deferred inventory costs, we considered the valuation of inventory using the
guidance of Accounting Research Bulletin 43, “Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research
Bulletins,” or ARB 43. In particular, we considered ARB 43, Chapter 4, Statement 5 and whether the
utility of the products delivered or expected to be delivered at less than cost, primarily comprised of
common equipment, had declined. We concluded that, in the instances where the utility of the producits
delivered or expectad to be delivered were less than cost, it was appropriate to value the deferred
inventory costs and inventory costs at cost or market, whichever is lower, thereby recognizing the cost
of the reduction in utility in the period in which the reduction occurred or can be reasonably estimated.
We have, therefore, recorded inventory write-downs as necessary in each period in order to reflect
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common equipment inventory at the lower of cost or market. In addition, we considered the guidance
provided in ARB 43, Chapter 4, Statemant 10 relating tc losses on firm purchase commitments related
to inventory items. Given that the expected selling price of common equipment in the future may be
below cost, we may also record losses on these firm purchase commitments in the period in which the
commitment is made. When the inventory parts related 1o these firm purchase commitments are
received, that inventory is recorded at the purchase price less the accrual for the loss on the purchase
commitment.

if actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional
inventory write-downs may be required.

Warranty Reserve

We warrant that our products will operate substantialty in conformity with product specifications.
Upon delivery of our products, we provide for the estimated cost to repair or replace products or the
related components that may be returned under warranty. In general, our warranty periods range from
2 to 5 years from date of acceptance for hardware and 80 days to 12 months for software warranty.
Our warranty reserve is based on actual historical returns experience and the impact of these retum
rates on future estimated returns. We periodically assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty
liabilities and adjust the amounts as necessary.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short and Long-term Investments

We consider all liquid instruments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of 90 days or
less to be cash equivalents. We maintain our cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may
exceed federally insured limits. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts.

We consider all debt instruments with remaining time to maturity of one year or less to be short-
term investments. At December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2008, cash equivalents and short and
long-term investments consisted primarily of money market funds, commercial paper, corporate bonds,
U.S. agency notes and adjustable rate notes. Our cash equivalents and short and long-term
investments are classified as avallable-for-sale in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain investments in Debt and Equity Securities.”

All cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term investments are stated at fair market value
based on quoted market prices with unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated
comprehensive loss as a separate component of stockholders' equity (deficit). The amortized cost of
debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity, both of
which are included in interest income. Gains are recognized when realized in our consolidated
statements of operations. Losses are recognized as realized or when we have determined that an
other-than-temporary decline in fair value has occurred. Gains and losses are dstermined using the
specific identification method.

In accordance with SFAS No. 115, it is our policy to review our marketable debt securities
classified as short or long-term investments on a regular basis to evaluate whether or not any debt
security has experienced an other-than-temporary decline in fair value. Our policy includes, but is not
limited to, reviewing the length of time and extent to which the market value has been less than the
amortized cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and our intent and ability
to retain our investment in the issuer for a sufficient period of time to allow for recovery in market value.
If we believe that an other-than-temporary declins exists in one of our marketable debt securities, our
policy is to write down these debt securities to the market value and record the related write-down as
an investment loss on our consolidated statements of operations. No impairment charges were
recorded for 2007, 2006 or 2005.
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Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required 10
estimate our taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. We estimate actual current tax
expense togethar with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such
as accruals and allowances not currently deductible for tax purposes. These differences result in
deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance sheets. In general,
deferred tax assets represent future tax benefits to be received when certain expenses previously
recognized in our consolidated statements of operations become deductible expenses under
applicable income tax laws or loss or credit carry-forwards are utilized. Accordingly, realization of our
deferred tax assets is dependent on future taxable income within the respective jurisdictions against
which these deductions, losses and credits can be utilized within applicable future periods.

We must assess the likelihood that some portion or all of our deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income within the respective jurisdictions, and to the extent we believe that
recovery does not meet the “more-likely-than-not™ standard, we must establish a valuation allowance.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management
judgment Is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and
liabilities and any valuation aflowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. At December 29,
2007 and December 31, 2006, our deferred tax assets were fully reserved with a valuation allowance
because, based on the available evidence, we believed at that time it was more likely than not that we
would not be able to utilize those deferred tax assets in the future. We intend to maintain the full
valuation allowances until sufficient evidence exists to support the reversal of the valuation allowances.
We make estimates and judgments about our future taxable income, by jurisdiction, based on
assumptions that are consistent with our plans and estimates. Should the actual amounts differ from
our estimates, the amount of our valuation allowance could be materially impacted.

The policy with respect to our undistributed foreign subsidiary earnings is to consider those
eamings to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no related provision for U.S. federal and state
income taxes has been provided. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or
otherwise, we may be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax
credits) and withholding taxes in the various foreign countries. At December 29, 2007, the undistributed
eamnings approximated $2.7 million.

In 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), “Accounting for Uncertainty in income
Taxes — an Interpretation of SFAS No. 109.” FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
{axes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement ofa
tax position taken or expected to be taken in an enterprise’s tax return. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006. Accordingly, we adopted FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007.
The adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position. We had
$6.4 million of gross unrecognized tax bensfits as of January 1, 2007. The total amount of net
unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate was $36,000 as of
January 1, 2007 because approximately $6.4 million of the gross unrecognized tax benefits were
netted against certain deferred tax assets which were previously offset by valuation ellowance. We
accrue interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax bensfits in our provision for income taxes. As
of January 1, 2007, we did not have any accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits, due to our taxable loss position. See Note 12 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional disclosures related to FIN 48.
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Resuits of Operations

Revenue
The following table presents our revenue by type, geography and sales channel for 2007, 2006
and 20065:
Years Ended
D e, Decomber 31,
2007 2006 2005

{$ In thousands)
Statements of Operations Data:

Total revenue
Totalrevenuebytype ................. ... ......... $245852  $58,236 $4,127
Ratable product and related support and services . . . 237,745 52,978 4127
Product ... e 8,107 5,258 —
% Revenue by type :
Ratable product and related support and services . . . 97% 91% 100%
Product ... .. .. i e, 3% 9% 0%
Total revenue by geography
Domestic ............coiiiiiiiiiia $199,803  $49,901  $2,660
Intermational ........... e e e, 45,959 8,335 1,467
% Revenue by geography
DOMBSHC .. u it iiieiie e 81% 86% 64%
International ........... ... . . . i e, 19% 14% 36%
Total revenue by sales channel
Direct ... .o s $239,146 357,304 $3,488
Indirect .. ... 6,706 832 639
% Revanue by sales channel
Direct . ... e e 97% 98% 85%
Indirect ... . i 3% 2% 15%

2007 Compared to 2006. Total ratable revenue increased from $53.0 million in 2006 to $237.7
million in 2007. This increase reflected an increase in invoiced shipments of bundled products from
$140.7 million in 2006 to $301.2 millicn in 2007. The increase in invoiced shipments of bundled
products was due to increased purchases of our DTN System by existing customers and the addition
of new domestic and international customers. In 2007, we recognized $103.1 million of deferred
revenue from prior periods and $132.5 million from the current period.

Our international revenue grew on an absolute basis from $8.3 million in 2006 to $45.9 million in
2007 and increased as a percentage of total revenue from 14% in 2006 to 19% in 2007. The increases
were primarily due to increased revenue from existing customers and adding new international
customers.

In 2007, we recorded $8.1 million of product revenue, consisting of $5.2 million of product revenue
related to the sale of 10 Gbps cards not for use in our DTN System and $2.9 million related to product
sales to customers that did not require support. In 2006, we recorded $5.3 million of product revenue
related to the sale of 10 Gbps cards. We stopped production of the 10Gbps cards in the second
quarter of 2007 and will not generate future revenue from these products. However, as discussed
' above, following the attainment of VSOE of fair value for software subscripticn services in the first
|* quarter of 2008, we expect product revenue to increase due o the inclusion of product revenue from

sales of bundled products where software subscription is the only undelivered element at the time of
invoice.
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2006 Compared to 2005. Total ratable revenue increased from $4.1 million in 2005 to $53.0 million
in 2006. This increase reflected an increase in invoiced shipments of bundled products from $27.3
million in 2005 to $140.7 million in 2006 and the shortening of the ratable revenue recognition period
from an average period of 3.7 years in the third quarter of 2006 to 1.3 years in the fourth quarter of
2006. The increase in invoiced shipments of bundled products was due to increased purchases of our
DTN Systemn by existing customers and the addition of customers in the United States and Europe.

Although our intemational revenue grew on an absolute basis from 2005 to 2006, intemational
revenue as a percentage of total revenue declined from 36% in 2005 to 14% in 2006 primarily due lo a
significant increase in revenue from an existing U.S. customer and the addition of a number of new
U.S. customers during 2006.

In 2006, we recorded $5.3 million of product revenue related to the sale of 10 Gbps cards not for
use in our DTN System. We did not record any product revenue in 2005.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

The following table presents our revenue, cost of revenue by revenue source, gross profit (loss)
and gross margin for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

olewEndsd Cocomber i
2007 2008 2005
(in thousands}

TOlal FOVENUE . . ..ttt it i e $245852 $58,236 $ 4,127
Cost of revenue:

Cost of ratable product and related support and services ... 152,859 48,072 17,759

Lower of cost or markset adjustment ..................... 12,313 21,693 9,696

Costofproduct ...... ...t 4,081 1,660 —_—
Gross Profit (J0SS) . ...oovtvvrt e e $ 76,589 $(13,189) $(23,328)
GroSS MAFGIN ...t veetietiinstaiie e et annieannne e 3% -23% -565%

2007 Compared to 2006. Gross margins improved from 2006 to 2007 due primarily to the impact
of the recognition of $39.2 million of deferred gross margin related to invoiced shipments in prior
periods. In addition, there was significant improvement in gross margins on current period invoiced
shipments reflecting improved pricing and cost structures. Although we continued to sell common
equipment at low or negative margins, we experienced a reduction of $9.4 million in LCM adjustments
in 2007 compared to 2006, primarily due to changes in the bill of materials on a number of common
equipment components and a continued decline in component pricing. These improvements were
offset by an unfavorable change in estimate related to our warranty expense of $1.9 million primarily
related to higher than expected costs of replacing defective products due to reduced usage of lower
cost repaired units.

2006 Compared to 2005. Gross margins improved from 2005 to 2006 due to increased ratable
ravenue, increased ASPs and Improved product mix as customers purchased higher margin products
to increase their network capacity. In addition, in 2006 we experienced reduced per unit manufacturing
costs primarily due to improved yields and increased production volume, offset by an increase in LCM
adjustments of $12.0 million and charges for excess and obsolete inventory of $2.3 million. Gross
margins in 2005 were impacted primarily by negative manufacturing variances, comprised of lower
yields and lower fixed cost absorplion, due to low volume production.
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Research and Development Expenses

The following tabls presents our research and development expenses in absolute dollars and as a
percent of {otal revenue for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

JlewEnded ocombor)
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
Research and development expenses ) .. ... ................. $60,851  $38,967 $24,986
Percentoftotalrevenue ..............c.ciiiiiinerrannns T, 25% 67% 605%

(1 Research and development expenses as a percent of total revenue is not 2 meaningful rend
indicator because our revenue recognition policy requires the deferral of ravenues over future
pericds.

2007 Compared to 2006. Research and Development expenses increased from 2006 to 2007 due
primarily to increased headcount and personnel-related costs of $16.8 million, including $11.2 million of
cash compensation, $3.8 million of stock-based compensation and $1.8 million of incremental facilities
and infrastructure costs. [n addition, in 2007 we incurred $6.8 million of increased prototype and new
product related spending. We also incurred $4.2 million of expenses related to software development
services that we purchased from a third party to enable our products to operate in a regional bell
operating company infrastructure. Thase increases wera offset by a reduction of $4.5 million related to
the write-off of in-process research and development expenses related to an asset acquisition
recorded in the third quarter of 2006 and a reduction of $1.3 million of expense in 2007 from funding for
research and development efforts related to a government contract.

2006 Compared to 2005. Research and development expenses increased from 2005 to 2006 due
primarily to increased personnel-relatad costs of $7.3 million. In addition, during 2006 we wrote off $4.5
million of in-process research and development expenses related to an asset acquisition we completed
in 2006 because technological feasibility had not been established and no alternative future uses
existad.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

The following table presents our sales and marketing expenses in absolute dollars and as a
percent of total revenue for the 2007, 2006 and 2005:

; Years Ended
D‘;::‘;“Eb“o‘:“z‘;_ December 31,
2007 2008 2005
(fn thousands)
Sales and marketing expenses M . ................ e $32,721  $20,682 $11,053
Percentoftotal revenue . ... ... iviiririnriiieiirnenns 13% 36% 268%

(1 Sales and marketing expenses as a percent of total revenue is not a meaningful trend indicator
because our revenue recognition policy requires the deferral of revenues over future periods.

2007 Compared to 2006 . Sales and Marketing expenses increased from 2006 to 2007 due
primarily to an increase in headcount and personnel-related expenses of $9.4 million, including safaries
and commissions of $6.8 million, stock-based compensation expense of $1.7 million and facilities and
infrastructure costs of $0.2 million. In addition, we incurred $2.6 million of incremental expenses in
2007 related 10 demonstration units for use in customer and trade show demonstrations.
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2006 Compared to 2005. Sales and marketing expenses increased from 2005 to 2006 due primarily
to an increase in commission expense of $7.5 million, reflecting significant increases in revenue and
invoiced shipments and increased personnel-related costs in 2006. Other compensalion expenses
increased by $1.8 million in 2006 due to an increase in the number of sales and marketing employees.
Our headcount growth reflected the expansion of our sales team in the United States and internationally.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table presents our general and administrative expenses in absolute doltars and as a
percent of total revenue for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

JYesrEnded  gocambor 31,
2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)
General and administrative expenses M ... ... $25965 $12,650 $4,328
Percentoftotal revenue ... ... ..o i i iiae e 1% 22% 105%

(" General and administrative expenses as a percent of total revenue is not a meaningful trend
indicator because our revenue recognition policy reguires the deferral of revenues over future
periods.

2007 Compared to 2006. General and administrative expenses increased from 2006 to 2007 due
primarily to increased personnel-related costs of $10.3 millien, including $6.9 miltion of cash
compensation, $3.0 miflion in stock-based compensation expense and $0.4 million of facilities and
infrastructure costs. In addition, external expenses related to legal, audit, tax and information
technology related activities associated with our public offerings and continued growth increased $2.7
million compared to 2006.

2006 Compared to 2005. General and administrative expenses increased from 2005 to 2006 due
primarily to increased legal and accounting fees related to our preparations to become a public
company of $3.2 million, increased professional services and information technology consulting fees of
$3.0 million and increased personnel-related costs of $2.1 million.

Other Incoms (Expense), Net

The following table presents our interest income, interest expense and other gain (loss) for 2007,
2006 and 2005:

JYesrEnded Docamberdt,
2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)
INErest INCOME ... ittt ee e e $ 6522 $2100 § 686
Interest BXpENSE ... ... ... .. it it e e (2,251) (4,852) (2,768)
Othergain(loss).met ... (16,249) (1,567) (174)
Total other income (expense), net .............ccviiieinen.. $(11,978) $(4,319) $(2,256)

2007 Compared to 2006. Interest income increased from 2006 to 2007 due to higher invested
balances resulting from the funds raised in our IPO and secondary offerings. The decrease in interest
expense from 2006 to 2007 was due to the repayment of our outstanding debt following our IPO. The
other loss amount increased from 2006 to 2007 primarily due to the inclusion of $19.8 million related to
the revaluation of preferred stock warrant liabilities at fair market value in 2007 compared to $2.1
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million in 2006. The charges to other loss in 2007 were offset by a $2.7 million gain on asset sales, and
a $0.3 million gain from foreign currency exchange remeasurement.

2006 Compared to 2005. Interest income increased from 2005 to 2006 due to higher invested
balances resulting from funds raised in our Series G convertible preferred stock financing. The
increase in interest expense from 2005 to 2006 was due to increased borrowings required to support
our continued growth. Other loss, net increased from 2005 to 2006 primarily dus to charges related to
the revaluation of preferred stock warrant liabilities at fair market value of $2.1 million, offset by a $0.5
million gain from foreign currency exchange remeasurement.

Provision for Income Taxes

Since inception, we have incurred net operating losses and, accordingly, have not recorded a U.S.
Federal or State provision for income taxes for any periods presented. As of December 29, 2007, we
had net operating loss carry-forwards available to offset future taxable income for federal income tax
purposes of approximately $239.4 million, which expire beginning in 2021 if not utilized. As of
December 29, 2007, we also have state net operating loss camy-forwards of approximately $225.3
million, which expire beginning in 2013 if not utilized. We have federal and California research and
development credits available to reduce future tax expense of approximately $7.3 million and $5.0
million, respectively. The federal research credits will begin to expire in 2021 if not utilized, while the
California research credits have no expiration date. The amount of net operating loss carry-forwards
related to excess stock option deductions is approximately $13.5 million for which a full valuation
allowance has been recorded on the related gross deferred tax assets. When the excess stock option
deductions are utilized in the form of 3 net operating loss deduction, these amounts will result in a
credit to stockholders' equity.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 29, December 31,
2006

2007
{In thousands)
Workingecapital . ........v it e $237,590 $ 2218
Cashandcashequivalents ............................ 91,209 28,884
Short and long-term investments ....................... 211,284 5,005
Short and long-term restrictedcash ..................... 3,337 —
Docomber 28, Decomber 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(in thousands)

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities ............ $ 23,058 $(67.775)  $(56,449)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities ............ {230,268) (18,069) 29,451
Cash provided by financing activities .................... 269,478 78,780 58,059

Prior to our IPO in June 2007, we had financed our operations primarily through private sales of
equity and from borrowings under credit facilities and more recently from cash collections on the sales
of our DTN System. In June 2007, we completed our IPO and raised net proceeds of $190.1 million. In
Novembar 2007, we completed our follow-on offering and raised net proceeds 1o us of $104.0 million.

At December 29, 2007, we had $91.2 million in cash and cash equivalents, $211.3 million in short
and long-term investments and $3.3 million in restricted cash. In comparison, at December 31, 2006,
we had $28.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and $0.7 million in short-term investments. Cash,
cash equivalents and short and long-term investments consist of highty liquid investments in
certificates of deposit held at major banks, money market funds, commercial paper, corporate bonds,
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U.S. agency notes and adjustable rate notes with original maturities of 80 days or less. The restricted
cash balance amounts are pledged as collateral for certain stand-by and commercial letters of credit.

Opesrating Activities

We experienced positive cash flows from operations of $23.1 million in 2007. We generated a net
loss for the period of $55.3 million, and we had non-cash charges of $36.5 million consisting primarily
of warrant revaluation expense of $19.8 million, depreciation and amortization of $9.8 million and
stock-based compensation expense of $9.7 million. In addition, the net loss reflects the continued
non-cash deferral of positive gross margin from invoiced shipments of bundled products of $48.8
million. We experienced improved coliections in the period offset by reductions in accounts payable
terms. We also continued to invest in the development of our DTN System and in the expansion of our
sales and marketing presence in the United States and internationally.

We experienced negative cash flows from operating activities of $67.8 million in 2006. We
generated a net loss for the period of $89.9 million, and we had non-cash charges of $15.7 million
consisting primarily of $7.5 million of depreciation and amortization, $4.5 million in-process research
and development related to our acquisition of certain assets of Little Optics, Inc., $2.4 million related to
revaluation of convertible preferred stock and common stock warrant liabilities and $1.1 million of
stock-based compensation expense related to employees. The net loss also reflects the non-cash
deferral of $37.2 million of deferred margin to the balance sheet in the period. We funded increased
working capital requirements of $27.4 million due to significant growth of the business. The decrease in
working capital of $27.4 million from 2005 to 2006 was primarily due to an increase in short-term
deferred revenue of $94.4 million compared to the increase in short-term deferred inventory costs of
$57.8 million, reflecting the deferral of positive gross margin from invoiced shipments of bundled
products.

Cash used in operating activities amounted to $56.4 million in 2005, primarily due to the
generation of a net loss of $64.8 million. Cash flows from operations in 2005 were negatively impacted
by lower sales volumes, unfavorable manufacturing variances and the need to record charges for
excess and obsolescent inventory. Deferred revenue increased by $22.8 million compared to an
increase in deferred cost of inventory of $16.7 million. We commenced product shipments in November
2004 and inventory levels increased in 2005 by $16.5 million to support customer requirements. This
increase was offset by increases in accounts payable of $7.8 million.

Investing Activitles

Cash used in investing activities was $230.3 million in 2007 primarily consisting of $299.2 million
of purchases of investments and restricted cash, reflecting the investment of cash raised from our IPO
and follow-on offering in June 2007 and November 2007, respeclively. Additions to property, plant and
equipment amounted to $20.2 million. These investing activities were offset by $85.8 million of
proceeds from maturities and sales of investments and $3.1 million of proceeds from the subsequent
sale of certain purchased assets.

Cash used in investing activities was $18.1 million in 2006, $15.3 million for the purchase of
property and equipment related to the expansion of our manufacturing operations and $4.7 million
related to our acquisition of certain assets of Little Optics Inc., a research and development company,
partially offset by the sale of surplus assets acquired as part of a previous acquisition that generated
$1.5 million.

We generated net cash from investing activities in 2005 of $29.5 million. $34.0 million was
generated from the net sale of short-term investments, offset by $4.0 million from purchases of property
and equipment and $0.7 million from the acquisition of certain assets from Big Bear Networks, Inc.
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Financing Activities

Net proceeds from financing activities in 2007 were $269.5 million. We completed our IPO in June
2007 and generated net proceeds of $190.1 million. Subsequently, in November 2007, we completed
our follow-on offering and generated net proceeds of $104.0 million. We paid off $35.4 miltion of our
outstanding debt, including $7.1 million which we had borowed under an existing facility in the first
quarter of 2007. In addition, we received $3.5 milion from employee stock options exercised in the
period.

Our financing activities provided cash of $78.8 million in 2006. The primary source of these funds
was the issuance of Series G convertible preferred stock. In 2006, we sold an aggregate of 14.1 million
shares of our Series G convertible preferred stock for a net amount of $74.1 million to various
investors. The purchase price for these shares of Series G convertible preferred stock was $6.40 per
share, with the excaption of a board member’s purchase of 67,934 shares in October 2006 at $7.36
per share. We also received $4.4 million from employee stock options exercised during 2006.

Qur financing activities provided cash of $58.1 million in 2005. $42.6 miflion was raised from the
issuance of convertible preferred stock. In addition, we borrowed a net amount of $14.4 million under
new and existing credit facilities.

Credit Facilitiss

Following the close of our IPO, we repaid $29.3 million of our borrowings in June 2007. In
September 2007, we repaid $4.5 million of our remaining outstanding debt which we had assumed as
part of an acquisition of assets in the third quarter of 2006.

In the next twelve months, capital expenditures are expected to be in the range of approximately
$20 to $30 million, primarily for product development and manufacturing expansion and upgrades.

As of December 29, 2007, we held $36.2 million of municipal notes investments, classified as
short-term investments, with an auction reset feature (“adjustable rate securities”) whose undertying
assets wers in student loans and which had a AAA credit rating. As of Fabruary 15, 2008, this balance
had reduced to $75.7 million following the sale of $20.5 million of these securities at full value,
Subsequent to those sales, auctions failed for $11.8 million of our adjustable rate securities and there
is no assurance that auctions on the remaining adjustable rate securities in our investment portfolio will
continue to succeed. An auction failure means that the parties wishing to sell their securities could not.
As a result, our ability to liquidate and fully recover the carrying value of our remaining adjustable rate
securities in the near term may be limited or not exist. These developments may result in the
classification of some or all of these securities as long-term investments in our consolidated financial
statements for the first quarter of 2008. In addition, while all of our adjustable rate securities are
currenily rated AAA, if the issuers are unable to successfully close future auctions and their credit
ratings deteriorate, we may in the future be required to record an impairment charge on these
investments.

Wae believe we will be able to liquidate our adjustable rate securities without significant loss, and
we currently believe these securities are not impaired, primarily due to government guarantees of the
underlying securities; however, it could take until the final maturity of the underlying notes {up to 30
years) to realize our investments' recorded value. We currently have the ability and intent to hold the
remaining $75.7 million of adjustable rate securities, until market stability is restored with respect to
these securities. We believe that, even allowing for the reclassification of these securities to long-term
and the possible requirement to hold all such securities for an indefinite period of time, our remaining
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
needs and to execute our current business plan.
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At some point in the future, we may require additional capital from equity or debt financings to fund
our operations, respond to competitive pressures or strategic opportunities or otherwise. We may not
be able to secure timely additional financing on favorable terms, or at all. The terms of any additional
financing may place limits on our financial and operating flexibility. If we raise additicnal funds through
further issuances of equity, convertible debt securities or other securities convertible into equity, our
existing stockholders could suffer dilution in their percentage ownership of us, and any new securities
we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock,

Contractual Obligations
The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 29, 2007:

Paymaents Due by Period
Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3yoars 3-5years 5 years
(In thousands)
Purchase obligations ™ ................. $33,652 $33652 $ — § — $—
Operatingleases ................00e0nt 13,653 3,566 6,723 3,364 —
Total contractual obligations ............. $47,305 $37,218 $6,723  $3,364 $ —

()  We have service agreements with our major production suppliers under which we are committed
to purchase certain parts.

As a result of our adoption of FIN 48 at the beginning of 2007, the above amounts do not reflect
FIN 48 tax liabilities of $0.1 million because the timing of settlement, if any, of these future payments is
uncertain.

We had $2.7 million of standby letters of credit outstanding as of December 29, 2007. These
consisted of $0.8 million related to property leases, $1.2 million reated to a value added tax license for
Europe, $0.3 million related to customs clearing and $0.4 million related to a customer proposal
guarantee.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 29, 2007, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or
financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose
entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narow or limited purposes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for recent accounting
pronouncements that could have an effect on us.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Currency Risk

A substantial majority of our revenue, expense and capital purchasing activities are transacted in
U.S. dollars. However, we do incur certaln insignificant operating costs in other currencies. In addition,
certain of our sales contracts are priced in Euros and, therefore, a portion of our revenue is subject to
foreign currency risks. Qur operating expenses and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the India Rupese, British pound and

67




Euro. The effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in exchange rates on foreign denominated
transactions as of December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006 would result in a |oss of approximately
$2.0 million and $2.3 million, respectively. To date, we have not entered into any hedging contracts
although we may do so in the future. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could harm our business
in the future.

interest Rate Sensitivity

We had cash, cash squivalents, short and long-term invesiments and short and long-term
restricted cash totaling $305.8 miltion and $29.6 million at December 29, 2007 and December 31,
2008, respectively. These amounts were invested primarily in certificates of deposit, money market
funds, commercial paper, corporate bonds, U.S. agency notes and adjustable rate notes. The
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are held for working capital purpeses. We do not enter info
invesiments for trading or speculative purposes. We believe that we do not have any material exposure
to changes in the fair value as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however,
will reduce future investment income. If overall interest rates fell by 10% in 2007 and 2006, our interest
income would have declined approximately $0.7 million and $46,000, respectively, assuming
consistent investment levels.

At December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006, we had $0 and $28.4 million of debt outstanding,
respactively.

Adjustable Rate Securilies

As of December 29, 2007, we held $96.2 million of municipal notes investments, classified as
short-term investments, with an auction reset feature ("adjustable rate securities”) whose underlying
assets were in student loans and which had a AAA credit rating. As of February 15, 2008, this balance
had reduced to $75.7 million following the sale of $20.5 million of these securities at full value.
Subsequent to those sales, auctions failed for $11.8 million of our adjustable rate securities and there
is no assurance that auctions on the remaining adjustable rate securilies in our investment portfolio will
continue to succeed. An auction failure means that the parties wishing to sell their securities could not.
As a result, our ability to liquidate and fully recover the carrying value of our remaining adjustable rate
securities in the near term may be limited or not exist. These developments may result in the
classification of some or all of these securities as long-term investments in our consolidated financiat
statements for the first quarler of 2008. In addition, while all of our adjustable rate securities are
currently rated AAA, if the issuers are unable to successfully close future auctions and their credit
ratings deteriorate, we may in the futuse be required to record an impairment charge on these
investments.

We believe we will be able to liquidate our adjustable rate securities without significant loss, and
we currently believe these securities are not impaired, primarily due to government guarantaes of the
underlying securities; however, it could take until the finai maturity of the underlying notes (up to 30
years) to realize our investiments’ recorded value. We currently have the ability and intent to hold the
remaining $75.7 million of adjustable rate securities, until market stability is restored with respect to
these securities. We believe that, even allowing for the reclassification of these securities to long-term
and the possible requirement to hold all such securities for an indefinite period of time, our remaining
cash and cash equivalents and shori-term investments will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
needs and to execute our current business plan.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders, Infinera Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Infinera Corporation as of
December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 29, 2007. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We
were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's intemnal control over financial reporting. Our
audits included consideration of internal controt over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion, An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Infinera Corporation at December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006,
and the consolidated results of its operations and Iits cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 29, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our apinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein,

As discussed in Notes 1, 2 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements, Infinera Corporation
changed its method of accounting for freestanding warrants as of July 1, 2005, its method of
accounting for stock-based compensalion as of January 1, 2008, and its method of accounting for
uncertain tax positions as of January 1, 2007.

fs/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
San Jose, California
February 8, 2008
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INFINERA CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{In thousands, except par values)

Decomber 29, December 31,
2007 2008
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents . ............c.ccinirinninennnnies $ 91209 § 28884
Short-terminvestments .. ......... ... ... i 181,168 688
Short-term restricted cash .. ....... ... o i i i 743 —
Accountsreceivable . . ........ . ... ... 39,216 41,835
Otherreceivablas . .. ... ... i e e e 1,127 513
Invemtory . ....c.coiii s I 58,579 58,269
Deferredinventory cosls ......... . .o i e 78,362 62,936
Prepaid expensses and other currentassets ...................... 3,941 3,115
Totalcurrentassets ........... ... oo i i 454,345 196,040
Property, plant and equipment, net ............. ... ... e 36,973 26,665
intangibleassets .............. i e 1,541 1,805
Deferred inventory costs, non-current ........ ... 0o vvnreineinnnn 3,260 4,317
Long-terminvestments .. ........v et in e ieerinnner i aaeans 30,116 —_
Longtermrestrictedcash ... ... e 2,594 —
Other nON-CUMENt @SSBIS . .. ... iuiier i iee i ietetiatiit s naeans 359 1,638
Total @SS58 ...\t i $529,188  $230,466
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable .. ...... ... i $ 17,504 $ 41,767
ACCTUB BXPENSES .. ...ttt uivurs s et enianar e naas 9,497 16,574
Accrued compensatiocn and related benefits ............... ... ... 17,749 7,628
Accrued wamanty . .........c.ei it et 4974 1,339
Defermed revenuUB ... .....oit i it ietae e 167,031 101,080
Preferred stock warrant liability . . ........ ... ... il —_— 5,409
Current portionofdebt .................... e — 20,025
Total current liabilittes ......... .o i 216,755 193,822
Long-term portionofdebt ......... .. ... ... . - 8,357
Accrued warranty, non-current . .......... ... i 5,018 1,378
Deferred revenue, non-current .. ............. ... R 7,406 9,873
Long-term exercised unvested options .................. ..ol 825 996
Otherlong-term liabilities . ... .......... ... ... i it iit, 4,610 1,811

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INFINERA CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS—{Continued)
{In thousands, except par values)

Docember 20, December 31,
2007 2008

Converiible preferred stock (total aggregate liquidation preference of
$325,227 as of December 31, 2006), $0.001 par value; Authorized
shares—none as of December 29, 2007 and 62,000 shares as of
December 31, 2006; issued and outstanding shares—none as of
December 29, 2007 and 58,806 shares as of December 31, 2006 . ... .. — 320,550
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value
Authorized shares—25,000 and no shares issued and
OUStANEING ... .ot e e - —
Common stock, $0.001 par valus
Authorized shares—500,000 in 2007 and 79,500 in 2006
Issued and outstanding shares—91,580 in 2007 and 5,054 in

2008 .. e e e 92 9
Additional paid-incapital ........... ... ... o i 663,870 7,911
Accumutated other comprehensive incoma (loss} .. ................ 78 {153)
Accumulated deficit ........ .. ... .. e (369,466) (314,088)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) ........... ... .. ... .. .. .. 294,574 (306,321)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' squity

(eficl) ... i e e $ 529,188 $ 230,466

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INFINERA CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended

D:gfmfb'::% Decamber 31,
2007 2006 2005
Revenue:
Ratable product and related support and services .......... $237,745 $52978 $ 4,127
Broduct . ... i e i e e 8,107 5,258 _
Totalrevenue . ...... ... oot 245,852 58,236 4127
Cost of revenue:
Cost of ratable product and refated support and services .... 152,859 48,072 17,759
Lower of cost or market adjustment ...................... 12,313 21,693 9,696
Costofproduct . ... ... . i e 4,091 1,660 -
Totalcostofrevenue ................ .. coiiiiiuain 169,263 71,425 27,455
Gross profit (1058} ... ... i i e e 76,589 (13,189) (23,328) '
Operating expenses:
Salesandmarketing ............... i i i 32,721 20,682 11,053
Researchand development . ................ ..ot 60,851 38,967 24,986
General and administrative . . ....................chian 25,865 12,650 4,328
Amortization of intangible assets ........................ 148 56 —
Total operating expenses ..............ovivneven.n 119,685 72,355 40,367
Lossfromoperations . ... ....... ... .. i it (43,096} (85,544) (63,695)
Other income (expense), net
InterestinCoOMEe . . ... .. ... ittt iin e eanunas 6,522 2,100 686
INtEreSt BXPENSE ..\t ety i iii e (2,261) (4,852) (2,768)
Othergain{loss), net ....... ... ... .. (16,249) (1,567) (174)
Total other incomse (expense), net ................ ... (11,978) (4,319)  (2,256)
Loss before provision of incoma taxes and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle ......... ...l (55,074) (89,863) (65.951)
Provision for income1axes ..............viviiiiennnenneans 268 72 12
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . .. (55,342) (89,935) (65,983)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . ........... —_ — (1,137)
NEL 0SS ...ttt e e e $(55,342) $(89,935) $(64,826)
Net toss per common share, basicand diluted ................. $ (1.09) $ (14.90) $ (14.08)
Weighted average number of shares used in computing basic and
diluted netloss percommonshare ...........cocveenvnenn. 50,732 6,036 4,605

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consoclidated financial statements.
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INFINERA CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years Ended
Yeoar Ended
December 29, December 31,
2007 2008 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
T T $ (55,342) $(89,935) $(64.826)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)

operating actlvities:

Depreciation and amortization ................. ... ... 9,824 7,458 6,374
Issuanceofwamants ...........coieiiiiii i e — 189 -
in-process research and development . ................... —_ 4,474 —
Assetimpairmentcharges . ........... ... ...l 393 — -
Amortization of debtdiscount .................. ol 282 218 219
Accretion of investment discount ................ . ... {572) — — '
Stock-based compensationexpense ..................... 9,656 992 142
Revaluation of warrant liabilities ................... ... ... 19,761 2,376 {883)
Gainon disposaloffixedassets ................... .00 (52) — —_
Gainonsaleofassetsheldforsale ...................... (2,724) — —
Othergain ........c.oiiiii i iiiiia e (73) — -
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accountsreceivable ................ ... ... . il 2,595 (38,377) (312)
Otherreceivables . ... .....cooiiriiiniininnenen (541) (361) (151)
IMVEMIOTY ... e e e 2515  (33,513) (16,466)
Prepaid expenses and other currentassels . ........... (770) (2,325) 93
Deferred inventory costs . ........... ... o (14,696) (50,566) (16,686)
Other non-currentassefs ............ ... ... ... 706 (555) 92
Accountspayable ..........ccie i (24,220) 27,249 7,793
Accruad liabilities and other expenses ................ 5,557 16,123 3,711
Deferredrevenue ..............ciiivuninncineninns 63,484 87,783 22,759
Accruedwarranty ........ ... oottt 7.275 1,025 1,692
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .. 23,058  (67,775) (56,449)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of available-for-sale investments and restricted
T - o O (299,159) (6,501) (2,715)
Proceeds from sales of investments . ..................... 57.200 — 33,750
Proceeds from maturities of investments . ................. 28,620 6,912 2,922
Proceeds from disposition of acquired assets .............. — 1,450 200
Proceeds from disposal of fixedassets ................... 146 —_ —_
Proceeds from sales of assets heldforsale ............... 3,140 — —
Purchase of property and equipment ..................... (20,215) (15.255)  (4.006)
Acquisition of certain assets, net ................ ... ... —_ {4,675) (700)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ...  (230,268) (18,069) 29,451

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INFINERA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—(Continued)
(In thousands)
Years Endsd
D, Docomber 31,
2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Principal paymenis on loan obligations ................... (35401) (21,520) (12,629)
Cash payments for debt issuancecosts .................. — (14) {185)
Proceedsfromloans .................c.iciiiiiiiiiians 7,119 21,628 27,244
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issuance costs ... 180,078 — —
Proceeds from follow-on offering, net of issuance costs . ... .. 104,016 —_ —_
Proceeds from issuance of commonstock ................ 3,635 4,377 1,009
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, nel of issuance
COSIS ... e e e e — 74,055 42,627
Proceeds from exerciseofwarrants ... ................... 45 — —_
Proceeds from repayment of non-recoursenotes ........... 145 261 —
Repurchase of commonstock ........... .c.venivueninnnn (59) (N (M
Net cash provided by financing activities .............. 269,478 78,780 58,059
Effect of exchange ratechanges ..................cccoiinns. 57 (65) (79)
Net change in cash and cashequivalents ..................... 62,325 (7,129) 30,982
Cash and cash equivalents al baginningofperiod .............. 28,884 36,013 5,031
Cash and cash equivalentsatend ofperiod ................... $ 91,209 $28884 $ 36013
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow Informatlon:
Cashpaidforinterest ..............c.civiveivenicneen.. $ 2497 §$ 3585 $ 1629
.Cash paig forincometaxes.............cooviceriannnnt. $ 121 § 28 $ 5
Supplemental schedules of non-cash investing and financing
activities
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt arrangements .. - § - % 179
Debt assumed in connection with acquisition of certain assets
of Big Bear Networks, INC. .. ..........cvivvvinnrennnn. $ - $ — $ 2000
Debt assumed in connection with acquisition of certain assets
of Little Optics, INC. .......ciiiiiiiiiiianernnnnes $ — $ 4500 % —
Issuance of Series G convertible preferred stockwarrants ... $ — § 9802 § 660

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INFINERA CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
Organlzation

Infinera Corporation (the Company) was founded in December 2000 and has developed a digital
optical communications system called the Infinera DTN System (DTN System). The Company began
commercial shipment of its DTN System in November 2004.

Initial Public Offering

in June 2007, the Company completed its initial public offering (IPO) of common stock in which it
sold and issued 16.1 million shares of its common stock, including 2.1 million shares sold pursuant to
the underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of $13.00 per share. The
Company raised a total of $209.3 million in gross proceeds from its 1PO, or $190.1 million in net
proceeds after deducting underwriling discounts and commissions of $14.7 million and other offering
costs of $4.5 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, ali shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding
automatically converted into 59.4 million shares of common stock.

Follow-on Offering

In November 2007, the Company completed its follow-on offering of common stock in which it sold
and issued 5.0 million shares of its common stock, at an issue price of $22.00 per share. The
Company raised a total of $110.0 million in gross proceeds, or approximately $104.0 million in net
proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts of $5.2 million and other offering costs of
approximately $0.8 million, Additionally, 5.0 million shares were sold by existing stockholders of the
Company at a price of $22.00 per share. The Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the
sale of the sharaes sold by the selling stockholders.

Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Fiscal Calendar

Commencing in 2007, the Company operates and reports financia! results on a fiscal year of 52 or
53 weeks ending on the last Saturday of December in each year. Accordingly, fiscal year 2007 was a
52-week year that ended on December 29, 2007. In previous years, the Company operated and
reported financial results on a calendar year basis.

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). These accounting principles require the Company to make
certain estimates, assumptions and judgments that can affect the reporied amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial
statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented.
Significant estimates, assumptions and judgments made by management include the detarmination of
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the fair value of stock awards and warrants issued prior to its IPO, revenue recognition, warranty
reserve, cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term investments, inventory valuation and
accounting for income taxes. Management believes that the estimates and judgments upon which they
rely are reasonable based upon information available to them at the time that these estimates and
judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual
results, the Company’s consolidated financial statements will be affected.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's networking products are generally integrated with software that is more than
incidental to the functionality of the equipment. Accordingly, the Company accounts for revenue in
accordance with Statement of Position No. 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by
SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain
Transactions.” The Company recognizes product revenue when all of the following have occurred: (1) it
has entered into a legally binding arrangement with a customer; (2) delivery has occurred, which is
when product fitle and risk of loss have Iransferred to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed
fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized net of cash
discounts.

Substantially all of the Company’s product sales have been sold in combination with training and
product support services, which consist of software warranty, updates and praduct suppont,

Software updates provide customers with rights to unspecified software product upgrades and to
maintenance releases and patches released during the term of the support period. Product support
services consist of software warranty, updates and upgrades including general product support.
Training services include the right to a specified number of training ctasses over the term of the
arrangement. Installation and deployment services may include customer site assessment, equipment
installation and testing.

Vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value for training, installation and deployment
services, and product support services is determined by reference to the price the customer will be
required to pay when training and product support services are sold separately. As of December 28,
2007, the Company has not established VSOE of fair value for training, installation and deployment
sarvices, and product support services. Assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met
and the only undelivered element is training, installation and deployment services, or product support
services, revenus is deferred and recognized ratably over the longest undelivered service period. The
undselivered service periods range from one to five years. Revenue related to these amangements is
included in ratable product and related support and services revenue in the accompanying
consoiidated statemants of operations.

Occasionally, the Company sells ils networking products to customers who do not purchase
training, or installation and deployment services, or product support services as part of the
arrangement. Revenue related to these arrangements is generally recognized as product revenue
when delivery of the product has occurred, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been
met. Once product delivery has taken place, there are no remaining undelivered efements in these
arrangements.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are generally used to determine the existence of an
arrangement. Shipping documents and customer acceptance, when applicabie, are used to verify
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delivery and transfer of litle. Revenue [s recognized only when title and risk of loss pass to customers.
In ingstances where acceptance of the product is specified by the customer, revenue is deferred until all
acceptanca criteria have been met, The Company assesses whether the fee is fixed or determinable
based on the payment terms associated with the transaction, Payment terms 1o customers generally
range from net 30 to 120 days from product acceptance. In the event payment terms are provided that
differ from the Company's standard business practices, the fees are deemed to not be fixed or
determinable and, therefore, revenue is deferred until the fees become fixed or determinable which the
Company believes is when they are legally due and payable. The Company assesses the ability to
collect from its customers based primarily on the creditworthiness of the customer and past payment
history of the customer.

Revenue for products that do not require significant customization, and with respect to which any
software is considered incidental, is recognized under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition” (SAB 104). Under SAB 104, revenue is recognized only when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the fee is fixed or
determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue related to these arrangements is
included in product revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and in ratable product and
related support and services revenue,

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic
value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employess,” (APB No. 25) and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation
No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB
No. 25." The intrinsic value represents the difference between the per share market price of the stock
on the date of grant and the per share exercise price of the related stock option. The Company grants
stock options to employees for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value
of the shares at the date of grant. Under APB Opinion No. 25, no compensation expense is recorded
for employee stock options granted at an exercise price equal to the market price of the underlying
stock on the date of grant. The Company recognizes compensation expense for any stock options
granted with an exercise price that is less than the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of
grant on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of the Statement of Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payments” (SFAS 123(R)}. Under SFAS 123(R), stock-
based compensation costs for employees is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair
value of the award at that date, and is recognized as expense over the employee’s requisite service
period, which is generally over the vesting period, on a straight-line basis. The Company adopted the
provisions of SFAS 123(R) using the prospective transition method. Under this transition method,
non-vested option awards outstanding at January 1, 2006 continue to be accounted for under the
minimum value method under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” All awards
granted, modified or settled after the date of adoption are accounted for using the measurement,
recognition and attribution provisions of SFAS 123(R}.

Under SFAS 123(R), the Company estimated the fair value of the stock options granted and rights
10 acquire stock using the Black-Scholes option pricing formula and a single option award approach.
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For new-hire grants, options typically vest with respect to 25% of the shares one year after the option’s
vesting commencement date and the remainder ratably on a monthty basis over three years,
commencing one year after the vesting commencement date. For annual refresh grants, options
typically vest ratably on a monthly basis over five years after the vesting commencement date. The
Company makes 8 number of estimates and assumptions related to SFAS 123(R) including forfeiture
rate, expected life and volatility. The Company utilized its historical data as an estimate of the expected
forfeiture rate and it recognized compensation costs only for those equity awards expected to vest. The
effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate for ali expense amortization is recognized in the period the
forfeiture estimate is changed. The estimation of stock awards that will uitimately vest requires
judgment, and to the extent aciuval results differ from the Company’s estimates, such amounts will be
recorded as an adjustment in the period estimates are revised. Actual results may differ substantially
from these estimates.

The expected term of options granied represents the period of time that options granted are
expecied to be outstanding, which incorporates the contractual terms, grant vesting schedules and
terms and expected employee and director behaviors. Commencing in June 2007, the Company
elected to use the simplified method to estimate the expected term as permitted by SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin 107 (SAB 107) due to increased liquidity of the underlying options in the post IPO
era as compared to the Company’s historical grants. Expected volatility of the stock is based on the
Company's peer group in the industry in which the Company does business because the Company
does not have sufficient historical volatility data for its own common stock. in the future, as the
Company gains historical data for volatility in its own stock and more data on the actual term
employees hold their options, the expectad volatility and expected term may change, which could
substantially change the grant-date fair value of future awards of stock options and ultimately the
expense the Company records.

During 2007, the Company granted options to employees and directors to purchase an aggregate
of 5.1 million shares of common stock at weighted average exercise price of $11.88 per share. These
options have exercise prices equal 1o the deemed market value of the Company’s common stock on
the dates these options were granted. At December 29, 2007, the total compensation cost related to
stock-based options granted under SFAS 123(R) to employees and directors but not yet amortized was
$38.9 million, net of estimated forfeitures of $3.4 million. These costs will be amortized on a straight-
line basis over a weighted average period of approximately 1.2 years. Amortization of stock-based
compensation in 2007 was approximately $7.2 million, net of estimated forfeitures. Total fair value of
stock options to employees that vested during 2007 was approximately $5.6 million based on the grant
date fair value.

During 2008, the Company granted options to employees to purchase a total of 4.7 million shares
of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $1.32 to $2.00 per share at a weighted average price
of $1.96. These options have exercise prices equal to the deemed market value of the Company's
common stock on the dates these options were granted. Total fair value of stock options to employees
that vested during 2006 was approximately $0.5 million based on the grant date fair value.
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The weighted average estimated values of employee stock option grants and rights granted under

the 2000 Stock Plan and the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as well as the weighted average assumptions
used in calculating these values during 2007, 2006 and 2005, were based on estimates as follows:

Yoars Ended
Docomber 29, December 31, December 31,
Employse and Director Stock Optlons 2007 2008 2005 %
Volatility , . ....cooi i 62% - 84% 72% - 83% 0%
Risk-free interestrate .............. ... ...t 42%-4.9% 4.57%-5.08% 4.05%
Expectedlife .......... ... cciiiiiiiiiiiie 43-63years 4.2-54years  4years
Estimated fairvalue ...............coovoun, $2.92-$17.04 $0.81-%1.35 $0.15

(" The estimated values and assumptions that the Company used in calculating fair value prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Concurrent with the IPO in June 2007, the Company established the 2007 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP). This plan provides for consecutive six-month offering periods, except for the
first such offering period which commenced on June 7, 2007 and will end on the first trading day on or
after February 15, 2008. The Black-Scholss option pricing model is used to estimate the fair value of
rights to acquire stock granted under the ESPP. Compensation cost related to the ESPP under
FAS123 (R) were approximately $1.7 million for 2007 and the fair value of the ESPP shares were
estimated at the date of grant using the following assumptions:

Year Ended
December 29,
Employee Stock Purchase Plan _L
Volatility ... i e 49%
Risk-freeinterestrate ..........oviiriiiiiieniiricarannns 4.97%
Expectedlife ....... ... ... iiiiii e 0.7 years
Estimated fairvalue ........... . ..t iciii ey $4.17

The Company began issuing Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) in the second quarter of 2007
pursuant to the Company’s 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. An RSU is a right to receive a share of the
Company's common stock when the unit vests. During 2007, the Company granted RSUs to
employees to purchase an aggregate of 0.6 million shares of common stock at no cost, vesting
annually over four or five years. The Company accounted for the fair value of the RSUs using the
closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. As of December 29, 2007,
total compensation cost related to restricted stock based awards to employees but not yet amortized
was approximately $9.9 million, net of estimated forfeitures of $1.5 million. Amortization of RSU stock-
based compensation in 2007 was approximately $1.2 million.

The Company had previously issued non-recourse notes to non-executive officers to finance the
purchase of a total of 0.3 million shares of common stock of the Company. Because these employee
notes were deemed to be non-recourse, the equity awards are subject to variable accounting.
Accordingly, stock compensation expense of $2.2 million calculated based on the change in intrinsic
value, was recorded for the year ended December 29, 2007. All previously issued non-recourse notes
where repaid in 2007.

The Company accounts for stock options granted to non-employees in accordance with Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
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Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction With Selling, Goods or Services” (EITF No. 96-18) and
related interpretations. The Company grants stock options to certain consultants and non-employee
advisory board members for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value of
the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. Under EITF No. 96-18, compensation expense on
non-employee stock oplions is subject to variable accounting and is calculated using the Black Scholes
option-pricing model and is recorded using the straight-line method over the vesting period, which
approximates the service period. Total compensation expenses related to options granted to
consultants were immaterial for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The following table summarizes the effects of stock-based compensation related to employee
awards, employee non-recourse notes and non-employees on the Company's consolidated balance
sheets and statements of operations for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Years Ended
Yoar Endod
Decembor 29, December 31,
2007 2006 2005 (0
(In thousands)
Stock-based compensation effects In inventory
Beginningbalance . ........ ... ...l $ 82 $— $—
Stock-based compensation expense added to inventory . .......... 3,384 112 —_
Stock-based compensation expenses recognized as cost of
=Y (38) {2)
Stock-based compensation expense released from inventory to
deferredinventory costs . ....... ..ot e (1,213) (28) —
Closing balance ... ... .o i i i innaans $2215 82 $—
Stock-based compensation effects In deferred inventory cost
Beginning balance . .............oiiiiiiii e $ 23 $— $—
Stock-based compensation expense added from inventory . ........ 1,213 28 -
Stock-based compensation expense recognized as cost of
(=00 1111 2 (289) (5) —
Closing balance .. ....... .. ..o $ 947 $23 $—
Stock-based compensation effects in loss before income taxes
CoStof rBVeNUE . ... ... i ittt it iy $ 410 $ 4 $—
Researchanddevelopment ........c..oiiiiiiiiini e, 3,761 411 36
Salesandmarkeling .......... .. ... i 1,854 198 899
General and administration . .......... ... ... L. 3,314 335 7
9,329 985 142
Cost of revenue—amortization from balance sheet® .............. 327 7 _
Total stock-based compensation BXPENSE . ........vvveivroranr. $ 9,656 $992 $£142

M The estimated values and assumptions that the Company used in caiculating fair value prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R).

*  Reprasents stock-based compsnsation expense deferred to inventory and deferred inventory
costs In prior periods and recognized in the current period.
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inventory Valuation

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods and are staled at
standard cost adjusted to approximate the lower of actual cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.
Market value is based upon an estimated selling price reduced by the estimated cost of disposal. The
determination of market value involves numerous judgments including estimated average selling prices
based upon recent sates volumes, industry trends, existing customer orders, current contract price,
future demand and pricing for its products and technological obsolescence of the Company's products.

Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of the Company's forecasted demand or is anticipated to be
sold al a loss is written down to its estimated net realizable value based on historical usage and
expected demand.

The Company recorded total inventory write-downs for lower of cost or market (LCM) adjustments
in 2007, 2006 and 2005 of $12.3 million, $21.7 million and $9.7 million, respectively. These
adjustments related to the Company’s inventory and firm purchase commitments with suppliers and
included the impact of expected losses on common equipment. In addition, the Company recorded
inventory write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory in 2007, 2006 and 2005 of $5.0 million, $1.7
million and $(0.7) million, respectively. These write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory were
reflected as cost of ratable product and related support and services and cost of product.

tn valuing its deferred inventory costs, the Company considered the valuation of inventory using
the guidance of Accounting Research Bulietin 43 “Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research
Bulletins” (ARB 43). In particular, the Company considered ARB 43, Chapter 4, Statement 5 and
whether the utility of the products delivered or expected to be delivered at less than cost, primarily
comprised of common equipment, had declined. The Company concluded that, in the instances where
the utility of the products delivered or expected to be delivered were less than cost, it was appropriate
to value the deferred inventory costs and inventory costs at cost or market, whichever is lower, thereby
recognizing the cost of the reduction in utility in the pericd in which the reduction occurred or can be
reasonably estimated. The Company has, therefore, recorded inventory wrile-downs as necessary in
each period in order to reflect common equipment inventory at the lower of cost or market. In addition,
the Company considered the guidance provided in ARB 43, Chapter 4, Statement 10 relating to losses
on firm purchase commitments related to inventory items. Given that the expected selling price of
common equipment in the future remains below cost, the Company has also recorded losses on these
firm purchase commitments in the period in which the commitment is made. When the inventory parts
related to these firn purchase commitments are received, that inventory is recorded at the purchase
price less the accrual for the loss on the purchase commitment,

If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional
inventory write-downs may be required.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

Management makes judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide
allowances for the portion of receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made
based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. At December 29, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, management has not reserved any of the Company’s accounts receivable as they
were deemed fully collectible.
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Allowances for Sales Returns

Customer product returns are approved on a case by case basis. Specific reserve provisions are
made based upon a specific review of all' the approved product returns, where the customer has yet to
return the products to generats the related sales retum credit at the end of a period. Estimated sales
returns are provided for as a reduction to deferred revenue and were not material for any period
presented on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the majority of the Company’s
revenue Is recognized on a ratable basis. At December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2008,
management has reserved $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

The Company warrants that its products will operate substantially in conformity with produ
specifications. Upon delivery of the Company’s products, the Company provides for the estimated cost
to repair or replace products or the related components that may be retumed under warranty. In
general, the Company's hardware warranty periods range from 2 to 5 years from date of acceptance
for hardware and 90 days to 60 months for software warranty. The hardware warranty reserve is based
on actual historical retumns experience and the impact of the returns rate on future estimated retumns.
The Company periodically assesses tha adequacy of its recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the
amounts as necessary.

Warranty Reserve

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short and Long-term Investments

The Company considers all liquid instruments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of
80 days or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts
which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in
such accounts.

The Company considers all debt instruments with remaining time to maturity of one year or less to
be short-term invesiments. At December 28, 2007 and December 31, 2006, cash equivalents, short
and long-term investments consisted primarily of money market funds, commercial paper, corporate
bonds, U.S. agency notes and adjustable rate notes. The Company's cash equivalents, short and long-
term investments are classified as avaitable-for-sale in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 115, "Accounting for Certain investments in Debt and Equity Securitios.”

All cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term investments are staled at fair market value
based on quoted market prices with unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated
comprehensive loss as a separate component of stockholders' equity (deficit). The amortized cost of
debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity, both of
which are included in interest income. Gains are recognized when realized in the Company’s
consolidated statements of opsrations. Losses are recognized as realized or when the Company has
determined that an other-than-temporary decline in fair value has cccurred. Gains and losses are
determined using the specific identification method.

In accordance with SFAS No. 115, it is the Company's policy to review its marketable debt
securities classified as short or long-term investments on a regular basis 1o evaluate whether or not
any security has experienced an other-than-temporary decline in fair value. The Company’s policy
includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the length of time and extent to which the market value has
been less than amortized cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and its
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intent and ability to retain its invastment in the issuer for a sufficient period of time to allow for recovery
in market value. if the Company believes that an other-than-temporary decline exists in one of its
marketable debt securities, its policy is to write down these debt investments to the market value and
record the related write-down as an investment loss on its consolidated statements of operations. No
impairment charges were recorded for 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Fair Values of Financial instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short amount
of time to maturity. Fair values of short and long-term investments are based on quoted market prices.
All securities in the portfolio are based on quoted prices at year end. The fair values of the Company's
obligations under lines of credit and term loans are based on current rates offered to the Company for
similar debt instruments of the same remaining maturities. There were no lines of cradit and term loans
outstanding at December 29, 2007. The carrying value of the Company'’s lines of credit and term loans
approximated fair value at December 31, 2006. The fair value of the convertible preferred stock
warrant liabilities was estimated using a combination of both the Black-Scholes and Lattice option
pricing models.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Depreciation expense was $9.3
million, $7.0 miflion and $6.2 millicn for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Leasehold improvements
are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life
of the asset. An assumption of lease renewal where a renewal option exists is used only when the
renewa! has been determined to be reasonably assured. Repair and maintenance cosls are expensed
as incurred. The estimated useful life for each asset category is as fallows:

Estimated Useful lives 3
Laboratory and manufacturingequipment .. ......... ... .. ..., 1.5to 10 years \ 2
Fumitureand fixtures .......... ..ottt 5 years —-
Computer hardware and software ......................oiinann. 1.5 to 3 years ' ,-c;
Leasehold improvements ............ ..o 110 7 years .

The Company regularly reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever avents or changes in
circumstances indicate that the camrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable or that the
useful life is shorter than originally estimated. If impairment indicators are present and the projected
future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets, the carrying values are
reduced to the estimated fair value. If assets are determined to be recoverable, but the useful livas are
shorter than originally estimated, the cammying value of the assets is depreciated over the newly
determined remaining useful lives. Impairment losses have been immaterial through December 29,
2007.

Valuation of Intangibles

The Company tasts for asset impaimment of amortizing intangible assets using the guidance of
SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” where recoverability
of these assets is assessed only when evenis have occurred that may give rise to impairment. When
events or circumstances indicate that a potential impairment may have occuired, future undiscounted
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net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over thelr remaining lives are
compared to the current camying amounts of such assets. When projected cash flows are less than the
carrying amounts of the intangibles, an impairment loss would be recognized by comparing the
discounted present value of future cash flows to carrying amounts and writing down the excess of the
camrying amounts to their respective fair values. No impairment losses have been recognized through
December 29, 2007.

Deferred inventory Costs

When the Company’s products have been delivered, but the product revenue associated with the
arrangement has been deferred as a result of not meeting the revenue recognition criteria in SOP 97-2
or the costs are related to product sales bundled with training, software warranty or product support
services where the revenue is deferred and recognized ratably, the Company also defers the related
inventory costs for the delivered items in accordance with ARB 43.

Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the
Company is required to estimate its taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. The
Company estimates actual current tax expense together wilh assessing temporary differences resulting
from differing treatment of items, such as accruals and allowances not currently deductible for tax
purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in the
Company's consolidated balance shesets. In general, deferred tax assets represent future tax benefits
to be received when certain expenses previously recognized in the Company's consolidated
statements of operations become deductible expenses under applicable income tax laws or loss or
credit carry-forwards are utilized. Accordingly, reatization of the Company's deferred 1ax assets is
dependent on future taxable income within the respeclive jurisdictions against which these deductions,
losses and credits ¢can be utilized within the applicable future periods.

The Company must assess the likelihood that some portion or all of its deferred tax assets will be
recovared from future taxable income within the respective jurisdictions, and to the extent the
Company believes that recovery does not meet the “more-likely-than-not” standard, it must establish a
valuation aliowance. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.
Management judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for Income taxes, its
deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against its net deferred tax
assets. At December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Company’s deferred tax assets were fully
reserved with a valuation allowance because, based on the available evidence, the Company believed
at that time it was more likely than not that it would not be able to utilize those deferred tax assets in
the future. The Company intends to maintain the full valuation allowances until sufficient evidence
exists to support the reversal of the valuation allowances. The Company nakes estimates and
judgments about its future taxable income, by jurisdiction, based on assumptions that are consistent
with its plans and estimates. Should the actual amounts differ from the Company’s estimates, the
amount of its valuation allowance could be materially impacted.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, long-term investments and trade receivables.
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Investment policies have been implemented that limit investments to investment grade securities.
Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations the Company performs
on its customers and by the financial strength of the Company's customer base. Collateral is generally
not required for trade receivables. Level 3 Communications (Level 3) and Broadwing, which Level 3
acquired in January 2007, together accounted for approximately 47%, 75% and 28% of the Company’s
revenue in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In 2007, the Company had one other customer that
represented over 10% of the Company’s revenue. In 2006, the Company had no other customer that
represented over 10% of the Company's revenue. In 2005, the Company had four other customers that
each represented over 10% of the Company's revenue. At December 29, 2007, the Company had
amounts due from one other customer that represented over 10% of the Company's accounts
receivables balance.

The Company depends on a single or limited number of suppliers for components and raw
materials. The Company generally purchases these single or limited source components and materials
through standard purchase orders and has no long-term guarantee supply agreements with its
suppliers. While the Company seeks to maintain sufficient reserve stock of such products, the
Company’s business and results of operations could be adversely affected by a stoppage or delay in
receiving such components and materials, the receipt of defectlive parts, an increase in price of such
components and materials or the Company's inability to obtain reduced pricing from its suppliers in
response to competitive pressures.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The Company considers the functional currencies of its foreign subsidiaries to be the local
currency. Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate as of
the balance sheet date, and costs and expenses are translated at average exchange rates in effect
during the year. Equity transactions are translated using historical exchange rates. The effects of
foreign currency translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity
(ceficit) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Foreign denominated monetary accounts
have been remeasured to the U.S. dollar. Aggregate foreign currency transaction gains {losses)
recorded were not material in 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Accumulated Comprehensive income (Loss)

Accumulated comprehensive income (loss) consists of other comprehensive income (loss) and net
loss. Other comprehensive income (loss) includes certain changes in squity that are excluded from net
loss. Specifically, cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized holding gains
(losses) on available-for-sale investments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the
consolidated balance sheets.

The components of other accumulated comprehensive income (loss) are as follows (in thousands):

Dacember 29, December 31,
2007 2008

Accumulated net unrealized gain (loss} on foreign currency

translationadjustment ... ... ................ . . $55 $(153)
Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on available-for-sale

investments ........ ... oot e s 23 —
Other accumulated comprehensive income (Joss) ............ $78 $(153)
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Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were approximately $0.4
million, $0.2 million and $56,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Research and Development

All costs to develop the Company’s hardware products are expensed as incurred. SoRlware
development costs are capitalized beginning when a product's technological feasibility has been
established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers. Generally, the
Company's software producls are released soon after technological feasibility has been established.
As a result, costs subsequent to achiaving technological feasibility have not been significant and all
software development costs have been expensed as incurred.

Freestanding Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

Upon the closing of the Company's IPO in June 2007, warrants to purchase shares of the
Company's convertible preferred stock became warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock and, as a result, are no longer subject to Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff
Position {FSP) No. 150-5, "Issuers Accounting under Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants
and Other Similar Instruments on Shares that are Redeernable™ (FSP 150-5). The then-current
aggregate fair value of these warrants of $25.2 million was reclassified from current liabilities to
additional paid-in capital, a component of stockheolders’ equity (deficit), and the Company has ceased
to record any further periodic fair value adjustments.

In 2007 (through the complation of its IPQ) and 2006, the Company recorded $19.8 million and
$2.4 million, respectively, of expense reflected in other gain (loss), net to refiect the increase in fair
value during the period.

2. Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle

On June 29, 2005, the FASB issued FSP 150-5, This Staff Position affirms that such warrants are
subject to the requirements in FSP 150-1, regardless of the timing of the redemption feature or the
redemption price. Therefore, under FSP 150-5, the freestanding warrants that were related 1o the
Company's convertible preferred stock and common stock are liabilities that should be recorded at fair
value. The Company previously accounted for freestanding warrants for the purchase of the
Company's convertible preferred stock under EITF No. 96-18.

Effective July 1, 2005, the Company adopted FSP 150-5 and reclassified the fair value of the
warrants from equity to liability and recorded a cumulative effect of $1.1 million. In addition, the
Company recorded charges of $0.2 million to reflect the increase in fair value between July 1, 2005
and December 31, 2005. In 2008, the Company recorded $2.4 million of charges in other loss, net to
reflect the increase in fair value between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2006,
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The Company estimated the fair value of these warrants using the Black-Scholes model for
change of control scenario and the Lattice model for a successful initial public offering scenario. The
Company then used a probability weighted average of per-share values under the different scenanos
to determine the fair value of these warrants at the respective balance sheet dates.

June 12, 2007
Change of Control Scenario IFO Scanario
Por E?aeud
Exorcise Share erm  Intorost Per cm:mgl Interost Per
Price Valus Probabllity (yrs) Rate Volatility Share Probatilty Term(yrs) Rate Volatlity Share
..5 9.68 31478 0% 0.0 495% 55% $14,38 100% 11 507% 60% $14.78
.. 1245 1278 0% 0.0 495% 55% 1161 100% 18 506% 65% 1278
L. 240 21.72 0% 0.0 495% 55% 2168 100% 4.6 5.12% 70% 21.72
.. 378 2037 0% 0.0 495% 55% 2028 100% 50 509% 70% 2037
.. 540 1881 0% 0.0 495% 50% 18.66 100% 34 509% 65% 18.81
.. 540 1881 0% 0.0 495% 50% 1866 100% 36 509% 65% 1881
.. 540 1881 0% 0.0 495% 50% 1868 100% 7 500% 65% 18.81
.. 540 1881 0% 0.0 495% 50% 1866 100% 39 512% 65% 18.81
.. 540 18.81 0% 0.0 495% 50% 18.66 100% 41 5.12% 65% 18.81
.. 540 1881 0% 0.0 495% 50% 18.66 100% 4.2 512% B65% 18.81
8.96 15.87 0% 0.0 495% 60% 1510 100% 6.1 5.18% B80% 15.87
896 1585 0% 0.0 495% 60% 1510 100% 7.1 5.21% B0% 15.85
8.96 1599 0% 0.0 495% 60% 1510 100% 8.1 521% 80% 15.89
896 16.04 0% 0.0 495% 60% 1510 100% 8.9 523% B80% 16.04
Decambaer 31, 2006
Change of Control Scenario IPO Scanerio
Por Ex'romd Per Remaining Per
Exgrcise Share orm  Interest Share Contractual Interest Share
Price Value Probability (yrs) Rate Volatiity Valus Probabllity Term(yrs) Rate Volatity Value
..$1000 $ 3.28 40% 0.9 501% B60% $ 2.85 60% 1.5 491% 65% $ 3.60
.. 1396 372 40% 0.9 501% 60% 268 60% 2.2 481% 70% 443
.. 240 538 40% 0.9 501% 60% 5.28 60% 5.0 4.70% 75% 544
.. 380 472 40% 0.9 501% 60% 440 60% 55 4.70% 75% 4.91
.. 540 388 40% 0.9 501% 55% KRS €0% 39 471% 70% 4.20
.. 540 388 40% 0.8 501% 55% 341 60% 4.0 471% T0% 419
.. 540 388 40% 0.9 501% 55% 3.4 B60% 4.4 4.7T1% 70% 422
.. 540 388 40% 09 5.01% 55% 341 60% 4.5 4T1% 70% 41
.. 540 388 40% 0.9 501% 55% 3.4 60% 4.6 4711% 70% 423
8.9 092 40% 0.9 501% 65% 0.19 60% 6.5 470% 85% 1.44
896 0.88 40% 0.9 5.01% B5% 0.19 60% 1.5 470% 85% 1.36
898 1.00 40% 0.9 501% 65% 0.19 60% 8.5 471% B5% 1.53
Docomber 31, 2003
Change of Control Scenario IPQ Scenarlo
Per
Exerclss Sh:m Em” Interest s::rra gmuimnlnnl Interost s:::e
Price Value Probabillty (yrs) Rate Volatiity Valus Probablity Term (yrs) Rate Volatiiity Value
..31000 $ 056 100% 0.3 4.08% 60% 0.57 0% 03 408% 60% $ 057
.. 10.00 0.88 100% 05 4.14% 60% 0.89 0% 0.5 4.14% 60% 0.89
.. 10,00 2.88 90% 19 440% 70% 2.82 10% 25 4.39% 75% 3.40
.. 1396 3.60 90% 1.9 440% 70% .47 10% 32 4.38% 80% 4.90
.. 240 224 0% 19 440% 70% 220 10% 8.0 4.36% 85% 263
.. 380 220 90% 1.9 440% 70% 2.1 10% 6.5 4.36% 85% 2.79
.. 540 248 90% 1.9 4.40% 65% 2.39 10% 49 4.36% 80% 3.26
.. 540 248 90% 19 440% 65% 239 10% 5.0 4.36% B0% 27
886 008 90% 1.9 440% 75% 0.05 10% 75 437T% 95% 0.44
896 0.08 0% 1.9 440% 75% 0.05 10% 85 4.38% 95% 0.44

Both models require the Company to make highly subjective assumptions, and a change in the
Company's assumptions could materizlly affect the fair value estimates.
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The impact of the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle on net loss per common
share was as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005
{In thousands, except per share data)

December 29,
2007

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted:

INFINERA CORPORATION
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting

PANGIPIE ... i e e $ (1.09) $(14.90) $(14.33)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .. .. — — 0.25
NetloSS ...t e $ (1.09) $(14.90) $(14.08)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per

commonshare................. ... ot 50,732 6,036 4,605

The following table presents the pro forma effect of the adoption of FSP 150-5 on results of
operations for 2005, if applied retroactively, assuming FSP 150-5 had been adopted in that year.

Docember 31,
| (In thousands, except per share data) 2005
Netloss, @S TePOMtEd . ... ....vitur ittt aiireen i e rannan $(64,826)
Add: Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle included in net
0SS L ittt i e e e e e et e (1,137)
Changeinfairvalue of wamamts .. ...........coviviiniiiiniiinninn e, (229)
Proforma Nt I0SS .. . i e e e (66,192)
Pro forma loss per common shars, basicanddiluted ...................... $ (14.37)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share ... ... 4,605

3. Balance Sheet Components
Avaliable-for-Sale Investments

Available-for-sale investments ware as follows for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2007 and
December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

December 29, 2007

, Gross Gross

Amortlzed Unreallzed  Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Moneymarket ...........coeevueernunn $ 35857 $— $— $ 35857

Commercial paper ..........coeevuvenn 74,352 12 (8) 74,356

Corporatebonds ...................... 49,796 47 {29) 49,814

US.agencynotes .................... 21,945 6 (5) 21,846

Adjustableratenotes .................. 96,150 — — 96,150

Total available-for-sale invastments . ... .. $278,100 $ 65 $(42) $278,123
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December 31, 2006

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealizod  Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Falr Value
Moneymarket ................ccceeun.. $ 16 $— $— $ 16
Commercial paper ..................... 15,075 2 — 15,077
Corporatebonds . ...................... 690 — (2) 688
US.agencynotes .................. ... — — - —
Adjustableratenotes ................... —_ —_ — -
Total available-for-sale investments ....... $15,781 $ 2 $ (2) $15,781

A summary of the carrying values and balance sheet classification was as follows for the fiscal
years ended December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006 (in thousands).

December 29, December 31,
2007 2008

Available-for-saleinvestments . .............oovierinnn. $278,123 $15,781
Cashinbanks .......... ..t inrennans 24,370 13,79
Restricted cash . .........coii it i i et e e 3,337 —
I 1 $305,830 $29,572
Reported as:

Cashandcashequivalents .............................. $ 91,209 $28,884
Shorl-tarminvestments . ....... ..o riiiiir i 181,168 688
Short-termrestricted cash .. ... .. i 743 —
Long-terminvestments . ................ ... it 30,116 -
Long-termrestrictedcash ............... ... i, 2,504 —

$305,830 $29,672

Commercial paper and corporate bond investments have a contractual maturity term of less than
one year. Realized gains (losses) on short and long-term investments were not material for 2007, 2006
and 2005.

Restricted Cash

At December 29, 2007, the Company had shert-term restricted cash of $0.7 million and iong-term
restricted cash of $2.6 million. The Company's restricted cash batances are comprised of certificates of
deposit, of which the majority are not FDIC insured. These amounts primarily collateralize the
Company's issuances of stand-by and commercial letters of credit. At December 31, 20086, the
Company's restricted cash balance was zero.

93




INFINERA CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—{Continued)

Inventory
Inventory is comprised of the following (In thousands):
Decomber 29, December 31,
2006

2007
Rawmaterials ... ...t iiiiiner s $10,475 $ 6,700
WOrKINPIrOCESS ... .oivtiin i it nsatsiar e ennns 35,110 38,104
Finished googds ........c.. i iiniiiinrramniianranenas 12,994 13,465
TOtal INVENMONY .\ ottt e $58,579 $58,269

Included in finished goods inventory at December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006 were $1.5
million and $6.8 miilion, respectively, of inventory at customer locations for which product acceptance
had not occurred.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net is comprised of the following {in thousands):

Decemnber 29, December 31,
2006

2007

Computer hardwars ...........c..coovveuineoneinnananenns $ 4267 $ 2148

f COMPULEE SORWATE . . . oo e vveeeesinnaeereennenoanenn 3,111 2,892
Laboratory and manufacturing equipment .................. 50,897 36,262

N ) Furniture and fixtures .............oviieiiiiiiiiaans 805 559
ERRES Leasehold improvements . .........co.veeimiiiiiiiiiniins 12,438 10,918
Y 71,518 52,779
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ............ {34,545) (26,114)

Property, plant and equipment,net ................ ...l $ 36,973 $ 26,665

Property, plant and equipment, net includes approximately $0.8 million In asset retirement
obligations recorded as of December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006. These asset retirement
obligations are related to various office leases in California and Maryland.

intangible Assets

: Purchased and other intangible assets are camied at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization expenses are recorded to the appropriate cost and expense categories. The Company
expects amortization expense on purchased intangible assets to be approximately $0.3 million for 2008
and 2009, approximately $0.2 million for each year from 2010 through 2012, approximately $55,000 for
each year from 2013 through 2020, and approximately $34,000 in 2021, at which time purchased
intangible assets will be fully amortized. The weighted average amortization period as of December 29,
2007 and December 31, 2006 was approximately 10 years. Amortization of intangible assets was $0.3
million, $0.2 million and $19,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Other intangible assets, net are comprised of the following (in thousands):

Decomber 29, 2007 December 31, 2006
Gross Gross

Carrylng Accumulated Carrylng Accumulated

Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
Patents & devetoped technology .... $1,628 $(317) $1.311 $1628 $(156) $1,472
Assembled workforce and other . . . .. 370 (140) 230 370 (36) 334
Total intangibleassets .. ........... $1,998 $(457) $1,541 $1,998 $(192) $1.806
Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses are comprised of the following (in thousands):
December 28, December 31,
2007 2006

Loss contingency related to purchase commitments ................... $1,880 $ 3,518
Customer prepay liability . ......... e 1,109 2,855
Professional and other consultingfees ................ ..o vienis. 392 2,063
Other acCrued BXPeNSES . ... ... eee et iaaa it snnaaeas 6,116 8,138
Total ACCrUBd BXPENSES . ... .vuiierrr et aaaiiaar e $9,497 $16,574

4. Significant Agreements

On November 9, 2005, the Company purchased certain assets of Big Bear Networks, Inc. (BBN)
for a net consideration of $1.1 million. The purchase price consisted of $2.0 million in an assumed note
payable, $0.6 million in cash and $0.1 million in transaction fees. An additional $25,000 was retained in
an escrow account, which is payable to BBN's former shareholders and subject to any indemnification
claims at the end of the applicable escrow period. This was offset by net proceeds of $1.7 million from
the sale of certain non-strategic assets acquired from BBN to a third party purchaser and a $50,000
write-off of an accounts payabie balance due to BBN. The purchase of these assets was accounted for
under the guidance of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other intangibie Assets” (SFAS 142), for
intangible assets acquired with a group of other assets not part of a business combination.

Based on the assessment of fair value of the acquired assets acquired from BBN, performed by an
independent third party valuation firm, the Company allocated $60,000 to tangible equipment, $0.2
million to inventory and the remaining $0.8 million to intangible assets. The intangible assets represent
purchased technologies and are amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of
seven years. The amonrtization is recorded in cost of ratable product and related support and services.
The accumulated amortization for intangible assets as of December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006
was $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, The carrying value of these intangibles at December 29,
2007 and December 31, 2006 was $0.6 million and $0.7 million, respectively. Based on identified
intangible assets recorded at December 29, 2007, the annua! amortization expense for each period is
expected to be approximately $0.1 million for each year beginning 2008 through 2012, at which time
the intangible assets will be fully amortized. :

On July 13, 2006, the Company entered into a supply and services agreement with Broadwing
Corporation (Broadwing) whereby the Company agreed to sell certain customized products and
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provide manufacturing and support for one of Broadwing's preduct divisions. The manufacturing is
based on Broadwing's specifications using its technology, former manufacturing facility and equipment,
and certain inteflectual property utilized in the manufacture of such products that is owned or licensed
by Broadwing. In connection with the agreement, the Company issued a warrant to Broadwing to
purchase the equivalent of 92,592 shares of Series G convertible preferred stock at a price of $5.40
per share (after giving effact to the 4:1 revaerse stock split in May 2007). Subsequent to the IPO, this
preferred warrant was converted to a warrant to purchase the same number of shares of common
stock and the exercise price remained the same. The fair value of the warrants of $189,000 was
recorded as a reduction to product revenue. in addition, the Company hired cerlain Broadwing
employees in connection with this supply and service agreement. The Company's obligations under
this agreement ended on June 30, 2007. Accordingly, the Company recorded an asset impairment
charge of $0.4 millicn in the second quarter of 2007.

On August 16, 2006, the Company purchased certain assets of Little Optics, Inc. for net
consideration of $9.5 million. The purchase price consisted of $4.7 million in cash, $4.5 mitlion in an
assumed note payable, $251,000 in fair value of a warrant to purchase 0.1 million shares of Series G
convartible preferred stock, and $90,000 in net liabilities assumedq. Upon the closing of the IPO, this
preferred stock warrant became a warrant to purchase the same number cof shares of common stock
and the exarcise price remained the same. The purchase of these assets was accounted for under the
guidance of SFAS 142 for intangible assets acquired with a group of assets not part of a business
combination.

Based on the assessment of fair value of the acquired assets performed by an independent third
party valuation firm, the Company aflocated $4.5 million to in-process research and development, $3.8
million to tangible equipment and the remaining $1.2 million to intangible assets. The in-process
research and development was written off on the acquisition date because technological feasibility had
not been sstablished and no aiternative future uses existed. The intangible assets represent patents,
assembled workforce and customer contracts. The fair values of the intangibles on the date of
acquisition are amortized on a siraight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to
fiteen years. The amortization is recorded in amortization of intangible assets on the statement of
operations. The accumulated amortization for these intangible assets was approximately $0.2 miltion
and $0.1 million as of December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The carrying value of
these intangibles at December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006 was $1.0 million and $1.1 million,
respectively. Based on identified intangible assets recorded at December 29, 2007, the annual
amortization expense for each period is expected to be approximately $0.1 million for each year
baginning 2008 through 2012, $55,000 in 2013 through 2020 and $34,000 in 2021, at which time the
intangible assets will be fully amortized. The in-process research and development charge of $4.5
million was recorded in research and development expanse in 2006.

On January 23, 2007, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Broadwing, a
division of Level 3, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase various assets associated with
the former supply of Broadwing products, consisting primarily of test and manufacturing equipment for
$1.2 million. Based on an assessment by management of the fair value of the assets, $0.7 million of
the acquisition cost was allocated to equipment retained by the Company for internal use and $0.5
million was allocated to assets held for sale. In 2007, the Company had generated procseds of $3.1
million from the sale of a porlion of the assets held for sale and resulted in a gain of $2.7 million
reflected as a component of other income (expense), net. The balance of the assets held for sate was
immaterial at December 29, 2007. The equipment retained for intemal use was redeployed and
depreciation commenced in accordance with the Company’s depreciation policy.
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5. Baslc and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average
number of vested common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per common share is
computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common shares, including opticns, RSUs, right to
acquire stock under the ESPP, common stock subject to repurchase, warrants to purchase common
and convertible preferred stock and convartible preferred stock before conversion.

The following table sets forth the computation of net loss per common share (in thousands, except
per share amounts):

Years Ended
Year Ended
December 29, December 31,
2007 2006 2005
NEEIOSS ..ottt i e e e $(55,342) $(89,935) $(64,826)
Weighted average common shares outstanding net of weighted-
average common shares subject to repurchase .............. 50,732 6,036 4,605
Basic and diluted net loss percommonshare .............c.c000- $ (1.09) $ (14.90) $ (14.08)

The following outstanding options, common stock subject to repurchase, convertible preferred
stock, right to acquire stock under the ESPP, RSUs and warrants to purchase convertible preferred
stock and common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per common share for
the periods presented because Including them would have had an antidilutive effect. The shares of
common stock issuable upon conversion or exercise of such outstanding securities consist of the
following (in thousands):

Years Ended
Yoar Ended December 31,

December 29, ——
2007 2006 2005
Options to purchasecommonstock ...............covvi et 11,125 7872 6,696
Common stock subjecttorepurchase ...............c.oiveeenn. 1,086 1,513 739
Options outstanding related to non-recoursenotes ................. — 114 331
Employee stock purchaseplan .............. .. ..ot 500 — —
Restricted stock UNitS .. ... ... i e 616 — —
Convertible preferred stock (as converted basis) .................. — 59,428 45297
Convertible preferred and common stock warrants
(asconverted basis) .. ......virireiiiiiai i 768 1,333 867

6. Deferred Revenue and Deferred Inventory Costs
Deferred revenue and deferred inventory costs consist of the foltowing (in thousands):
December 29, December 31,

2007 2006

Deferred ratable produi:t and related support and services, current . .... .. $167,021 $101,080
Deferred ratable product and related support and services, non-current . .. 7,406 9,873
Total deferred reVeNUE ... ......uveeoerennirinnereennaaeins $174,437 $110,953
Deferrad inventory costs, cummant .. ... ... . . i i $ 78,362 $ 62,936
Deferred inventory CoSts, NON-CUITENt .. ... ... veuenrniiornrinas nns 3,260 4,317
Total deferred inventory CostS ... ... o ian ittt a i $ 81622 § 67,253
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Deferred ratable product and related support and services revenus consists of revenue on
transactions where VSOE of fair value of support and other services has not been established and
therefore, the entire arrangement is being recognized ratably over the fongest bundled support or
service period. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company amended several of its significant sales
contracts to shorten the contractual software warranty periods to between 90 days and one year, which
management believes is more typical in the industry. This contractual change in the software warranty
period resulted in the reduction of the average racognition period for ratable revenue from 3.7 years in
the third quarter of 2008 to 1.3 years in the fourth quarter of 2008. This reduction in the amortization
period was primarily due 1o the contractual changes in the software warranty period as discussed
above and the Company's standard practice of negotiating shorter contractual software warranty
periods in new contracts.

7. Commitment and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases facilities under non-cancelable oparating lease agreemenis, The Company
had five primary lease agreements at December 29, 2007: two covering its headquarters, research and
development (R&D) and manufacturing facility In Sunnyvale, California, one covering its R&D and
manufacturing facility in Allentown, Peninsylvania, cne coverning its R&D facility in Annapotis Junction,
Maryland, and one covering its softwara development facility in Bangalore, India. Terms of the leases
are from one to seven years. Additionally, the Company leases sales office space in China, Germany,
Hong Kong, Korea and the United Kingdom, which leases expire between 2007 and 2009.

Included as pari of the five primary lease agreements, on August 31, 2005, the Company entered
into a 15-month lease for office space adjacent to its manufacturing facility in Sunnyvale, California,
expiring on December 31, 2008. On July 24, 2006, this lease was extended for an additional year and
expires on December 31, 2007. In June 2007, the Company exercised its oplion to extend the lease for
an additional three years effective January 1, 2008,

Additionally, on July 17, 2008, the Company entered into a five year lease expiring on August 31,
2011 for additional office space adjacent to its existing Sunnyvale, California facility. This new space
serves as the Company's administrative headquarters. On May 29, 2007, this |lease was amended to
include warehouse space in an adjacent building.

On July 13, 2006, the Company entered into a supply and services agreement with Broadwing,
whereby the Company agreed to manufacture, sell and provide support for certain of its division
products. In connection with the agreernent, the Company assumed a sublease for a manufacturing
facility in Maryland, where the manufacture of the products would continue. The sublease expired on
October 31, 2007 and the Company vacated the premises at that time. Total expense for this lease
was $0.4 million and $0.3 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease period and have
accrued for rent expense incurred but riot paid. Rent expense for all leases was $3.6 million, $1.7
million and $1.4 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has service agreaments with its major production suppliers, where the Company is
committed to purchase certain parts. As of December 29, 2007 and December 31, 2006, these
non-cancelable purchase commitments were $33.7 million and $39.2 million, respectivaly.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 28, 2007:

Payments Due by Period
Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3years 3l-S5years 3 years
{in thousands)
Purchase obligations .............. ..o $33,652 $33652 $ — $ — $—
Operatingleases .............ocovieinnann. 13,6563 3,566 6,723 3,364 -
Total contractual obligations ................. $47,305 $37,218 $6,723 $3,364 $ -

Indemnification Obligations

From time to time, the Company enters into certain types of contracts that contingently require it to
indemnify parties against third-party claims. These contracts primarily relate to: (i) certain real estate
leases under which the Company may be required to indemnify property owners for environmental and
other liabilities, and other claims arising from the Company's use of the applicable premises; (ii) certain
agreements with the Company's officers, directors and certain key employees, under which the
Company may be required to indemnify such persons for liabilities; and (iii) certain provisions in the
Company's customer agreements that may require the Company to indemnify their customers and
their affiliated parties against certain liabilities, including if the Company’s products infringe a third
party’s intellectual property rights.

The terms of such indemnification obligations vary. Because the maximum obligated amounts
under these agreements generally are not explicitly stated, the maximum potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is
generally unlimited.

To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of the indemnification
obfigations and has not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. The Company has agreed to indemnify Level 3 in connection with
the lawsuit filed by Chestah Omni LLC on May 9, 2006 (see Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for Legal Matters). The Company is contractually obligated to indemnify Level 3
for damages suffered by Level 3 to the extent the Company's product is found to infringe the two
Cheetah Omni LLC patents at issue {patent No. 6,795,605 and 7,142,347), and the Company has
assumed the defense of this matter.

As permitted under Delaware law and the Company's charter and bylaws, the Company has
agreements whereby it indemnifies certain of its officers and each of its directors for certain events or
occurrences while the officer or diractor is, or was, serving at the Company’s request in such capacity.
The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The maximum potential
amount of future paymenis the Company could be required to make under these indemnification
agreements is unlimited; however, the Company has a Director and Officer insurance policy that may
reduce its exposure and enable it to recover all or a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of
Its insurance policy coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair vatue of these indemnification
agreements Is minimal. The Company has no llabilities recorded for these agreements as of
December 29, 2007, as this hability is not reasonably estimable even though liability under these
agreements is not remote.
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INFINERA CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

8. Debt Obligations
Debt consisted of the following:
December 29, December 31,
2007 2008

{In thousands)

Bank l10ans due 2007-2000 . . ... .ottt e e $— $23,481
Assumed debt from acquisilion of assets due 2007 .................... — 4,500
Otherdebt due 2007-2013 . . ...t e e e e — 401
Total GEbt . .. o e e e —_ 28,382
Lasscument Malurities . ... .ot i i e e —_ 20,025
LONg-temM BBt ... e e $— $ 8,357

The Company completed its tPO in June 2007 and generated net proceeds of $190.1 million.
Subsequent to the IPO, the Company used $29.3 million to pay off all of ils outstanding debt except a
$4.5 million promissory note related to an asset acquisition. In September 2007, the Company fully
repaid this promissory note and had no debt outstanding as of December 29, 2007.

On August 16, 2006, the Company purchased certain assets of Little Optics, Inc. The purchase
price was paid in part with a $4.5 million promissory note which bears simple interest of 4% per annum,
The principa! amount together with accrued and unpaid interest of $0.2 million was due on October
2007. In September 2007, the Company repaid this promissory note in full.

On July 31, 2003, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution that
allows for borrowings of up to $0.1 million. The agreement was amended in 2004 to allow for an
additional borrowing amount of $0.2 million and subsequently, $0.2 million was borrowed under the
same arrangement. The weighted average interest rate under this credil facifity as of June 30, 2007
was 6.0%. Under the agreements, warrants to purchase 5,049 shares of common stock at $8.96 per
share were issued. The fair value of these warrants on the date of grant was eslimated to be $5,854.
The amounts recorded as interest expense were not material for 2007, 2006 and 2005. The principal
balance outstanding and classified as non-current was $0.3 million at December 31, 2006. This loan
was repaid in June 2007, and no additional borrowings are allowed under this credit facility.

On December 29, 2004, the Company entered into a growth capital loan agreement with two
co-lender financial institutions. The agreement allowed for borrowings of up to $10.0 million. The loan
was secured by, among other things, a lien on the Company's intellectual property. The interest rate for
the arrangement was 12% for $7.0 million and 11.5% for the remaining $3.0 miflion through June 30,
2005, and then the higher of 11% or prime plus 6.25% for $10.0 million thereafter over three years. In
January 2005, the Company borrowed $3.0 million under this line. Under this agreement, warrants to
purchase 0.1 million shares of Serias E convertible preferred stock at $2.40 per share were issued.
The fair value of these warrants at the date of grant was estimated to be $0.2 million. in March 2005,
the Company issued additional warrants to purchase 0.1 million shares of Series E convertible
preferred stock at $2.40 per share when the Company borrowed the remaining $7.0 miilion under this
line. The fair value of these warrants on the date of grant was estimated to be $0.1 million. The
weighted average interest rate under this credil facility as of June 30, 2007 was 18.3%. The amounts
recorded as interest expense for both warrant issuances were $155,682, $111,634 and $99,875 for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The principal balance outstanding was $6.2 million, of which $3.5
million and $2.7 million were classified as current and non-current, respectively, at December 31, 2006.
This loan was repaid in June 2007, and no additional borrowings are allowed under this credit facility.
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On December 29, 2004, the Company entered into a borrowing arrangement with a financial
institution. This arrangement provided for two facilities, an operating line of credil and a revolving line
of credit. The operating line of credit allowed for borrowings secured by approved accounts receivable
and purchase orders. The revolving line allowed for borrowing subject to the Company maintaining
certain minimum cash balances. Tota! borrowings under the arrangement could not exceed $20.0
million and bore interest at various rates of interest depending on the facility. The total available credit
under the agreement was reduced by, among other things, any stand-by letters of credit outstanding.
Under this agreement, warrants to purchase 62,500 shares of Series E convertible preferred slock at
$2.40 per share and 9,259 shares of Series G converlible preferred stock at $5.40 per share were
issued. The fair value of these warrants on the date of grant was estimated to be $0.1 million. The
amounts recorded as interest expense were $20,712, $36,507 and $74,460 for 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respeclively. The arrangement was scheduled to expire on June 28, 2006 but was amended a number
of times in 2006 by mutual consent to, among other things, extend the maturity date, extend the
deadiine for providing audited financia! statements and waive the deadline for certain other
management reports. On October 6, 2006, the arrangement was amended to allow the Company to
borrow against its accounts receivable, to increase the facility amount to $25.0 million, to reduce the
interes! rate on the revolving line to the greater of prime or 6.25% and to extend the maturity date to
September 27, 2007. The weighted average interest rate under ail sub-facilities as of June 30, 2007
was 8.3%. As of December 31, 2006, there were no outstanding balances on the operating line of
credit. As of December 31, 2006, the principal balance outstanding under the revolving loan was $9.5
million, which was classified as current. This loan was repaid in June 2007.

On June 21, 2005, the Company entered Into a loan arrangement with a financial institution. This
arrangement provided for two separate sub-facilities, a term loan and a revolving facility. Under the
arrangement, the maximum term advance shall not exceed $5.5 million and the maximum revolving
advance shall not exceed $6.0 million; provided, however, that at no time may the total outstanding
loan obligations under the arrangement exceed $10.0 million. Under the arrangement, the Company
maintained on deposit with the bank an unrestricted compensating balance of $4.0 miliion. The
arrangement was secured by, among other things, the Company’s equipment and certain intellectual
property. The term facility was repayable over a three-year period and the revolving facility was
repayable over a period of twelve months. The interest rate for the amangement was at a variable rate
of 0.50% above the prime Interest rate. In connection with the loan arrangement, the Company granted
warrants to purchase 19,824 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of
$3.78 per share. The fair value of these warrants on the date of grant was estimated at $35,599. For
2006 and 2005, the amounts recorded as interest expense were not material and at December 31,
2006, the value of the warrant was fully amortized. During 2006, the loan arrangement was amended
at various times by mutual consent to extend the maturity date, amend certain definitions in the
agreement, permit the acquisition of the assets of Little Optics, Inc. and waive specified management
reports. On October 31, 2006, the arrangement was amended and restated to terminate the term loan
and revolving facility, replace them with a new three-year variable rate term facility and the amount
borrowed previously under the term loan and revolving facility was repaid from the proceeds of this
new facility. Total borrowings under this new facility may not exceed $15.0 million. In February and
March 2007, the Company borrowed approximately $7.0 million under this facility. As a result,
borrowings under the facility were fully utilized. The interest rate on this new facility was set at the
bank’s prime rate and the Company was required to comply with certain information reporting
requirements. The weighted average bomrowing rate under this facility was 8.25% at June 30, 2007.
The principal balance outstanding under this facility was $7.8 million, of which $2.5 million and $5.3
million were classified as current and non-current, respectively, at December 31, 2008. This loan was
repaid in June 2007, and no additiona! borrowings are allowed under this credit facility.
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On June 26, 2006, the Company entered Into a premium financing agreement with a financial
institution for $0.2 million. The loan was repayable over ten months and bears interest at a rate of
6.0% per annum. The principal balance outstanding under this loan was approximately $86,000 at
December 31, 2006, which was classified as current. This loan was repaid in April 2007, and no
additional borrowings are allowad under this credit facility.

As of December 29, 2007, the Company had no access to additional funds under any credit
facilities.

9. Founder’s Stock, Restricted Stock, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit)

Founders' Stock

In December 2000, the Company issued 1.4 million shares of common stock at $0.004 per share
to a founder of the Company for cash proceeds of $5,500. In March 2001, the Company repurchased
0.4 million of these shares at the original issuance price of $0.004 per share for a total of $1,500. In
March 2001, the Company issued 2.0 million shares, at $0.10 per share, to the other founders of the
Company for cash proceeds of $0.2 million. The founders’ shares are subject to adjustment for certain
events, including mergers, stock dividends, stock splits, and other events. The founders' shares vested
over four years: 20% immediately, and 1.667% per month for 48 months thereafter. At December 31,
20086, all of the shares of the founders’ common stock were fully vested.

One of the founders who received a grant of 1,0 million shares of common stock in March 2001
was an advisor to the Company from March 2001 to May 2001. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
compensation charge of $9,000, which was calculaled using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
This founder became an employee of the Company in May 2001, whersupon his stock grant was
remeasured due to a change in 2mployment status. The intrinsic value of the unvested shares of
common stock as of the change of employment status was $0.7 million. This amount was recognized
over the remaining vesting period. For 2005, the Company recorded a compensation charge of
$45,000. At December 31, 2006, the commaon stock was fully vested.

Restricted Stock

In March 2001, the Company issued 0.2 million and 0.1 million shares of restricted common stock
at $0.10 per share to a member of the Board of Directors and an employee of the Company,
respectively, for tota! cash proceeds of $30,000. The 0.1 million shares of restricted common stock
issued to the employee are under the Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan. In November 2001, the
Company issued 42,500 shares of restricted common stock at $1.40 per share to another member of
the Board of Directors of the Company for cash proceeds totaling $59,500. These restricted shares are
subject to adjustment for certain events, including mergers, stock dividends, stock splits and other
events. These restricted shares vest over four years. In connection with a software license agreement
in June 2004, the Company issued 7,500 shares of restricted common stock at $1.84 per share for
cash proceeds of $13,800. These restricted shares vested over one year. At December 31, 2005,

0.3 million shares of restricted common stock were fully vested.
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Convertible Preferred Stock

The following is a schedule of authorized, issued and outstanding shares of each series of
convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2006 (in thousands):.
Shares Issued and

Authorized Qutstandin
Shares December 31, 2006

OIS A ..t r it i et e e e b e 3,919 3,691
o] 11=5 7 = P A AU P 2,128 2,112
Y= 112 3 AU RU 1.335 1,335
SBAES D ..ottt et 7.143 6,920
BBHES E ... ittt it it e e e e 22,975 21,590
L2021 1= 1 2 U 3,000 2,723
BBHES G . oottt e e e 21,500 20,435
Total convertible preferred stock ... ... ... ... oo i 62,000 58,806

In June 2005, the Company issued 2.7 million shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at
$3.78 per share for net proceeds of $10.3 million, net of issuance costs, to fund its current operations.
Of the shares of Series F convertible preferred stock sold in June 2005, 2.6 million were sold to a
customer of the Company and the remaining 0.1 million shares were sold to an employee of the
Company, each on substantially the same terms and conditions. The Company determined that the
Series F convertible preferred stock was issued at fair value and, therefore, no contra revenue charges
or employee compsnsation charges were recorded as part of these sales of Series F convertible
preferred stock.

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company issued 6.3 million shares of Series G convertible
preferred stock at $5.40 per share for $31.1 million, net of issuance costs, to various investors. In
January, March, May, July and October of 2006, the Company issued a total of 14.1 million shares of
Series G convertible preferred stock for $73.4 million, net of issuance costs. The purchase price for
these issuances was $5.40 per share, with the exception of a board member’s purchase of 67,934
shares at $7.36 per share in October 2006. These issuances completed the sale of Series G
convertible preferred stock which began in October of 2005. Total Series G convertible preferred stock
issued was 20.4 million shares for $105.1 million, net of issuance costs.

In connection with the Company's IPO, the Company's outslanding convertible preferred stock
was converted into common stock of the Company.
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Convertible Preferred and Common Stock Warrant Liabilities

The following convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants
upon the completion of the IPO (in thousands, except per share data):

Common stock
Convertible Prefarrad Stock Warrants wurnrants
Shares as of Fair value Sheres Exsrcise
Exercise Prico Juna 12, Decamber 31, Junes 12, December 31, Juns 12,
s_tocl_ Explration Date per Share 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 Sg:'ro
Serias A convertible
preferred ............. Apr 2008 tc July 2008 $10.00 135 135 $ 2061 $ 445 139 §$ 968
Series B convertible
prefemmed ............. Mar 2009 $13.95 16 16 227 59 18 $12.44
Series E convertible
preferred ............. Dec 2011 $ 240 292 202 6,336 1,568 292 $ 2.40
Series F converlible
preferred . ... .. ..., Jun 2012 $ 378 20 20 404 a3 20 $ 378
Series G convertible
preferred . ............ Nov 2010 to Aug 2011 $ 540 828 823 15,566 3.212 628 $% 540
Common Stock .......... Juty 2013 to May 2016 $ 8.96 38 38 576 32 36 §$ 898
Total .......covvvevenens 1,327 1,327  $25,170 $5.409 1,333

i Asof June 12, 2007, immediately before tha conversion of convertible preferred stock warrants to common stock warrants.

The fair value of these warrants was estimated at the date of grant using a probability weighted
average of per-share values using the Black-Scholes and Lattice option pricing models.

During 2007, warrants to purchase 0.6 million shares of common stock were exercised with cash
and by net exercise. The aggregate consideration for such exercises was equal to $3.2 million of which
approximately $45,000 was in cash and the remainder was by way of ‘net exercise' as permitted by the
terms of the warrants. As of December 29, 2007, there were warrants to purchase 0.8 million shares of
common stock outstanding with exercise prices ranging from $2.40 to $8.96 per share and a weighted
average price of $5.19 per share. These warrants expire between 2010 and 2013.

10. Common Stock

In December 2000, the Company adopted tha 2000 Stock Plan (2000 Plan}. Under the 2000 Plan,
as amended, the Company has reserved an aggregate of 15.8 million shares of its common stock for
issuance. As of December 29, 2007, options to purchase 7.3 million shares of the Company's common
stock were outstanding. The Company's Board of Directors has decided not to grant any additional
options or other awards under the plan following the IPO. However, the plan will continue to govem the
terms and conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted under the plan,

In February 2007, the Company's Board of Directors adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan
(2007 Plan) and the Company's stockholders approved the plan in May 2007. The 2007 Plan provides
for the grant of incentive stock options, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Intemnal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, to the Company’s employees and any parent and subsidiary corporations’
employees, and for the grant of non-statutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to employees, directors and
consultants and the Company’s parent and subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants,
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The Company reserved a total of 13.6 million shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to
the 2007 Plan. In addition, the 2007 Ptan provides for annual increases in the number of shares
available for issuance thereunder on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with the Company's
2008 fiscal year, equal to the least of:

+ 5% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year;

« 9.0 million shares; or

+ such other amount as the Board of Directors, or an authorized commitiee thereof, may
determine.

Additionally, in February 2007, the Company's Board of Directors established, and in May 2007,
its stockholders approved the Company's ESPP. The ESPP has a twenty-year term and originally
authorized the issuance of approximately 1.8 million shares of common stock, The ESPP provides for
annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance thereunder on the first day of each
fiscal year, beginning with the Company's 2008 fiscal year, equal to the least of:

» 1% of the outstanding shares of the Company's common siock on the first day of the fiscal
year;

* 1.9 million shares; or

» such other amount as the Company's Board of Directors, or an authorized committee thereof
may determine.

Under the ESPP, eligible employees may enroll in the ESPP during certain open enroliment
periods for participation during an offering period. New offering pericds begin February 15 and -
August 15 of each year and typically last for a six month pericd, except for the first offering period R
which began on June 7, 2007 and will end on the first trading day on or after February 15, 2008. During
each offering period, participating employees' payroll deductions are accumulated and used to
purchase shares of common stack; and the purchase price of the shares is 85% of the fair market
value of the Company's common stock on the first day of the offering period or on the exercise date
{i.e., the last day of an offering period), whichever is lower. A paricipant may purchase a maximum of
3,000 shares of common stock during an offering period and may not accumulate contributions to the
ESPP in excess of $25,000 worth of the Company's stock for each calendar year.

L LR

The ESPP is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Black-
Scholes option pricing model is used to estimate the fair value of rights to acquire stock granted under
the ESPP.
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The following table summarizes the Company's stock award activity and retated information for
2005, 2006 and 2007:

Shares Awards and Weighted- Aggregate
Avallable for Options Average Exercise  Intringic
Grant {1 Outstanding  Price Per Share Value @

{In thousands, except per share amounts)

Balance at December 31,2004 .............. 730 5,190 $ 1.47
Additional options authorized ............ 2,500 —_ —
Granted ... ... (2,767) 2,767 $ 1.16
Exercised .........ccoiiiiiiiiiiinn... — (1,162) $ 086
Canceled ...............ccioiiiiiiann 99 (99) $ 1.82

Balance at December 31,2005 .. ............ 562 6,696 $ 144
Additional options authorized ............ 5,750 — -
Granted ........ ... i (4,670) 4,670 $ 196
Exercised .. ... ..o - (3,066) $ 143 $ 759
Canceled ...... ... .o 428 {428) $ 121

Balance at December 31,2006 .............. 2,070 7,872 $ 1.77 $ 1,927
Additional options and RSUs authorized ... 13,600 — —
Optionsgranted ..........ocvvvevennnn. (5,148) 5,148 $11.88
RSUsgranted ..........oooviininnn, {(630) 630 5 —
Optionsexercised ..................... — (1,602) $ 2.19 $17,605
RSUscanceled ........coooovvivnnnnn. 14 (14) $ —
Optionscanceled ...................... 292 (292) $ 453

Balance at December 29,2007 .............. 10,198 11,7423 $ 598 $97,808

{1 Shares available for grant under the 2000 Plan and 2007 Plan, as applicable. The Company does
not intend to grant any additional options or other awards under the 2000 Plan.

2 The aggregate intrinsic vatue of unexercised options and unvested RSUs is calculated as the
difference between the exercise price of the underlying equity awards and the closing price of the
Company’s common stock at year end. The aggregate intrinsic value of options which have been
exercised is calculated as the difference between the fair market value of the common stock at the
date of exercise and the exercise price of the underlying stock option awards.

% Balance includes 616,417 shares of RSUs granted, net of cancellations and non-vested, as of
December 29, 2007. Balance includes 11,125,488 shares subject to options, net of cancellations,
at December 29, 2007 at a weighted average price of $6.31 per share.
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Options outstanding that have vested and are expected to vest as of December 29, 2007 are as
follows:

Woeighted- Woightaed-
Number of Average Exercise Average remalnln ?rne
ghares Price Per Share contractual !erm Intrinsic Value 1}
(In thousands) {!n years) (In thousands)

Vested ........................ 3,658 $3.04 7.46 $40,341
Expectedtovest®@ ... ............ 7,227 7.91 8.97 47,348
Total vested and expected to

177: -1 S 10,885 $6.31 847 $87,689
Notexpectedtovest ............ 240

(" These amounis represent the difference between the exercise price and the Company’s closing
stock price as of Dacember 29, 2007.

2 Options outstanding that are expected to vest are net of estimated future option forfeitures in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at December 29, 2007.

Options Qutstanding Vested and Exercisable Optlons
Welghted Welghted- Woeightod-
Aver Average Average
Number of Remain: Exerciso Number of Exorcise
Exercise Price Shares Contractual ife Price Shares Price
(In thousands) (In Years) (In thousands}
$076-%1.84 ... ........... 2,351 6.73 $1.39 1,615 $ 1.48
$200-%404 ... .......... 4666 8.49 $ 235 1,662 $ 226
$3768-%19.14 ... ....... 3,725 9.42 $12.79 375 $12.86
$20.30-$23.86 ........... 383 9.76 $21.63 6 $20.67
11,125 8.47 $6Nn 3,658 $ 3.04

(1 All options under the 2000 Plan may be exercised prior to vesting but are subject to repurchase at
the original issuance price in the event the optionees’ employment is terminated prior to vesting in
its entirety.

Information with respect to restricted stock units as of December 28, 2007 is as follows:

Welghtad
Number  Ave
of Grant- ate Al ro?aia

(In thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) Shares  Falr Value Pg\'a ue {1
Outstanding at December 31,2006 .......................... — $ —
GraNBE . ..ottt e e e 630 $20.07
£ =11 = s I — $ — $—
CaNCEIBE ... . e e e (14)  $19.81
Qutstanding at December 29,2007 ..................cc.nn... 616 $20.08

(v Represents the value of Infinera stock on the date that the restricted stock units vest.
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11. Shares Reserved for Future Issuances

Common stock reserved for future issuance was as follows (in thousands):

Qutstanding stock optionsandawards .........................
Reserved forfuturegrants ......... ... ... ... . ... ... ...

Total common stock reserved for stock options ..................
Warrants to purchase common stock ................ e

Total common stock reserved for future issuances ...............

December 29,
2007

{in thousands)
11,742
10,198 M

21,940
768

22,708

(M Shares available for grant under the 2000 Plan and 2007 Plan, as applicable. The Company does

not intend to grant any additional options or other awards from the remaining 1.1 million shares

available under the 2000 Plan.

12. Income Taxes

The following is a geographic breakdown of the current provision for income taxes (in thousands):

Years Ended

D\;%:;neb':;?z% December 31,

2007 2006 2005

DOMEStC . ooii it et e e e e $ 3 $5 §7
Foreign ....... ... s 265 67 5
TOMal <o $268  $72 12

Total worldwide pretax loss is comprised of a U.S. loss of $56.6 million and foreign income of $1.5

million.

The provisions for income taxes differ from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal
income tax rates as follows, for the years ended December 28, 2007, December 31, 2006 and

December 31, 2005.

December 29, Docamggr 31, December 31,

2007 20 2005

{Benefit)/Provision at federal statutoryrate . .............. -35.00% -35.00% -35.00%
State, netoffederalbenefit . ........................... -4.66% -5.01% -5.45%
Credits—cument year. ..........c.coviviiiuinnnrenans -2.84% 0.10% -1.27%
Warrantinterest .. ... ... ... e 12.56% 1.06% 0.00%
Stock-based compensation ........... ... o i e 5.87% 0.39% 0.03%
Foreign tax rate differential . ........................... -0.50% 0.27% -0.15%
01T 0.67% 0.16%
Change invaluationallowance .................... .. ... 24.39% 38.85% 41.76%

(Benefit)/Provision for incomataxes ................. 0.49% 0.08% 0.02%
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 29, December 31, Docember 31,
2007 2006 2006

{(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating10SSes . ............ccvvvuieeaninennnnn. $ 95761 $ 82550 $ 61,755
Researcheredits ...t 10,599 8,070 7.901
Nondeductible . ... ... . oot ic i it ranas 12,332 8,321 4,205
Capitalized software . ......... .. ... .o oot 2,265 1,979 564
Itangibles ... ... i 24,082 27635 - 197711
Tolal deferredtax assets ............coiviiirnnnnen 145,039 128,555 94,196
Valuation allowancs . .....cco it iie it e (145,039)  (128,555) (94,196)
Not deferred 1ax assets . .........cccoeeenieanninnns $ — $ — $ —

Since inception, the Company has incurred net operating losses and, accordingly, has not
recorded a U.S. Federal or State provision for income taxes for any periods presented. As of
December 29, 2007, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards available to offset future |
taxable income for federal income tax purposes of approximately $239.4 million, which expire
beginning in the year 2021 if not utilized. As of December 29, 2007, the Company also has state net
operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $225.3 million, which expire beginning in the year 2013
if not utilized. The Company has federal and California research and development credits available to
reduce fulure tax expense of approximately $7.3 million and $5.0 miition, respectively. The federal
research credits will begin to expire in the year 2021 if not utilized, while the California research credits
have no expiration date. The amount of net operating loss camy-forwards related to excess stock
option deductions is approximately $13.5 million for which a full valuation allowance has been recorded
on the refated gross deferred tax assets. When the excess stock option deductions are utilized in the
form of a net operating ‘oss deduction, these amounts will result in a credit to shareholders’ equity.

As of December 29, 2007, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against its net
deferred tax assets due to operating losses incurred since inception. Realization of deferred tax assets
is dependent upon future eamings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly,
the net deferred tax assets were fully offset by a valuation allowance. If not utilized, the federal and
state net operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards will expire between 2013 and 2026. Utilization of
these net operating losses and credit carry-forwards may be subject to an annual limitation due to
provisions of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that are applicable if the Company
experiences an “ownership change” that may occur, for example, by a change in significant
shareholder allocation or equity structure. In 2007, the Company performed an analysis of the potential
changes in ownership and determined that changes in ownership have occusred that would limit tax
attribute carry-forwards. However, based on the work performed, the Company believes the limitations
are not significant enough to impact future utilization of tax attributes.

In determining future taxable income, the Company makes assumptions to forecast federal, state
and international operating income, the reversal of temporary differences, and the implementation of any
feasible and prudent tax planning strategias. The assumptions require significant judgment regarding the
forecasts of future taxable income, and are consistent with the Company's forecasts used to manage its
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INFINERA CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—{Continued)

business. The Company intends {0 maintain the remaining valuation allowance until sufficient further
positive evidence exists to support a reversal of, or decrease, in the valuation allowance.

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN
48), at the beginning of 2007. At he adoplion date of January 1, 2007, the cumulative unrecognized
tax benefit was $6.4 million which was netted against deferred tax assets with a full valuation
allowance or other fully reserved amounts, and if recognized there would be no effect on the
Company's effective tax rate. Upon adoption of FIN 48, the Company recognized an adjustment in the
liability for unrecognized income tax benefits of approximately $36,000.

At December 29, 2007, the cumulative unrecognized tax benefit was $6.7 million that was
substantially netted against deferred tax assets with a full valuation allowance. Included in the $6.7
million of cumutative unrecognized tax benefil, approximately $71,000 impacted the Company's
effective tax rate during 2007. At December 29, 2007, the Company had $107,000 of unrecognized tax
benefits related to uncertain tax positions. There are no penalties or interest associated with these tax
positions. Tax retumns for all years after 2002 are subject to future examination by the major taxing
juriedictions to which the Company is subject.

The Company is currently open to audit under the statute of limitations by the Internal Revenue
Service and the appropriate state income taxing authorities from 2000 to 2006 due to the net loss
camyovers from those years.

For FIN 48 purposes, the Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions as part of its provision for federal, state and foreign income taxes.

The following is a roll-forward of the total gross unrecognized tax benefits liabflities for 2007 (in
thousands):

Balance asof January 1, 2007 ... ..ottt e $6,400
Tax positions related to current year.

AGItONS ... i e i e 237

Reductions . ...t e —
Tax positions related to prior years:

AddItIONS ... .. e e e 112

Reductions . .......oi it i i s e —
TS ([=30 1= 1~ O PO —
Lapsesinstatutes oflimitations . . ... ............. ... . iiin —_
Balance as of December 29,2007 . ... ...ttt e $6,749

Over the next twelve months, the Company's existing tax positions will continue to generaté an
increase in liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company's policy with respect to its undistributed foreign subsidiary eamings is to consider
those eamings to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no related provision for U.S. federal and
state income taxes has been provided. Upon distribution of those eamings in the form of dividends or
otherwise, the Company may be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for
foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes in the various foreign countries. At December 29, 2007 the
undistributed earnings approximated $2.7 million.
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13. Segment Information

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,”
establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments, Operating segments are
defined as components of an enterprise aboutl which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chisf operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company's chief operating decision maker is
the Company's chief executive officer. The Company’s chief executive officer reviews financial
information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about revenue by
geographic region for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. The
Company has one business activity, and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for
operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below the consolidated unit level.
Accordingly, the Company is considered to be in a single reporting segment and operating unit
structure.

Revenue by geographic region is based on the shipping address of the customer. The following
table sets forth revenue and long-lived assets by geographic region:

Revenue
Yoars Ended
Do des, __Decambar 31,
2007 2008 2005
{In thousands)
North America ......... ... .. iiiiiiiinnnienens 199,893 49,501 2,660
Europe, Middle Eastand Africa ..................... 43,368 7,565 776 A
AsiaPacific ... ... ... .. i i 2,591 770 691 F
Tolal reVBNUS . . ..ot e e et e e $245852  $58,236 94,127

-
Q
.2

=

—

?
T~

»
L
Fj;
Property, plant and equipment, net 'g_
December 28, December 31, ¥
7 2006 2
{In thousands) _:
NOMh AMENICA . ...\ ei et eee e e e vn i aeaeaens $36,270 $26,030 .
Europe, Middle Eastand Africa .. ..........covoveneeao... - 3
ASIaPacfiC ... ... e e e e 703 632 i
Total property, plant and equipment, net ................... $36,973 $26,665

14. Employee Benefit Plan

in July 2001, the Company's Board of Directors approved the adoption of a savings plan under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Expenses related o the Company’'s 401{k) plan were
immaterial for 2007, 2006 and 2005.

15, Logal Matters

On April 11, 2007, the Company, Level 3 and Cheetah filed a joint motion with the court, agreeing
to the following: (1) to stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending a determination by the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office as to whether it will reexamine U.S. Patent Nos, 6,795,605 and 7,142,347, and
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(2) if the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office decides.to reexamine either U.S. Patent No, 6,795,605 or
7,142,347, to stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending final resolution of the reexamination(s) by the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. On Aprit 12, 2007, the court granted the motion staying all
proceedings in the lawsuit. On June 26, 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office ordered
reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 6,795,605. On August 1, 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
ordered reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 7,142,347. As a result, all proceedings in this lawsuit are
stayed until the final resolution of these reexaminations. The Company believes the suit is without merit
and intends to defend itself vigorously, but it is unable 1o predict the likelihood of an unfavorable
outcome.

On March 14, 2007, the Company submitted requests to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for
inter partes reexamination of U.5. Patent Nos. 6,795,605 and 7,142,347 asking the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office to reexamine the patents based on prior arl in order to invalidate the patents or limit
the scope of each patent's claims, On March 21, 2007, the Company and Level 3 filed a motion with
the court to stay all proceedings in the lawsuit pending the reexamination of U.S. Patent Nos.
6,795,605 and 7,142,347.

On January 30, 2007, Cheetah filed a third amended complaint adding additional assertions of
infringement for the two patents in suit. On February 16, 2007, the Company and Level 3 filed
responses to Cheetah's third amended complaint denying all infringement claims, and the Company
and Level 3 asserted counterclaims against Cheetah asserting that the claims of the patents are invalid
and that the DTN System does not infringe the patents.

On May 9, 2006, the Company and Level 3 were sued by Cheetah Omni LLC (Cheetah) in the
U.S. District Court for the Eastem District of Texas for alleged infringement of patent No. 6,795,605,
and a continuation thereof. On May 16, 2006, Cheetah filed an amended complaint, which requested
an order to enjoin the sale of the Company’s DTN System and to recover all damages caused by the
alleged willful infringement including any and all compensatory damages available by law, such as
actual and punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, associated interest and Cheetah's costs incurred in the
lawsuit. Cheetah's complaint does not request a specific dollar amount for these compensatory
damages. The Company is contractually obligated to indemnify Level 3 for damages suffered by Level
3 to the extent its product is found to infringe, and it has assumed the defense of this matter. On
July 20, 2008, the Company and Level 3 filed an amended response denying all infringement claims
under patent No, 6,795,605 and asserting that the claims of the patent are invalid and that the DTN
System does not infringe the patent. On November 28, 2006, Chestah filed a second amended
complaint and added patent No. 7,142,347 to the lawsuit. On December 18, 2006, the Company and
Level 3 filed responses to Cheetah's second amended complaint denying all infringement claims under
patent No. 7,142,347 and the Company and Level 3 asserted counterclaims against Cheetah asserting
that the claims are invalid and that the DTN System does not infringe the patents.

tn addition to the matters described above, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings,
claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these matters is
currently not determinable, the Company does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these
matters will have a material effect on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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16. Guarantees
Product Warranties

Upon delivery of products, the Company provides for the estimated cost to repair or replace
products or the related components that may be returned under the hardware warranty. In general,
hardware warranty periods range from two to five years. Hardware product warranties provide the
purchaser with protection in the event that the product does not perform to product specifications.
During the warranty period, the purchaser’s sole and exclusive remedy in the event of such defect or
failure to perform is expressly fimited to the correction of the defect or failure by repair, refurbishment
or replacement, at the Company's sole option and expense. The Company estimates the fair value of
the Company's hardware warranty obligations based on the Company's historical experience of known
product failure rates, use of materials to repair or replace defective products, and service delivery costs
incurred in correcting product failures, In addition, from time to time, specific hardware wamranty
accruals may be made if unforeseen technical problems arise with specific products. Management
periodically assesses the adequacy of the Company’s recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts tha
amounts as necessary. Changes in product warranty liability in the 2007 and 2006 are summarized
below.

Decomber 29, December 31,
2007

2008
(In thousands)
Balance at the beginningoftheperiod ...................oooiviinn, $ 2,717 $ 1,602
Chargestooperations . ...ttt in i in e 10,258 4,166
L[ 2 13T 1 TR OSSP (4,873) (2,090)
Changeinestimate . ......... . ... iiiii i 1,890M {1,051)@
Balance attheendoftheperiod ................coiiiiieniiiiiiins $ 9,992 $ 2,717

M  This unfavorable change in estimate primarily represented higher than expected costs of replacing
defeclive products due to reduced usage of lower cost repaired products in the repair process.

 This favorable change in estimate was primarily due to continued improvements in overal! actual
failure rates and the impact of these improvements on the Company’s estimate of expected future
returns.

The Company’s agreements with customers, as well as its reseller agreements, generally include
certain provisions for indemnifying customers and resellers and their affiliated parties against liabilities
if the Company’s products infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights. To date, the Company has
not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnification obligations and has not accrued any
liabilities related to such obligations in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Letters of Crodit

The Company had $2.7 million of standby letters of credit outstanding as of December 29, 2007.
These consisted of $0.8 million related to property leases, $1.2 million related to a value added tax
license for Europe, $0.3 million related to customs clearing and $0.4 million related to a customer
proposal guarantee. The Company had $3.2 miflion of stand-by letters of credit outstanding as of
December 31, 2006, of which $1.0 million related to property leases, $1.2 million related to a vendor
credit line and $1.0 million related to a value added tax license for Europe.
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17. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007) (SFAS No. 141R), “Business
Combinations” and SFAS No. 160 (SFAS No. 160), "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51." SFAS 141R will change how
business acquisitions are accounted for and will impact financial statements both on the acquisition
date and in subsequent periods. SFAS No. 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority
interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of
equity. SFAS No. 141R and SFAS No. 160 are effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter
of fiscal 2009. The adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will change the Company's accounting treatment for
business combinations on a prospective basis beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 20098 and the
adoption of SFAS No. 160 will not impact the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assels
and Financiai Liabilitias" (SFAS MNo. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits companies to choose to measure
ceriain financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The standard requires that unrealized
gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected be reported in eamings.
SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2008, although earlier
adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 159 will have on
its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS No. 157).
The purpose of SFAS No. 157 is 1o define fair value, establish a framework for measuring fair value
and enhance disclosures about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure
requirements are effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2008. The Company is
currently evaiuating the impact that SFAS No. 157 will have on its consolidated financial statements.
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INFINERA CORPORATION
FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY QUARTER (UNAUDITED)

The foliowing table sets forth the Company's unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of
operations data for each of the eight quarters ended December 29, 2007. The data has been prepared
on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this
report and you should read the following table in conjunction with such financial statements. The table
includes all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments that the Company
considers necessary for a fair presentation of this data. The results of historical periods are not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a fuli year or any future period.

For the Three Months Ended
2006 2007
Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. M Dec.d Mar.31 Jun. 30 Sep.29 Dec. 20
{In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:

Ratable product

and related

support and

services ........ $ 2653 % 4054 $ 6,118 $40,153 $45,947 $54.411 $62,130 $75,257

Product .......... _— — 1,578 3680 3,245 4,005 25 832
Total revenue .. ....... 2,653 4,054 7696 43,833 49,192 58,416 62,155 76,089
Cost of revenue:
Cost of ratable product
and related support
and services . ....... 5,485 4,488 7967 30,132 34,843 37529 37,620 42,867
Lower of ¢cosl or market
adjustment ......... 4,325 3,657 4172 9539 1,067 2219 3,184 5843
Costof product ....... — —_ 311 1,349 1,363 2,488 18 222
Total cost of revenue .. 9,810 8,145 12,450 41,020 37,273 42,236 40,822 48,932
Gross profit (loss) .. ... (7,157) (4,091) (4,754) 2,813 11,819 16,180 21,333 27,157
Operating expenses ... 10,525 13,720 22,927 25,183 29,288 25875 29,722 34,800

Loss from operations .. (17,682) (17,811) (27,681) (22,370) (17.369) (9,695) (8,389) (7.643)
Other income

(expense), net ...... {496) (370) (892) (2,561) (2,415) (16,368) 2925 3,880
Loss before provision

forincome taxes .... (18,178) (18,181) (28,573) (24,931) (19,784) (26,063) (5.464) (3,763)
Provision for income

taxes .............. 15 15 23 19 29 33 62 144
Netloss ............. (18,193) (18,196) (28,598) (24,950) (19,813) (26,096) (5,526} (3,907)

Net loss per common
share, basic and
diluted ............. $ (3.63)% (3.23)% (442)% (3.55)% (262)3 (1.10)$ (0.07}$ (0.04)

The Company’s operating results may fluctuate due to a varlety of factors, many of which are
outside of the Company's control. As a result, comparing the Company’s oparating results on a
pertod-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on the Company’s past results as
an indication of its future parformance.
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Revenue has increased sequentially in each of the quarters presented due to increases in the
number of products sold to new and existing customers and the shortening of the Company’s ratable
revenue recognition period to 1.3 years in the fourth quarter of 2006, In the fourth quarter of 2008, the
Company amended several of its significant sales contracts to shorten its contractual software
warranty period. This shortening of the ratable revenue recognition period was responsible for $28.2
million of the $36.1 million increase in revenue and $20.0 million of the $28.6 million increase in cost of
revenue from the third quarier of 2006 to the fourth quarter of 2006. The remainder of the increase in
revenue of $7.9 million and cost of revenue of $8.6 million reflects the impact of increased levels of
invoiced shipments throughout 2006.

Upon the closing of the Company’s IPQ in June 2007, warrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s convertible preferred stock became warrants to purchase shares of the Company's
common stock and, as a result, are no longer subject to FSP 150-5. In 2007, {through the complstion
of the Company’s IPO in June 2007), the Company recorded $19.8 million of expense reflected in
other income (expense), net to reflact the increase in fair value during the period.

In January 2007, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Broadwing, a
division of Level 3, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase various assets associated with
the former supply of Broadwing products, In 2007, the Company had generated proceeds of $3.1
million from the sale of a portion of the assets held for sale and resulted in a gain of $2.7 million
reflected in other income (expense), net.

ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None,

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Attached as exhibits to this Form 10-K are certifications of Infinera’s Chief Executive Officer (CEQ)
and Chief Financial Officer (CFQ), which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). This “Controls and Procedures”™ section
includes information concerning the controls and controls evaluation referred to in the certifications.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We are not yet subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act which, when applicable, will
require us to include Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and
an Attestation Report of an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Under the applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC,
Section 404 will not apply to us until the due date of our annual report for the year ending
December 27, 2008.

As of December 29, 2007, an evaluation was performed by management, with the participation of
our CEO and our CFQ, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(8) and 15-d and 15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitied under the 1934 Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Based on this aevaluation, our Chief Executive QOfficer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that,
as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we
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file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, other than those stated
below, during our most recent fiscal quartsr that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal contro! over financial reporting.

Remediation of Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As disclosed in our Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 30, 2007 and in our Form
10-Q dated November 9, 2007, our management had determined that, as of those dates, a material
weakness existed related to our internal controls over non-routine manual accounting and reporting
processes. We have now completed a remediation plan which addressed this material weakness.
Specifically, we have introduced additional accounting procedures which include re-performance
testing, more detailed reconciliations and increased review in our revenue and net ioss per common
share processes. Management has completed an evaluation of the effectiveness of these additional
controls and has concluded that the material weakness described above had been remedied as of
December 29, 2007 and no longer existed as of that date.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, inctuding our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our interna! controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A controt system, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives
of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all contro! systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within
us have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two
or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is
based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Qver time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effeclive control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected.

ITEM $B. OTHER INFORMATION
None,
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PART il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item with respect to Infinera’s directors and executive officers is
incorporated by reference to the information set forth in Infinera's proxy statement for the 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of Infinera’s
fiscal year ended December 29, 2007. For information pertaining to executive offers and directors of
Infinera, refer to the “Management” saction of Part 1, Iltem 1 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

As part of our system of corporate govemance, our boargd of directors has adopted a code of
business conduct and ethics. The code applies to all of our employees, officers {including our principal
execulive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions), agents and representatives, including our independent directors and
consultants, who are not employees of the Company, with regard to their Infinera-related activities. The
full text of our code of business conduct and ethics is posted on our web site at http:ff
www.infinera.com. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our code of
business conduct and ethics, or waivers of such provisions, applicable to any principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions or our directors on our web site identified above. The inclusion of our web site address in this
report does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our web site into this report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to Infinera's definitive proxy
staternent with respact to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form 10-K,

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information responsive 1o this item is incorporated herein by reference to Infinera’s definitive proxy
statement with respect to our 2008 Annuat Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to Infinera’s definilive proxy
statement with respect 1o our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form 10-K,

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to Infinera's definitive proxy
statement with respect to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tha SEC within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Staternents

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains the following financial statements which appear under
Part |l, tem 8 of this Form 10-K on the pages noted below:

Page
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Flrm ............... 70
Consolidated Balance Sheets ... ... cvei i e 71
Consolidated Statements of Operations .. ............ . i 73
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) . .. .. 74
Consolidated Statements of Cash FIOWS .. ..o oot ciin i iia et et iise i e 77
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .......... ... it 79
Supplemental Data: Financia! Information by Quarter ... ..., 115
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule lI: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (in millions)
Year Ended
December 28, December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Deferred tax asset, valuation allowance
Balance atbeginningofyear .......... ... it $129 $94 371
Additions charged to valuation allowance ................ coviiiat, 16 3B 23
Reductions from valuation allowance ..............ciiiiiaiianiaens _ —_ =
Balance atend Of Year ..........ovvvvvnireinnreiiniionnesianassas $145 $120 $94

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth
therain is not applicable or is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits. The Exhibits listed in the accompanying Index to Exhibits are fited or
incorporated by reference as part of this annual report on Foerm 10-K.
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Exhibit No.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

31

33

4.1
10.1*

10.2*
10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.6*

10.7*

10.8t

10,9t

10.10¢

10.11

10.12

10.13
10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

141
211
23.1
311

Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation of the Registrant. ()
Amended and Restated Bylaws. (
Form of Common Stock certificate of the Registrant, 5

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and
executive officers. @

2000 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of stock option agreements thereunder. @
2007 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of stock option agreements thereunder. @
2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,

2007 Executive Bonus Plan. ¢

Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement for Registrant's chief executive officer,
chief financial officer and chief operating officer, as amended. ®

Form of Change of Controi Severance Agreement for Registrant’s other officers, as
amended. {9

Master Acquisition Agreement by and between BTE Equipment, LLC and Registrant
dated April 11, 2005, as amended on May 19, 2005, August 8, 2005, November 15, 2006
and February 23, 2007, @

Amendment No. 5 to Master Acquisition Agreement between BTE Equipment, LLC and
Registrant dated October 1, 2007.

Amendment No. 6 to Master Acquisition Agreement between BTE Equipment, LLC and
Registrant dated December 16, 2007.

Lease Agreement between Legacy Partners | Sunnyvale, LLC and Registrant dated
December 20, 2005, as amended on February 2, 2006 for Bordeaux Drive, Sunnyvale,
CA premises. @

Lease Agreement between SCM Properties, LLC and Registrant, dated July 17, 2006, as
amended on November 2, 2006 for Java Drive, Sunnyvale, CA premises. @

Amendment 2 to Lease Agreement with SCM dated May 29, 2007,

Addendum No. 1 to Amendment 2 to Lease Agreement with SCM Properties dated May
29, 2007.

Offer Letter Agreement by and between Registrant and Duston M. Williams dated May 1,
2006. @

Offer Letter Agreement by and between Registrant and Scott A. Chandler dated
February 26, 2003, &

Offer Letter Agreement by and between Registrant and Michael O. McCarthy lil dated
January 16, 2003. &

Code of Ethics.
Subsidiaries of Registrant,
Consent of Emst & Young, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Cerlification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a} of
the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Exhibit No. Description
31.2 Cenrtification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of
the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
32.2 Cerntification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*  Management contracts or compensation plans or arrangaments in which executive officers are
eligible to participate and directors in regards to ltems 10.2 and 10.3.

+ Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. These portions have been
submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

M Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (No.
001-33486) filed with the Commission on June 12, 2007.

@ Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Form S-1 (No. 333-140876), filed with
the Commission on February 26, 2007, as amended.

@  Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant's Form $-1/A (No. 333-140876), filed with
the Commission on March 8, 2007.

@ |ncorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Form S-1/A (No. 333-140876), filed with
the Caommission on April 4, 2007.

9 Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Form S-1/A (No. 333-140876), filed with
the Commission on Aprit 27, 2007.

®  Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Form S-1/A (No. 333-140876), filed with
the Commission on May 10, 2007,

™  Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(No. 001-33486), filed with the Commission on August 1, 2007.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report {0 be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.

Dated: February 13, 2008

Infinara Corporation
Registrant

By: s/ Duston M. WiLLiams

Duston M. Willlams
Chlef Financial Officer
- Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.

/s!  JAGDEEP SINGH

Is!  ALEXANDRE BALKANSKI

Jagdeop Singh
Chalrman, President and Chlef Executive Officer
Februery 13, 2008

fs/ DusTON M. WILLIAMS

Alexandre Balkanskl
Director
February 13, 2008

Is! KENNETH A. GOLDMAN

Duston M. Willlama

Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer
February 13, 2008

/s! REeep E. HuNDT

Kennoth A, Goldman
Director
February 13, 2008

/8! HucH C. MARTIN

Reed E. Hundt
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial and
Entarprisa Sarvices Officar and Principal Accounting
Officer February 13, 2008

Is/ Dan MAYDAN, PH.D.

Hugh C. Martin
Director
February 13, 2008

{s/ CARL REDFIELD

Dan Maydan, Ph.D.
Director
Fabruary 13, 2008

fs/ PRADEEP S. SINDHU, PH.D.

Pradeep 3. Sindhu, Ph.D.
Director
February 13, 2008

Carl Redfield
Director
February 13, 2008
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TQ RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jagdeep Singh, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Infinera Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a malerial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information refating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 1o us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b) [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC Release 34-47986]

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controts and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of intemal contro! over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
cormmittee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporiing.

Dated: February 13, 2008

By: /s! JAGDEEP SINGH

Jagdeep Singh
President and Chief Executive Officer
{Princlpal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Duston M. Williams, certify that:
1. } have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Infinera Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misieading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financia! information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report,

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)} and
internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC Release 34-47986]

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusicns about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal contro! over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably tikely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of intemmal contro! over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s intemnal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 13, 2008

By: fs/  DusTtoN M. WiLLiams

Duston M. Willlams
Chief Financlal Officer
(Principal Financtal and Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

INFINERA CORPORATION
Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jagdeep Singh, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Saection 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, that, to my knowledge on the date hereof:

(a) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Infinera Corporation for the year ended Decsmber 29,
2007 (the “Annual Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

(b) the information contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Infinera Corporation.

Date: February 13, 2008 s/ JAGDEEP SINGH
Jagdeep Singh
Prasident and Chief Executive Officer
{Principal Executive Officer}

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 has been provided to Infinera Corporation and will be retained by Infinera Corporation and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification “accompanies” the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not
deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of the Securitles
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

INFINERA CORPORATION
Wiritten Statement of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of 2002

I, Duslon M. Williams, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, that, to my knowledge on the date
hereof:

(a) that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Infinera Corporation for the year ended December 29,
2007 (the “Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

{b) the information contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financizal condition and results of operations of Infinera Corporation.

Date: February 13, 2008 fs/  DusTton M. WiLLiams

Duston M. Willlams
Chief Financlal Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement 'required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of
2002 has been provided to Infinera Corporation and will be retained by Infinera Corporation and
fumished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification "accompanies” the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not
deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.




